Public Document Pack
NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
24 March 2021

Chairman:

Councillor Nigel John
Sherwood

Venue:

Virtual Meeting Microsoft Teams

Time:

2.00 pm

E-Mail Address:
tanya.davies@northlincs.gov.uk

AGENDA

1.

Substitutions

2.

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Personal or Personal
and Prejudicial Interests, significant contact with applicants, objectors or third
parties (Lobbying) and Whipping Arrangements (if any). (Pages 1 - 2)

3.

To take the minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2021 as a correct
record and authorise the chairman to sign. (Pages 3 - 10)

4.

Applications deferred from previous meetings for a site visit. (Pages 11 - 76)

5.

Major Planning Applications. (Pages 77 - 130)

6.

Planning and other applications for determination by the committee. (Pages
131 - 182)

7.

Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters following the Grant of Outline
Permission (Pages 183 - 200)

8.

Application by a Member of the Council (Pages 201 - 208)

9.

Any other items, which the chairman decides are urgent, by reasons of
special circumstances, which must be specified.

Note: All reports are by the Group Manager - Development
Management and Building Control unless otherwise stated.

This page is intentionally left blank

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL OR PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS
AT MEETINGS
(to be completed by relevant members present at the meeting below)
MEETING:
Page Number

Planning Committee
Agenda Item Number or
Application Number

DATE: 24 March 2021
Nature of Interest
(Disclosable Pecuniary,
Personal or Personal and
Prejudicial)

Member Name: _________________
Reason/Nature of Declaration

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

Declarations of Lobbying and/or Whipping Arrangements - p.t.o.

DECLARATIONS OF LOBBYING
Agenda Item Number
or Application Number

Lobbied By

Page 2
DECLARATIONS OF WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS (SCRUTINY PANELS and relevant QUASI-JUDICIAL MEETINGS ONLY)
Name/Group

Agenda Item Number
or Application Number

Nature of Whipping Arrangements

Agenda Item 3
NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
PRESENT: - N Sherwood (Chairman)
J Evison (Vice-Chair), S Bainbridge, L Foster, M Grant, R Hannigan, P Vickers,
D Wells, N Poole and T Gosling
M Ali, J Briggs, C Sherwood, R Ogg, D Rose and H Rowson
This was a Microsoft Team Virtual Online meeting.
2064

SUBSTITUTIONS
Councillor N Poole substituted for Councillor J Davison; and Councillor
Gosling substituted for Councillor Southern.

2065

DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND
PERSONAL OR PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS,
SIGNIFICANT CONTACT WITH APPLICANTS, OBJECTORS OR THIRD
PARTIES (LOBBYING) AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS (IF ANY).
The following member declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the
following item:
Cllr David Wells
Application: PA/2020/1592 Minute: 2069(vi)
Interest: Relation
The following members declared a personal interest in the following items:
Cllr Ali
Application: PA/2020/1849 Minute: 2069 (vii)
Interest: Ward Member
Cllr Rose
Application: PA/20201354 Minute: 2069 (ii)
Interest: Chair of the CPRE North Lincolnshire and Yorkshire and Humber.
The following members declared they had been lobbied on the following
items:
Cllr Evison
Application: PA/2020/1354 Minute: 2069 (vii)
Cllr L Foster
Application: PA/2020/1354 Minute: 2069 (vii)

Page
99 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
Cllr Grant
Application: PA/2020/1354 Minute: 2069 (vii)
Cllr Poole
Application: PA/2020/1354 Minute: 2069 (vii)
Cllr N Sherwood
Application: PA/2020/1354 Minute: 2069 (vii)
2066

TO TAKE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 18 NOVEMBER
2020 AS A CORRECT RECORD AND AUTHORISE THE CHAIRMAN TO
SIGN.
Resolved – That the minutes of the proceedings of the meeting held on 18
November 2020, having been printed and circulated amongst the members,
be taken as read and correctly recorded and be signed by the Chairman.

2067

APPLICATIONS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS FOR A SITE
VISIT.
In accordance with the decisions at the previous meeting, members had
undertaken site visits on the morning of the meeting. The Group Manager Development Management submitted reports and updated them orally.
(i)
PA/2019/1904 by Mr T Webster, WFW Developments Ltd for planning
permission to erect 28 affordable dwellings with associated access and other
works at Old Railway Sidings, A18 from Althorpe to Gunness, Althorpe, DN17
3HN.
The agent addressed the committee and in doing so thanked the planning
officer for their concise report and recommending approval. He stated that
the site had previously been a decisions of the Planning Inspector who
allowed an appeal for 14 dwellings following a need for housing in the area
and the lack of a five year land supply. He indicated that the site was a
sustainable development, was in accordance with local policies and would
meet the needs of the councils identified shortfall of housing. He also stated
it would meet the needs of the local area.
Cllr Briggs spoke as the local ward member and urged the committee to
refuse the application due to a number of concerns. These included it being
in an inappropriate location, outside the development boundary, access, no
robust drainage system and the risk of flooding.
Cllr Evison having visited the site felt the development was in the wrong
location and outside the development boundary. He also stated that he had
concerns about the flood risk, that there was no robust drainage strategy and
was against a number of policies.
Cllr Grant said he could not vote against the application due to the Inspectors
decision, and the principal of housing already in the area.
It was moved by Cllr Evison and seconded by Cllr Hannigan –

Page 4

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
That planning permission be refused for the following reasons –
1.
The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the development will be safe
from flooding, without increasing flood risk elsewhere. The developer has not
provided a robust drainage strategy that explores the feasibility of SuDS nor
offered any reasons why sustainable drainage techniques cannot be used.
The proposal is therefore contrary to policy CS19 of the Core Strategy, as
well as DS14 and DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and paragraphs
155–165 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
2.
The proposal would require the finished floor levels of dwellings on the
western part of the site to be raised considerably in order to protect future
residents from the risk of flooding. This engineered solution would lead to an
inappropriate amount of built form within the open countryside that would be
highly visible across the landscape. The proposal is therefore considered
contrary to policies RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan as well as CS5
and CS8 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
Motion Carried.
2068

MAJOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS.
The Group Manager – Development Management and Building Control
submitted a report containing details of major applications for determination
by the committee, including summaries of policy context, representations
arising from consultation and publicity and assessment of the applications.
(i)
PA/2020/764 by Mrs Smith for planning permission to change the use
of a paddock to a children’s eco-nursery, including the erection of an office,
teaching lodge and poly tunnel, and other associated alterations at Field
South-East of Catchwater Farm, Butterwick Road, Messingham, DN17 3PL.
Cllr Poole felt it was necessary for the committee to visit the site before
making a decision on the application.
Resolved – That the application be deferred to the next meeting to allow the
committee to visit the site.
(ii)
PA/2020/1413 by Modernistiq (Harrogate) Ltd for application for
approval of reserved matters following outline planning permission
PA/2017/1975 dated 11/03/2020 for the erection of up to 23 dwellings,
namely appearance, landscaping, layout and scale at Horse Shoe House,
119 Westgate Road, Westgate, Belton, DN9 1PY.
The agent addressed the committee and outlined the application, and the
reasons for the officer recommending approval, and highlighted why it was a
good development for Belton.

Page 5

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
2069

PLANNING AND OTHER APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE
COMMITTEE.
The Group Manager – Development Management submitted a report
incorporating a schedule containing details of applications for determination
by the committee including summaries of policy context, representations
arising from consultation and publicity and assessment of the applications.
The Head of Development Management updated the reports orally where
appropriate. Other officers attending gave advice and answered members’
questions as requested.
(i)
PA/2020/1066 by Mr M Richards for outline planning permission for up
to five dwellings and associated works with appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale reserved for subsequent consideration at Butchers Arms, White
House Lane, West Halton, DN15 9AZ.
An objector spoke on behalf of a number of residents and in doing so stated
that the loss of the essential community resource would have a big impact on
West Halton. He highlighted that the beer garden was a sunny, open
community family space, and the loss of the space would be to the detriment
of the pub and the village. It would also lead to parking problems causing
further disruption.
The agent confirmed that the application was only at outline stage with
matters reserved for a later date. The application did give a flavour for the
housing development and how it could be accommodated on the site without
encroaching the open countryside. He also highlighted that a noise and
drainage report had been carried out with no concerns.
Cllr’s Ogg and Rowson as ward members spoke to the committee with their
concerns and the affect this would have on the pub. They urged the
committee to have a site visit before making a decision.
Resolved – That the application be deferred to the next meeting to allow the
committee to visit the site.
(ii)
PA/2020/1354 by Mr Paul Chapman for planning permission to erect
six two-storey detached dwellings and change the use of the main building of
the Duke William Motel to residential use (and demolish an existing side
extension to the Duke William and rear chalets) at Duke William Hotel, 27
Church Street, Haxey, DN9 2HY.
An objector addressed the committee on behalf of the Haxey Community
Group. He stated that the application was not in line with policies, and
highlighted the Inspectors previous refusal taken in 2019, and said nothing
had changed in this application for it to be approved. He said it would have a
detrimental impact on the historic landscape of the area, it was over
development and the community had raised many objections against it.

Page 6

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
The agent spoke in response and indicated it was a revised scheme following
a thorough review following the Planning Inspectors decision, and therefore
re-devised all aspects the Inspector raised. Key amendments had been
made and the development was within the boundary limits, with more
traditional style cottages. He stated the site would be well concealed and
would be an improvement on the current condition of the site.
The Chairman read out a letter of objection from Andrew Percy MP following
concerns raised by residents.
Cllr Rose spoke as the local ward members addressing a number of
concerns with regard to the application. He highlighted the Planning
Inspectors appeal decision for refusal and reasons, and felt these had not
changed. He said it would be detrimental to the historic landscape of the area
and was not a sustainable development.
Cllr Evison referred to the tick list the applicant said he had met but felt there
was a number that had not been ticked off and had concerns about the
application. He stated that if granted it would have an unprecedented visual
impact on the historic landscape and an adverse impact of the character of
the area. He listed a number of planning policies that that the application
failed to meet, and that it also failed to meet the key objectives of the NPPF
to conserve the environment for this and future generations.
Cllr Hannigan agreed with the previous speaker that it should be refused as it
was in the wrong location and would be detrimental to the historic landscape.
Cllr Grant stated that he was on the Planning Committee when the
application was previously submitted and refused, and he saw not great deal
of different with this application and therefore felt it should be refused.
It was moved by Cllr Evison and seconded by Cllr Hannigan –
That planning permission be refused for the following reasons –

1.
The proposal, by virtue of its siting and intensification of built form, would
introduce an unacceptable character impact through the visual intrusion of an
extension of the residential environment into the historic landscape. The
development would therefore have an adverse impact on the character,
appearance and setting of the historic landscape of the Isle of Axholme Area
of Special Historic Landscape and its national significance, specifically the
character and setting of the core historic landscape of the Ancient Open Strip
Fields north of Haxey and the Early Enclosed Land, as well as of the historic
settlement form and listed buildings that contribute to the character, setting
and legibility of the historic landscape. The proposal is therefore considered
to be contrary to policies CS1 and CS6 of the adopted Core Strategy and
LC14, LC7 and DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan. The proposal would

Page 7

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021
not be in accordance with paragraphs 170, 192 or 200 of the National
Planning Policy Framework as the proposed development would not make a
positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness, and would detract
from the significance of the historic landscape at this location. The application
fails the key objective of the National Planning Policy Framework to conserve
the historic environment for this and future generations.
Motion Carried
(iii) PA/2020/1365 by Mrs Rebecca Proctor for planning permission to
replace all windows and external doors at Camasstraddan, 41 Main Street,
Saxby all Saints, DN20 0QF.
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
(iv) PA/2020/1401 by Mr H Maxfield for outline planning permission to erect a
dwelling with all matters reserved for subsequent consideration at Osborne
House, Carr Road, Ulceby, DN39 6TX.
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
(v) PA/2020/1585 by Mr R Ellis, Wilton Cobley Ltd for planning permission to
erect a two-storey side extension and raise the roof of existing dwelling, erect
a detached garage and a detached bungalow in the rear garden at Fairview,
Coronation Road, Ulceby, DN39 6SX.
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
(vi) PA/2020/1592 by Mr Stephen Wells for planning permission to erect an
agricultural building for general purpose use at Land South-East of Railway
Street, Barnetby le Wold.
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
(vii) PA/2020/1849 by Mr Syed Ahmad for planning permission to erect a
single-storey front extension at 127 Cliff Gardens, Scunthorpe, DN15 7BL.
Resolved – That planning permission be granted in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the officer’s report.
2070

ANY OTHER ITEMS, WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT,
BY REASONS OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, WHICH MUST BE
SPECIFIED.
There were no other items for consideration by the committee at this meeting.

Page 8

PLANNING COMMITTEE
27 January 2021

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Report of the Group Manager –
Development Management and Building Control

Agenda Item No:
Meeting: 24 March 2021

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
APPLICATIONS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETING FOR SITE VISITS
1.

OBJECT
1.1

2.

3.

BACKGROUND
2.1

The applications listed on the attached schedule were deferred at a previous
meeting of the committee to allow members to visit the sites before making a
decision.

2.2

Members will undertake the site visits separately at some point prior to the
meeting.

INFORMATION
3.1

4.

5.

To consider items which have been deferred to allow members to visit the
sites.

The reports relating to the deferred items are attached. The reports have been
updated since the last meeting where appropriate.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1

There are no staffing or financial implications arising from this report.

4.2

Environmental considerations are of major importance when considering
planning applications and are set out in the individual reports.

RECOMMENDATION
5.1

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations
contained in the schedule.

GROUP MANAGER – DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND BUILDING CONTROL
Church Square House
30–40 High Street
SCUNTHORPE
DN15 6NL
Ref: CB/JMC/Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx
Date: 15 March 2021

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 11

Page 1

Background papers used in the preparation of this report:
1.

The applications, including accompanying plans and ancillary correspondence.

2.

Statutory and non-statutory consultation letters and responses.

3.

Responses from parish and town councils.

4.

Representations from other bodies or individuals.

5.

Relevant planning policy documents.

6.

Previous relevant planning decisions.

(Pursuant to section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 any document containing
‘exempt information’ is excluded from this list.)
Statement of publication's purpose
The Ordnance Survey map data included within this publication is provided by North
Lincolnshire Council under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public
function to act as a planning authority. Persons viewing this mapping should contact
Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey map
data for their own use.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 12

Page 2

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/764

APPLICANT

Mrs Smith

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to change the use of a paddock to a
children's eco-nursery, including the erection of an office,
teaching lodge and polytunnel, and other associated alterations

LOCATION

Field south-east of Catchwater
Messingham, DN17 3PL

PARISH

Messingham

WARD

Ridge

CASE OFFICER

Scott Jackson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Member ‘call in’ (Cllr Neil Poole – significant public interest)

Farm,

Butterwick

Road,

Significant public interest

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Sections 6, 12, 15 and 15 apply.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: Policies DS1, DS9, DS16, RD2, C4, T1, T2, T19
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS19
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection, but recommend conditions. Following the last meeting additional
comments have been received which state that the initial travel plan submitted with the
application allows existing travel patterns to be monitored and baseline data and targets to
be established. The conditions in respect of travel plans are therefore considered to be
robust.
Health and Safety Executive: Does not advise on safety grounds against the granting of
planning permission.
Shire Group of IDBs: No objection, comments made in relation to surface water disposal.
Environment Agency: No objection, recommend a condition.
Humberside Fire and Rescue: It is a requirement that adequate access for fire-fighting is
provided to all buildings or extensions to buildings.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objection.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 13

Page 3

Public Health: No objection, support the recommendations of both the Environment
Agency and the IDB.
Environmental Protection: No objection, recommend conditions.
PARISH COUNCIL
No objection, request that consideration be given to the impact on neighbouring residential
properties and highway safety.
PUBLICITY
A site notice was displayed; 24 letters of objection have been received raising the following
issues:


competition with existing children’s nurseries and potential job losses



not a sustainable location



lack of information with the planning application



environmental sustainability



not accessible for walking



the location choice is opposite to the sustainable merits of the application



no footpath provision



no travel plan



too many nurseries



it is located in the countryside



pedestrian and highway safety issues



lack of parking provision



no public transport.

Two letters of support have also been received.
STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
No Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted with this application.
ASSESSMENT
This application was deferred at a previous meeting of the planning committee to allow
members to visit the site before making a decision. It was then deferred at the subsequent
meeting to allow additional information in respect of travel plans and sustainable modes of
travel to the site.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 14

Page 4

The application site is an agricultural field, which extends to 1.08 hectares in area and is
outside the defined settlement boundary for Messingham, to the west of the Catchwater
cross-roads (where Butterwick Road intersects North Moor Road/Lane). It is a rectangular
piece of land bounded by watercourses along three of its boundaries and has an existing
gated field access from Butterwick Road to the north. There is a row of residential
properties to the north-east and a fishing lakes business to the west. This application seeks
to establish a change of use of the land for an eco-children’s nursery on this agricultural
field consisting of an office block, classroom, allotments, car park and poly tunnels.
The main issues in the determination of this application are the principle of
development, impact on the character and appearance of the countryside and flood
risk.
Principle
The proposal is for the creation of a new business in the open countryside. Of direct
relevance to this proposal is policy RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan (NLLP) which
states that development in the open countryside will be strictly controlled and only permitted
for development which is employment related development appropriate to the open
countryside. Policy CS3 of the adopted Core Strategy (CS) echoes this policy approach and
states the following in respect of development outside defined settlement boundaries:
Development outside these defined boundaries will be restricted to that which is essential to
the functioning of the countryside. This will include uses such as those related to
agriculture, forestry or other uses which require a countryside location or which will
contribute to the sustainable development of the tourist industry.
In terms of national planning policy, the NPPF, at paragraphs 83 and 84, states:
Planning policies and decisions should enable:
a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;
and
Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and
community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing
settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any
opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving the scope for
access on foot, by cycling or by public transport).
It is worth noting the NPPF is not discriminatory about the types of businesses to be located
in a rural area, save they are grown in a sustainable manner and that they may be sited in
locations not well served by public transport. This proposal is for the change of use of land
to establish an eco-children’s nursery. The location has been chosen to take account of the
activities required in a countryside location such as outdoor learning, educating children on
how to live more sustainably, developing an appreciation for nature, growing fruit and
vegetables, rearing animals and reducing waste (including that generated from the
proposal). The applicant proposes semi-permanent buildings and structures which are
designed to be in keeping with the rural nature of the proposal and the promotion of
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 15

Page 5

spirituality, managing emotions and moral well-being in a quiet rural setting. It is considered
that the proposal complies with policies RD2 of the NLLP and CS3 of the CS as it is
employment-related development appropriate to a countryside setting as the range of
services being offered and business ethos (outdoor learning, outdoor play, learning about
nature etc) requires a rural setting which could not reasonably be accommodated in defined
settlement limits. In addition, the applicant is not proposing to develop the whole site as
they are seeking to grow the business organically; this is consistent with the NPPF which
requires them to be grown in a sustainable manner and the site offers room for expansion
in the future.
Policy C4 of the NLLP applies and sets out the criteria for considering sites for children’s
day care provision. Applying this criteria to the development proposals, it will provide a safe
environment for children, being located away from the car park and from Butterwick Road;
there are facilities for visitor and staff parking, and servicing; and there is landscaping in the
form of hedge and tree planting along all boundaries, including the northern boundary
facing towards Butterwick Road. In addition, there are opportunities to supplement this
landscaping but for the reasons set out in the next section of this report this is not
considered to be a requirement at this time. The plans show there is provision for public
and staff parking and this area is kept separate from the main teaching block and reception
area; no objections have been received from Highways in relation to the level of parking
provision or on grounds of highway safety. A condition is recommended by Environmental
Health limiting the hours of operation of the nursery from 7.30am to 6.30pm Monday to
Friday; this is consistent with the hours recommended in policy C4 in a residential area. It is
worth noting that policy C4 does not specify that a countryside location is not an appropriate
site for a children’s day nursery.
A number of objectors have raised issues in relation to the location of the site in that it is not
a sustainable location and that the business being eco in its ethos is questioned owing to its
proposed location in the countryside. It is noted that this site is located in the countryside,
outside of any defined settlement boundary, and is not close to bus stops or sustainable
modes of travel, and it does not have a highway footpath serving it. However, the business
model is one that requires a rural location and Highways have not objected to the proposal
on pedestrian or highway safety grounds, and the proposal is not considered to result in an
alien or discordant form of development in the rural landscape. In addition, the nature of a
children’s nursery is that parking provision is normally a requirement for drop-off and pickup purposes and therefore these types of business generate traffic regardless of whether
they are located within the built framework of a settlement or within the countryside.
Following the last meeting, Highways have confirmed that the initial travel plan submitted
with the application establishes existing travel patterns and baseline data. Their response
adds that travel plans are live documents and the recommended conditions (9 and 10)
allow for the travel plan to be submitted and then reviewed over time, taking into account
the way in which the business will operate once it becomes established, the nature of the
business and the location in which it is situated. Highways confirm a similar position to that
above in that the nature of a children’s nursery, regardless of its location, tends to have the
car as its principal mode of travel to and from the facility and this site has good visibility
along a straight section of Butterwick Road in both directions. Finally, Highways are of the
opinion that the conditions recommended in relation to the submission and review of travel
plans are robust in this case.
The applicant has put forward the environmental credentials of the site in that energy will be
generated from on-site renewables (solar panels), waste will be reduced by composting,
rainwater harvesting and waterless composting toilets, and food products will be grown on

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 16

Page 6

the site. These factors, together with the eco-nursery business model, are considered
benefits which outweigh the potential harm to the rural location of the site. The proposal is
thus considered to comply with policies RD2 and C4 of the NLLP, C3 of the adopted CS
and guidance in the NPPF.
Impact on rural landscape
The applicant has already undertaken some works on the site which consist of the
formation of the car parking area and some fencing. However, the introduction of the semipermanent buildings, including the classroom, office and polytunnel, has the potential to
impact on the character and appearance of the rural landscape. The largest of these
buildings is the classroom which measures 17 metres by 7.782 metres, with an overall
height of 3.9 metres. This building will be located approximately 25 metres to the south of
the vehicular entrance and will be constructed from timber walls with a dark shingle roof.
Similarly, the proposed office building will be of timber construction and measures 5.1
metres by 4.8 metres, with a ridge height of 2.38 metres. The majority of these structures
and buildings will be located in the central part of the site, away from the site entrance. In
addition, there is mature tree and hedge planting along all boundaries of the site and further
screening is provided by a dense wooded area to the east and south-east. Therefore, it is
considered that the built aspects of the proposal will not be highly visible in the open
countryside, and given the materials of construction (i.e. timber) and low heights (classroom
3.9 metres, office 2.38 metres and polytunnel 2.54 metres), these buildings/structures will
not form alien or discordant features in the rural landscape. In addition, the nature of these
buildings/structures are that they are not permanent and can easily be removed from the
site when no longer required.
Flood risk
The site is located in flood zone 2/3a as defined in the North Lincolnshire Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment or SFRA. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the
application, which has been reviewed by the Environment Agency and no objections have
been received on flood risk grounds. The response from the Environment Agency states
that the site level is slightly below the critical flood level of 4.1 metres AOD as established in
the SFRA. However, the Environment Agency has not objected to the proposal and
recommends a condition that the development takes place in accordance with the
mitigation measures set out in the FRA. On this basis it is considered that the development
is safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
The proposal is for a ‘more vulnerable’ use (non–residential uses for health services,
nurseries and educational establishments) in a high flood risk area, therefore there is a
requirement for both the sequential and exceptions test to be applied and passed. The
applicant has submitted an updated FRA which includes additional details of the sequential
and exceptions test. The applicant has applied the sequential test and set out the radius of
the search area to that which would reasonably be located within the catchment of the
proposed children’s nursery; this takes into account the villages of Messingham and Scotter
and the southern edges of Scunthorpe. The sequential test was applied using an online
search of available sites and through contacting property agents in the area. Two sites in
Scunthorpe were identified but were discounted on account of them being located on
industrial estates and the sites do not provide the space and setting required for an econursery. A site was identified on Wendover Road in Messingham but this was located within
the settlement boundary (an inappropriate setting for an eco-nursery) and had planning

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 17

Page 7

permission for residential development. Given the requirement for a rural setting to provide
a children’s eco-nursery, it is considered that the sequential test is passed in this case.
The exceptions test then needs to be applied. Essentially, the two parts to the test require
proposed development to show that it would provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh flood risk, and that it would be safe for its lifetime, without
increasing flood risk elsewhere and, where possible, reducing flood risk overall. Subject to
the condition recommended by the Environment Agency, it is considered that the FRA
satisfactorily demonstrates that the development would be safe without increasing flood risk
elsewhere. In respect of the exceptions test, the updated FRA states that the proposal will
have socio-economic and environmental benefits, there is demand for an additional
children’s nursery in this area and the nursery will be a relatively unique offer in the area.
As stated previously in this report, it is considered that the proposal complies with policies
RD2 of the NLLP and CS3 of the CS as it is employment-related development appropriate
to a countryside setting, as the range of services being offered and business ethos (outdoor
learning, outdoor play, learning about nature etc) requires a rural setting which could not
reasonably be accommodated in defined settlement limits. On this basis it is considered
that the proposal would provide wider sustainability benefits that outweigh flood risk; the
exceptions test is considered to be passed. In conclusion, the applicant has satisfactorily
demonstrated that the proposal would provide wider sustainable benefits to the community
which outweigh flood risk. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policies
DS16 of the local plan, CS19 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF in terms of flood risk.
Following the last meeting, the applicant has confirmed by email, that the floor levels of the
proposed buildings on the site (including the classroom and office) can be lifted to a
maximum of 0.5 metres above the existing ground levels. This would ensure that the
applicant can meet the terms of condition 4 recommended by the Environment Agency and
can therefore demonstrate the development is safe in flood risk terms.
Other issues
A number of objectors have raised issues relating to the impact on existing children’s
nurseries in the Messingham area. It should be noted that competition to existing
businesses is not considered to be a material planning issue and therefore it will not be
assessed in this case.
Conclusion
In the opinion of the local planning authority, the development proposals represent a form of
employment-related development which is appropriate in a rural setting. Furthermore, the
proposed children’s eco-nursery will be sufficiently screened and will not form an alien or
discordance feature in the rural landscape. In addition, the applicant has satisfactorily
demonstrated that the proposed development would provide wider sustainable benefits to
the community which outweighs flood risk and the thus the proposal is considered to
comply with policies DS16 of the local plan, CS19 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF in
terms of flood risk. The application is therefore recommended for approval.
Pre-commencement conditions
The applicant has agreed to a pre-commencement condition being imposed, if planning
permission is granted, requiring the submission of a contaminated land investigation report.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 18

Page 8

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: PA/2020/764/01, 2020/764/P1, 2020/764/O1, 2020/764/O2, 2020/764/L1,
2020/764/L2, 2020/764/L3, 2020/764/L4, 2020/764/L5 and 2020/764/L6.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than that
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not
commence until parts 1 to 4 below have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is
found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the local planning
authority in writing until part 4 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
Part 1: Site Characteristics
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The
contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a
written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval
in writing of the local planning authority. The report of the findings must include:
(i)

a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

(ii)

an assessment of the potential risks to:
- human health;
- property (existing or proposed), including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland, and service lines and pipes;
- adjoining land;
- groundwaters and surface waters;
- ecological systems;
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii)

an appraisal of remedial options, and a proposal of the preferred option(s).

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 19

Page 9

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model
Procedures for the management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Part 2: Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in
writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
Part 3: Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning
authority must be given two weeks' written notification of commencement of the remediation
scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the
approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Part 4: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the local planning authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with the requirements of Part 1, and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 2,
which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. Following
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority
in accordance with Part 3.
Reason
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with
policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
4.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) and in particular the following mitigation measures detailed within the
FRA:
- all buildings to be set at or above existing site levels
- flood emergency procedures to be in place.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 20

Page 10

Reason
To reduce the risk and impact of flooding to the development and future users.
5.
No loose material shall be placed on any driveway or parking area within 10 metres of the
adopted highway unless measures are taken in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to prevent the material from spilling
onto the highway. Once agreed and implemented these measures shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan.
6.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without
modification), nothing shall at any time be erected, retained, planted or allowed to grow
over 1.05 metres in height above the level of the adjoining carriageway for a distance of 2
metres from the highway boundary across the site frontage.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
7.
The proposed new facilities shall not be brought into use until the vehicle access to it and
the vehicle parking, turning and servicing areas serving it have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan.
8.
No signage of any kind associated with the proposal shall be positioned within the limits of
the adopted highway.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
9.
The final travel plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority within six months of the proposed development being brought into use and all
conditions and requirements of the plan, once approved, shall be implemented and retained
at all times.
Reason
To ensure that the proposed development operates in a safe and sustainable manner with
minimal disruption to the highway network.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 21

Page 11

10.
The travel plan, once approved and in place, shall be subject to monitoring on an annual
basis for a period of three years from the approval date. The monitoring report on the
impact of the travel plan shall be submitted to the local planning authority on the first of
January each year following the grant of planning permission. All amendments to the
approved travel plan identified as a result of the monitoring process shall be implemented
and retained.
Reason
To ensure that the proposed development operates in a safe and sustainable manner with
minimal disruption to the highway network.
11.
The hours of operation for the children's eco-nursery hereby permitted shall be restricted to
the following:
- Monday to Friday: 7.30 am to 6.30 pm
- Saturdays, Sundays, bank/public holidays: closed.
Reason
To define the terms of the permission and in the interests of safeguarding residential
amenity in accordance with policies DS1 and C4 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Informative 1
The development hereby granted planning permission requires works to be carried out
within the limits of the adopted (public) highway. Therefore:
- before ANY construction works take place within the limits of the highway you MUST
contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297000 to arrange for the
relevant permissions/licenses to be issued;
- before ANY service (utility) connections take place within the limits of the highway you
MUST contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297319 to arrange for
the relevant permissions/licenses to be issued.
Informative 2
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 22

Page 12

PA/2020/764 Proposed layout (not to scale)
DRWG/PA/2020/764/01

Butterwick Road
(Permeable stone)
Building 1 - Office
Poly Tunnel

Weaving pathway (permeable stone)
Building 2 - Classroom
Allotment

Page 23

Page 24
NORTH
MOOR
ROAD

PA/2020/764

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/952

APPLICANT

Keadby Developments Ltd

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission for the creation of a biodiversity
enhancement area (comprising the use of 70,000 cubic metres
of excavated soil)

LOCATION

Land north-west and west of Keadby Power Station, Keadby,
DN17 3EF (in Keadby, Crowle and Belton Parishes)

PARISH

Keadby with Althorpe; Crowle; Belton

WARD

Axholme North; Axholme Central

CASE OFFICER

Scott Jackson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Member ‘call in’ (Cllrs John Briggs and Julie Reed – significant
public interest)
Objection by Keadby with Althorpe Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Sections 12, 14 and 15 apply.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: Policies RD2, DS1, DS13, DS15, DS16, LC5 and LC6
apply.
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: Policies CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS16, CS17, CS18
and CS19 apply.
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection.
Environment Agency: No objection, but recommend an informative relating to permit
requirements for activities in proximity to EA-maintained assets/watercourses.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objection, but recommend conditions.
Natural England: Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the
proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected
nature conservation sites or landscapes. No objection.
Canal and River Trust: No objection – direct impacts on the Stainforth and Keadby Canal
will be limited.
Environmental Health: No objection, but recommend conditions.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 25

Page 13

Network Rail: No objection, but comments made relating to drainage, excavation and
earthworks, and abnormal loads in close proximity to Network Rail maintained assets.
Historic Environment Record: The proposal does not adversely affect any heritage
assets or their settings. No further recommendations.
Ecology: Sensitive working methods will be required to take account of the protected and
priority species. The proposal will employ good practice methods to increase the area of
priority habitat. Planning conditions are proposed to minimise harm to protected and priority
species and habitats and to secure biodiversity enhancement in accordance with policy
CS17 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. Supports the
application.
PARISH/TOWN COUNCILS
Keadby with Althorpe Parish Council: Objects on the following grounds:


The proposal with no seeding would result in two large spoil heaps.



It will be detrimental to visual amenity .



Seeding and planting should be a condition of any planning approval.



The opportunity to make this a community asset should be investigated further.

Crowle and Ealand Town Council: Comments that adequate sewerage and drainage
infrastructure should be implemented.
PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site and press notice. One response has been
received making the following observations:


The material to be deposited is on a former power station – potential for contaminants.



The site is not in Belton, Crowle or Amcotts.



It is a tactic of the applicant to save time/expense associated with transporting waste to
a tip.



Bonnyhale Road is a statutory highway.

STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
No statement of community involvement has been submitted.
ASSESSMENT
This application was deferred at a previous meeting of the planning committee to allow
members to visit the site before making a decision.
The site consists of an area of land to the west and north west of the Keadby 2 Power
Station site, extending to approximately 16.5 hectares. The site is within the open
countryside and consists of two sections of land: an area for soil storage to the west of
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 26

Page 14

Keadby Power Station; and a second section to the north of the Stainforth and Keadby
Canal, adjacent to agricultural fields to the west. Planning permission is sought to create a
biodiversity enhancement area (BEA) through the deposition of 70,000 cubic metres of
surplus soil extracted from the Keadby 2 Power Station project. This consists of the creation
of two earth mounds with a maximum overall height of 12.5 metres in order to create a
BEA.
Update
This application was deferred at the planning committee meeting in November 2020 as
members made a request for the applicant to liaise with the local parish/town councils to
determine whether there were opportunities for the public to have access to the site and if
the proposals to allow the land to self-vegetate could be re-considered.
The main issues in the determination of this application are the principle of
development (incorporating ecological considerations) and impact on the character
and appearance of the rural landscape.
Principle
The site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary, in the open countryside.
Policy RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan (NLLP) applies and states that
development in the open countryside will be strictly controlled and only permitted for
development which is essential to the provision of outdoor sport, countryside recreation or
local community facilities. In addition, policy CS3 of the adopted Core Strategy (CS) states
that development outside of the defined development limits will be restricted to other uses
which require a countryside location. Policies LC6 (Habitat Creation) of the NLLP and CS17
(Biodiversity) of the CS are not restricted to development inside defined settlement limits
and both policies advocate the creation of new wildlife habitats which would ensure
development will produce a net gain in biodiversity by designing in wildlife. In addition,
paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that when
determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply the following
principles:


development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be
supported, while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around
developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net
gains for biodiversity.

The applicant has submitted a planning statement setting out the planning merits of the
proposal and highlighting that a number of options for the re-use of this surplus soil have
been considered, the option being considered having been selected due to the following
benefits/factors:


a significant reduction in soil being transported to landfill or waste disposal site



the limited biodiversity value of the existing site



compatibility with neighbouring land uses



the biodiversity works can be delivered alongside existing biodiversity commitments
associated with the Keadby 2 Power Station project

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 27

Page 15



materials will be transported via existing roads and tracks, and once at the location, all
vehicle movements will be via pre-defined routes; ground protection measures will be
used as appropriate to minimise ground compaction



materials will be deposited to form mounds with:
- the coarsest and most free-draining substrates located towards the surface of the
mounds, and the least favourable substrates (e.g. heavier loams) located towards the
bottom;
- minimal compaction and sculpting – open mosaic habitat (OMH) does not require an
even level surface and compaction would be detrimental for establishment of OMH
species;
- a scalloped outer face to maximise aspects and microhabitats for plants and
invertebrates;
- an undulating topography to provide small-scale cliffs suitable for use by burrowing
invertebrates



no seeding or planting – natural regeneration from bare mineral soils is optimal for the
establishment of OMH of high ecological value; this is how the existing high biodiversity
value of the wider area, including the Ash Tip, has established



avoids existing constraints, including the gulley to the north used by badgers as a
movement corridor, the existing wetland and orchid translocation areas.

The proposal seeks to establish biodiversity enhancement through the formation of two
earth bunds, which are intended to provide additional habitat for basking and foraging
reptiles, opportunities for ground nesting species on the barer ground, open bare ground for
invertebrates and foraging opportunities for other fauna such as badgers and bats. It is
noted that the proposal will result in the loss of 3 hectares of poor semi-improved grassland,
scattered scrub and ephemeral/short perennial grassland, but the enhancement proposals
will seek to recreate and extend the areas of high value OMH landscape. The applicant has
submitted a number of supporting documents setting out the ecological considerations of
the scheme; these have been considered by both Natural England and the council’s
ecologist, with the consideration of alternative options being welcomed and no objections to
the proposals being raised. In addition, the decision to allow the mounds to self-vegetate is
supported by these consultees and the proposal is therefore considered acceptable as it
will deliver biodiversity gains. The proposal is thus considered to comply with policies LC6
of the NLLP and CS17 of the CS, and paragraph 175 of the NPPF as it will deliver net gains
for biodiversity and ensure that 70,000 cubic metres of surplus construction waste (soil) will
not be transported to landfill, thus reducing the number of vehicle trips, reducing the impact
on the highway network and re-using surplus material associated with construction of the
Keadby 2 Power Station project. The principle of development is therefore considered to be
acceptable and complies with the policies listed above, which seek to secure biodiversity
enhancement.
Impact on countryside
The proposal will result in the formation of two earth mounds at an overall maximum height
of 12.5 metres; this has the potential to impact on the character and appearance of the rural

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 28

Page 16

landscape from a visual amenity perspective. However, it is worth noting that the area of
land on which the earth mounds and soil storage areas are proposed contains a number of
wind turbines (each 125 metres high) to the south and the existing power station to the
east, and the modelled height of the BEA is lower than the main landform of the Keadby
Ash Tip located in close proximity to the site. The submitted cross-sectional drawings
demonstrate that the level of the earth mounds will be approximately 5.6 metres above the
existing site levels and therefore the formation of these soil features will not be significantly
higher than the existing landform or the land levels on adjacent sites, and over time will
become self-vegetated. These earth mounds will be visible from the public footpath, which
runs a course along the southern side of the Stainforth and Keadby canal to the south of
the site; however, once the mounds begin to self-vegetate they will assimilate into the rural
landscape over a short period of time. Given that the proposals to allow the mounds to selfvegetate are supported from an ecological perspective by both Natural England and the
council’s ecologist, it is not considered reasonable or necessary to recommend a condition
that these features are supplemented by additional landscaping or requires a scheme for
the mounds to be seeded. The area to the north-east of the BEA to be used for soil storage
will take place immediately on an existing consented area for the storage of materials
associated with the Keadby 2 Power Station project and will not result in new areas of
material storage in the open countryside.
Taking into account the existing landform and appearance of the rural landscape
surrounding the site, the formation of two earth mounds for the purposes of biodiversity
enhancement is not considered to form an alien or discordant feature in the countryside.
The proposal is considered to comply with policies RD2 of the NLLP, and CS3 and CS5 of
the adopted CS.
Other issues
The site is located within flood zone 2/3a as defined in the North Lincolnshire Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA). A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with
the application, the conclusions of which are that the nature of surface water run-off could
change as a result of the development but such a change is unlikely to result in an increase
in flood risk. The proposal is considered to be water compatible development (amenity open
space, nature conservation and biodiversity) and this flood risk vulnerability is considered to
be appropriate in a high flood risk zone when Table 3: Flood risk vulnerability and flood
zone ‘compatibility’ of the National Planning Policy Guidance is taken into account. In
addition, no objection to the proposal has been raised by either the Environment Agency or
LLFA Drainage on flood risk grounds. The proposal is thus considered to be acceptable in
flood risk terms.
The supporting information has been considered by Environmental Health and no objection
has been received on grounds of the suitability of the material to be utilised to form the
earth mounds for the BEA. The proposal is not considered to impact on residential amenity
through noise or general disturbance and a condition is recommended to ensure that
construction activities take place during social hours of the day; this is consistent with the
consultation response received from Environmental Health.
In response to the objection from Keadby with Althorpe Parish Council, the applicant has
sent additional information, which states that the land is located within the undertaking of
the wider Keadby 2 Power Station project which is ongoing, and with the number of
construction vehicles passing in close proximity to the site it would not be safe to allow
public access to this land.
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 29

Page 17

Further update
Following the previous deferral of this application, the applicant has recently provided an
update.
With regard to community liaison, the applicant has engaged with Keady and Althorpe
Parish Council and joined the Keadby Regeneration Group to discuss how they can
contribute towards the development of the area at a grass-roots level, and to enter dialogue
with this group as they will require their future engagement into the potential Keadby 3
Power Station proposals. This dialogue is ongoing and separate from the planning
application under consideration.
With regard to public access to the BEA, the applicant has made it clear this will not be
appropriate as the site forms part of the operational power station (which in itself is critical
infrastructure), thereby resulting in a public safety issue; it would also have the potential
counter effect of disturbance to the BEA. The applicant has considered the potential for the
BEA to be landscaped rather than allow it to be self-vegetated. However, they state that this
land is of limited biodiversity value at present and the approach to allow it to self-vegetate
has been based on the recommendations of qualified ecologists. Comparison is drawn with
how the nearby Ash Tip has developed from an ecological perspective. In addition, no
objection has been received from the council’s ecologist or Natural England to this
approach.
Based on the above, it is evident that the applicant has sought to engage with the local
parish council and this is an application for biodiversity enhancements that would make use
of surplus soil. Given the nature of the application, it is considered that any request for
developer contributions towards local projects or improvements would not meet the
statutory tests of planning obligations in regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure
Levy 2019 (as amended) which are:


necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;



directly related to the development; and



fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Such a request for developer contributions may be more appropriate in the case of the
Keadby 3 Power Station which is a major infrastructure project. The applicant has already
engaged in dialogue with the Keadby Regeneration Group to discuss this going forward. It
is considered, on safety grounds, that public access to an operational power station site is
not appropriate and the approach to allow the land to self-vegetate is acceptable in
ecological terms. The applicant has therefore clearly demonstrated, to the satisfaction of
the local planning authority, that they have engaged with the parish council and on this
basis the development proposals are considered to be acceptable.
Conclusion
The proposal to create a biodiversity enhancement area (BEA) is considered to comply with
policies LC6 of the NLLP and CS17 of the CS, and paragraph 175 of the NPPF, as it will
deliver net gains for biodiversity and ensure that 70,000 cubic metres of surplus
construction waste (soil) will not be transported to landfill, thus reducing the number of
vehicle trips, reducing the impact on the highway network and re-using surplus material
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 30

Page 18

associated with construction of the Keadby 2 Power Station project. In addition, the
mounds, once self-vegetated over a period of 12–18 months will not result in an alien or
discordant feature in the rural landscape. The proposal is considered acceptable in
planning policy terms and is subsequently recommended for approval.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: A01, BEA/FIGURE/03 and BEA/FIGURE/04.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
Works and biodiversity enhancements shall be carried out strictly in accordance with
section 3 of the submitted ecology report. Within six months of the commencement of
development, a biodiversity management plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing
with the local planning authority. The plan shall include:
(a)

the aims and objectives of the plan, including proposed indicators of success;

(b)

details of the ecological requirements of target species and habitats, and the
ecological trends affecting them;

(c)

plans and details of habitats to be created and managed to support the target
species, including details of earthworks, substrates and topography;

(d)

ongoing management measures to be implemented to maintain habitats in
favourable condition;

(e)

timing of proposed works.

Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
4.
The biodiversity management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and timings, and the approved features shall be retained thereafter, unless
otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 31

Page 19

5.
If, during development, any odorous, discoloured or otherwise visually contaminated
material is found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out
until a written method statement detailing how this contamination shall be dealt with has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with
policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
6.
Working hours shall be limited to the following days and hours:
- 7am to 7pm Monday to Friday;
- 7am to 1pm on Saturdays.
No operations shall take place on Sundays or public/bank holidays.
HGV movements shall not be permitted outside these hours during the construction phase
without prior written approval from the local planning authority.
Installation of equipment on site shall not be permitted outside these hours without prior
written approval from the local planning authority.
Reason
To define the terms of the permission and in the interests of safeguarding residential
amenity. These hours are permitted making an allowance for the current Covid-19
Pandemic.
7.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment dated June 2020, reference 0280278, prepared by ERM Europe Ltd.
Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation and future maintenance of the sustainable
drainage structures in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
policies CS18 and CS19 of the Core Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157, 163 and 165 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.
Informative 1
Drainage: All surface and foul water arising from the proposed works must be collected and
diverted away from Network Rail property. All soakaways must be located so as to
discharge away from the railway infrastructure. The following points need to be addressed:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 32

Page 20

1. There should be no increase to average or peak flows of surface water run-off leading
towards Network Rail assets, including earthworks, bridges and culverts.
2. All surface water run-off and sewage effluent should be handled in accordance with
local council and water company regulations.
Excavations/earthworks: All excavations/earthworks carried out in the vicinity of Network
Rail property/structures must be designed and executed such that no interference with the
integrity of that property/structure can occur. If temporary works compounds are to be
located adjacent to the operational railway, these should be included in a method statement
for approval by Network Rail. Prior to commencement of works, full details of excavations
and earthworks to be carried out near the railway undertaker's boundary fence should be
submitted for the approval of the local planning authority acting in consultation with the
railway undertaker and the works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details. Where development may affect the railway, consultation with the Asset Protection
Project Manager should be undertaken. Network Rail will not accept any liability for any
settlement, disturbance or damage caused to any development by failure of the railway
infrastructure nor for any noise or vibration arising from the normal use and/or maintenance
of the operational railway. No right of support is given or can be claimed from Network
Rail's infrastructure or railway land.
Abnormal Loads: From the information supplied, it is not clear if any abnormal loads will be
using routes that include any Network Rail assets (e.g. bridges). Network Rail would have
serious reservations if, during the construction or operation of the site, abnormal loads will
use routes that include Network Rail assets. Network Rail would request that the applicant
contacts their Asset Protection Project Manager to confirm that any proposed route is viable
and to agree a strategy to protect their asset(s) from any potential damage caused by
abnormal loads. They also advise that where any damage, injury or delay to the rail network
is caused by an abnormal load (related to the application site), the applicant or developer
will incur full liability.
Informative 2
The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require a permit or
exemption to be obtained from the Environment Agency for any activities which will take
place:
- on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal);
- on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culverted main river (16 metres if
tidal);
- on or within 16 metres of a sea defence;
- involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main river, flood defence
(including a remote defence) or culvert;
- in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or flood defence structure
(16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you do not already have planning permission.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 33

Page 21

For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activitiesenvironmental-permits or contact our National Customer Contact Centre on 03708 506 506
(Monday to Friday, 8am to 6pm) or by emailing enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk.
Informative 3
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 34

Page 22

PA/2020/952 Proposed layout (not to scale)

Access between current storage laydown
and proposed excavated materials

Page 35
Access road via Keadby 2 Construction Route
over the Pilfrey Bridge from the south of the Site

0

PROJECTION: British National Grid

Legend

100

200

300

400

500

Metres

Keadby II MMO Draft Redline Boundary
Existing Keadby II Laydown Area
Current Temporary Storage Area
Area to contain proposed ecological enhancement (Option 5)

© 2020 Microsoft Corporation © 2020 DigitalGlobe ©CNES (2020) Distribution Airbus DS

SCALE: 1:7,500

VERSION: A01

SIZE: A4

DRAWN: LST

PROJECT: 0280278

CHECKED: JS

DATE: 03/06/2020

APPROVED: AC

±

Figure 1:
Site layout including current temporary
material storage area, proposed enhancement
location and existing access roads.

Path: \\UKLONSV04\Data\Edinburgh\Projects\0280278_KeadbyGIS_GB_KM\MAPS\Ecological Enhancement\0280278_MMO_Boundary_SiteLayout_A01.mxd

Page 36
LC14 Isle of Axholme Area of Special Historic Landscape

PA/2020/952

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

9.196

7.617

9.263
9.340

7.638
7.657

9.320

8.997

7.073

7.876
7.463
7.172

7.119
7.141

9.161

7.810
7.819
7.815

11.501

11.633

12.100
11.896

12.700
12.850
12.850
12.850
12.629

9.277
9.104

7.492
7.521
7.530
7.526
7.517
7.517
7.517
7.508
7.508
7.508
7.499
7.499
7.499
7.458

3.023
2.778
2.893
2.692

3.549

4.739

5.901

7.235

9.593

7.452

7.867
7.426

8.523

8.986

9.908

7.413

7.373 10.265

7.334 10.541

7.294 10.757

7.255 10.942

7.178 11.188
7.213 11.100

7.209 11.287

7.246 11.389

7.315
7.315
7.315
7.315
7.310
7.310
7.295

7.335
7.335
7.331
7.325
7.325

7.351
12.100
7.335
7.340 12.350

7.440 11.701

7.519 11.374

7.599 11.100

7.685 10.561

7.768 10.091

9.859

9.585

9.311

9.035

8.743

5.0

5.051
4.973

5.170

5.231

5.642

6.116

6.534

6.903

7.258

6.390
5.884

7.427

8.458

9.388

7.570 10.139

7.537 10.754

7.508 11.100

7.479 11.362

7.447 11.718

7.393 12.100

7.242 12.465
12.850
7.279 12.850
12.850
7.334 12.850

7.280 12.027
12.100
7.258 12.100

7.317 11.898

7.362 11.765

7.399 11.621

7.443 11.475

7.480 11.330

7.563 10.883
11.100
7.520 11.184

7.607 10.649

7.650 10.407

7.694 10.133

7.742

7.742
7.758

7.720

7.693

8.451

dd

7.5

Section Location Plan (NTS)
5

4.378
5.603

8.697

7.792

8.159

5.0

.0
10

8.793

8.030

7.262

7.338

7.503

7.520

7.537

7.548
7.565
7.554

7.545
7.536

cc

2.
5

7.944
7.544

8.611

9.277

9.944

7.495 10.556

7.437 11.100

7.391 11.371

7.309 12.100
7.317 12.850
7.317 12.850
7.323 12.100
12.100
12.100
7.331 12.100
12.100
7.351 11.856
7.370
7.370 11.623

7.304 11.636

7.295 11.100

7.280
9.555
7.290 10.318
7.290

7.277

7.266

7.263

7.252

7.243

7.185

7.073

6.866

Section CC

2.787

7.722
7.518

8.218

8.714

9.210

9.705

8.232

7.782

7.667
7.867

10.0

1.004

5.882
6.242

7.538
7.550
6.521
5.048
5.302

7.518

7.504

7.488

7.468

7.454

7.434

7.418 10.201

7.390 11.249
11.100
7.404 10.730

7.373 11.690

7.359 12.100

7.314 12.850
12.850
12.850
7.329 12.850
12.850
7.343 12.618

7.298 12.557

7.288 11.605
7.266
7.294 11.830
7.280
7.281 12.100

7.326 11.356

7.364 11.100

7.440 10.937
11.100
7.402 11.100

7.479 10.531

7.772

7.772

9.626

7.755

7.759

7.638
7.660
7.663
7.667
7.666
7.664
7.667
7.670
7.673

5.290

12
.0
11
.5
11
.
10 0
.
10 5
.
9. 0
9. 5
0
8.
5

1.488

2.001
2.121
1.969

1.770

2.577

4.083

5.596

7.242
7.290
6.959

9.368

8.656

7.654
7.944

7.682
7.685
7.688

7.518 10.080

7.556

7.594

7.638

7.679

7.639
7.733
7.717

7.394

7.220

7.130

7.742

7.741

7.590

7.551

Section AA

7.163

8.274

7.095

8.586

9.434

7.118

7.070

9.885

7.164

7.202 10.335

7.267 11.100
11.100
7.259
7.244 10.786

7.280 11.480

7.300 12.251
12.100
7.289 11.866

7.334 12.777
12.850
12.850
7.319 12.850
12.850
7.310 12.621

7.345 12.587

7.365 11.935
12.100
7.353 12.253

7.411 11.664

7.471 11.379

7.530 11.100

7.590 10.698

7.656 10.346

7.717
9.534
7.725
7.732
9.805
7.743
7.719 10.076

7.690

9.476

9.501

7.613

7.673

9.715

9.851
9.865
9.826
9.836
9.818

7.603

7.600

7.605

9.822

9.538

8.843

7.610
7.610
7.610
7.610

8.491

7.623

8.139

7.573
7.786

7.641
7.655
7.649

7.604

7.551

7.493

7.442

7.387

7.295

5.470

6.637

7.730

7.5

7.717

EE
7.5

bb

Section BB
5
7.

7.731

15.0
2.
5

0.0
tion

.5
12

5.0

Section AA

12.5
12.0
11.5
11.0
10.5
10.0
9.5
9.0
8.5
8.0
7.0

7.721

5.0
5.0

7.5

5.642

Sec
5.0

5.0

on BB

4.576

bb

Secti

2.5

3.579

ee

dd

Section DD

0.0
5.0

5.0

Section EE
2.5

Page 37

2.250

PA/2020/952 Soil storage (not to scale)

7.5

10.0
7.5

15.0

N
SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

5.0

Section DD

0.0
THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE
THAT IT WAS ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

rage:
0
5.

10.0

PLAN KEY

10.0

AREA 5 SOIL PLACEMENT AREA
(APPROXIMATE VOLUME ,00m3)

5
7.

EXISTING WOODLAND

ee

12.5
CONTOURS AT 0.5m INTERVALS

Section CC

10
.0

10.0

10.0

5.0
SECTION LOCATION

EXISTING POND

0
5.

PROPOSED SCRAPE

5.0

ORCHID LOCATION

5.0

SECTION KEY

2.5

EXISTING LANDFORM (BASED ON OS TERRAIN
5 DTM)

PROPOSED LANDFORM

15.0

10.0

5.0

0.0

15.0

Section CC
Purpose of issue
Revision Details

AECOM Internal Project No.

Drawing Number

%($FIGURE/0

By
Check

Designed
Drawn
Checked

NHW
DB

60538500
-

Scale @ A1
Zone

1:500
-

Date
Suffix

0.0
Client

Project Title

KEADBY %,2',9(56,7<
(1+$1&(0(17$5($

15.0
Drawing Title

SOIL PLACEMENT
SECTIONS A to E
Suitability
Approved
Date

03/09/19

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF AECOM'
APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT
OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM' EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH
USE, AND ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

Royal Court, Basil Close
Chesterfield
Derbyshire. S41 7SL
Telephone. (01246) 209221
Fax. (01246) 209229

AECOM

www.aecom.com

Rev

-

10.0

This page is intentionally left blank

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1494

APPLICANT

Mr R Sodha

DEVELOPMENT

Hybrid application comprising full planning permission to change
the use of a public house to a dwelling with associated works
and outline planning permission for three dwellings with
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for
subsequent consideration.

LOCATION

King William IV, 177 Scawby Road, Scawby Brook, DN20 9JX

PARISH

Scawby

WARD

Ridge

CASE OFFICER

Kevin Robinson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant full and outline planning permission subject to
conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Departure from the development plan
Objection by Scawby Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: The extract of policy from the NPPF represents
some of the key paragraphs for this assessment. Please note, however, that this list is not
exhaustive.
Paragraph 11: Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
For plan-making this means that:
(a)

plans should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their
area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to rapid change;

(b)

strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively assessed needs for
housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot be met within
neighbouring areas, unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a strong reason for restricting the overall scale,
type or distribution of development in the plan area; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 39

Page 23

For decision-taking this means:
(c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12: The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-making. Where a
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including any
neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission should not usually
be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-date
development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate that the
plan should not be followed.
Paragraph 38: Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed
development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work proactively
with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.
Paragraph 47: Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as quickly as possible, and
within statutory timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by the applicant in
writing.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, DS7, RD2, T2, T19, HE9
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS7, CS8, CS22
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objections, subject to conditions relating to access.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objections, subject to a condition with regard
to drainage and an informative relating to a potential culvert within the site.
Environmental Protection: No objections, subject to conditions relating to potential
contamination of the land and to control noise and dust during development.
Historic Environment Record: No objections on archaeological grounds.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 40

Page 24

Waste and Recycling: Advise the location for bin collections should be considered.
PARISH COUNCIL
Response received advising the details of the scheme raise no objection. However, as the
site is outside the development limits, they object.
PUBLICITY
Advertised by site and press notice. Three comments have been received raising the
following concerns:


loss of the public house as a community facility with no other facility in the village;



would be reliant on private car for travel.

ASSESSMENT
This application was deferred at a previous meeting of the planning committee to allow
members to visit the site before making a decision.
The proposal is a hybrid submission for full planning permission to change the use of an
existing public house to a single dwellinghouse and outline planning permission (with
details of access) for three dwellings on the associated land to the rear of the public house.
The public house is within the settlement development limits while the remainder of the
proposal is in the open countryside.
The conversion of the public house would result in its loss as a community facility. Policy
CS22 of the Core Strategy states, ‘The loss of community facilities or land allocated for
such purposes will be resisted, unless there is no longer a need for the land or building in
any form of community use, or there is an acceptable alternative means of meeting such
need.’ In this regard the applicant has stated that there are eight further public houses in
neighbouring Brigg and that the public house has previously been marketed for sale
unsuccessfully. It is noted that there is a combined development limit of Brigg, Scawby
Brook and Castlethorpe. As such, it is considered that the loss of the public house would
not be contrary to the aims of policy CS22. This part of the proposal in re-using an existing
building within the development limits is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle.
Turning to the remainder of the proposal, which is in outline form, for the erection of three
dwellings on land to the rear of the public house, this part of the site falls outside the
development limits.
The development plan for North Lincolnshire comprises three parts: those policies of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan (2003) (LP) which were saved by a direction of the Secretary
of State in September 2007, the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy DPD (2011) (CS), and
the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD (2016) (HELAP).
Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy sets out the overarching spatial strategy for North
Lincolnshire, which, amongst other matters, provides that rural settlements will be
supported as thriving sustainable communities, with a strong focus on retaining and
enhancing local services to meet local needs and that any development that takes place
should be in keeping with the character and nature of the settlement.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 41

Page 25

Policy CS8 deals with the distribution of housing sites and prioritises development in
Scunthorpe and the market towns, with brownfield sites and sites within development
boundaries being the primary focus. Policy CS8, whilst restricting housing outside
development limits, contemplates some greenfield development as it refers to allowing
development on such sites where it can be demonstrated that this would bring additional
community benefits, contribute to building sustainable communities and be acceptable in
terms of its impact on the high quality environment and adjoining countryside. This overall
approach is supported by policy CS2 which sets out a sequential approach for
development.
Policy CS3 provides that development limits will be defined in future development plan
documents. Outside these boundaries, development will be restricted to that which is
essential to the functioning of the countryside. The development limits were subsequently
defined in the HELAP, and the application site is in part located outside the designated
development limit.
Local plan saved policy RD2 restricts development in the open countryside other than in
exceptional circumstances. This policy only supports residential development outside
defined development limits where it is to meet an essential proven need and the open
countryside is the only appropriate location for the development. Whilst this policy remains
part of the development plan, it has largely been overtaken by policies in subsequent plans
addressing the same issue (such as policies CS2 and CS3 referenced above).
The aforementioned policies are aimed at focusing housing within settlement limits as
defined in the HELAP. The application site is partly outside the defined development
boundary and is therefore in breach of policies CS2, CS3 and CS8 of the Core Strategy and
RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Notwithstanding the development plan policies set out above, the NPPF is a material
consideration when determining planning applications. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF
provides that where the policies which are most important for determining the application
are out-of-date, the authority should grant permission unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

The five-year housing land supply statement sets out North Lincolnshire Council’s
assessment of its supply of housing land from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2021, having regard
to Government guidance on how this is calculated. This report states that North
Lincolnshire has a 3.9 year housing land supply of deliverable sites during the period April
2016 to March 2021.
This statement confirms that North Lincolnshire Council does not currently have a five-year
supply of deliverable housing sites. The consequence of this shortfall is to demonstrate that
current policies are failing to deliver a five-year supply of housing in accordance with
paragraph 11 (footnote 7) of the NPPF and they are, therefore, failing to meet short-term
housing needs. As such it is considered that there is a clear and demonstrable need for
housing development in the area. Accordingly, the operation of paragraph 11 of NPPF
triggers a tilted balance whereby there is a presumption in favour of sustainable

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 42

Page 26

development and development proposals should be approved unless the proposal fails
against the above tests from Paragraph 11 (d).
Paragraph 12 goes on to state, ‘The presumption in favour of sustainable development
does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for
decision making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan (including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan),
permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions
that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a
particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.’
There are three dimensions to sustainable development as set out in paragraph 8 of the
Framework: economic, social and environmental.
The proposal would provide economic benefits which are demonstrated within the scheme.
These include the benefits to the local economy during the construction phase and, upon
occupation of the resulting residential development, the support to existing services and
amenities in Brigg, Scawby Brook and Castlethorpe. The settlement scores highly in
sustainability terms as a preferred place for development. In terms of social sustainability,
the loss of the public house would be to its detriment; however, as assessed earlier, this
part of the proposal is considered to be acceptable in policy terms. On balance, therefore
the proposal is considered to result in some economic benefits, whilst being neutral in
social effects.
Environmentally there would be very limited impact upon the wider open countryside. The
site is constrained by existing development to all but the rear boundary and would not be
prominent in any views. A further offset is that the scheme would also include SuDs
techniques that would improve the environmental sustainability of the scheme.
The proposal for residential development in this location is not considered to impact upon
any protected areas of assets of particular importance and, on balance, the proposal does
represent a sustainable form of development in accordance with paragraph 11 (d) (i) of the
NPPF.
In determining the sustainability of the proposed development, an assessment is required,
not only on principle, but also on the technical elements of the proposal as to whether any
adverse impacts exist that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of
the proposal.
The key issues in this regard for the proposal are considered to be:


impacts upon the character of the area



impacts upon residential amenity



highway safety



flood risk and drainage



heritage and archaeology

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 43

Page 27

Impacts upon the character of the area.
Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy is concerned with raising design standards in North
Lincolnshire, whilst policies H5 and H7 of the local plan are concerned with new housing
developments and backland sites; both are considered relevant. Policy RD2 of the local
plan seeks to protect the open countryside and is also relevant.
As noted above, the application site has existing residential development to the east and
west with the public house to the northern boundary and open fields to the southern
boundary. Whilst details of the proposed dwellings are not known at this stage, it is
considered, given the existing variety within the immediate locality, that a suitable scheme
could be achieved for the proposed three new build properties. With residential properties
already in depth to the neighbouring sites, the proposal would not introduce a new
characteristic of backland development or be obtrusive within the locality. The proposed
conversion of the public house is considered to retain the key features of the building and
would not result in any detrimental impacts upon the character of the area.
The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in this regard with the requirements
of policies CS5, H5, H7 and RD2.
Impacts upon residential amenity
Policy DS1 is partly concerned with impacts upon residential amenity. It states, ‘…No
unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring land uses should result in terms of noise,
smell, fumes, dust or other nuisance, or through the effects of overlooking or
overshadowing.’
Policy H5 also seeks to require that proposals do not result in adverse impacts upon
neighbouring amenity.
The proposal contains full details for the conversion of the public house and is in outline
form only for the three properties proposed to the rear. The proposal is accompanied by an
indicative layout with the properties running down the site. It is considered that the public
house conversion is sympathetically laid out so as not to result in any significant impacts of
overlooking and it would not increase massing to cause overshadowing or oppression.
Furthermore, the change from the public house use could result in lower activity levels, the
site being in residential use adjacent to exist dwellings.
The proposed outline submission does not include details of siting or design.
Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the site has sufficient space to allow for a suitable
layout to be achieved with good levels of amenity provided. The proposal is considered to
be acceptable in this regard with policies DS1 and H5.
Highway safety
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with access to development
and states that all development should be served by a satisfactory access. Policy T19 is
concerned with parking provision as well as general highway safety.
The proposal seeks to utilise the existing access serving the public house. Two off-street
parking places would be provided to the converted public house. The indicative layout plan
demonstrates that suitable parking provision can be achieved and turning facilities made
available for vehicles to leave the site in a forward gear. The council’s Highways officers

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 44

Page 28

have been consulted and raise no objections subject to conditions to control the details of
the access and parking. Details of access are therefore considered to be acceptable with
regard to the requirements of policies T2 and T19.
Flood risk and drainage
Policy DS14 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with both surface water and
foul drainage. The site is not within an area of designated flood risk. The proposal would
result in changes to the ground conditions and the movement of surface water. The
requested conditions in relation to foul and surface water should serve to ensure that the
site is suitably drained in accordance with the requirements of policy DS14.
Heritage and archaeology
Core Strategy policy CS6 (Historic Environment) states, ‘The council will seek to protect,
conserve and enhance North Lincolnshire’s historic environment as well as the character
and setting of areas of acknowledged importance, including historic buildings, conservation
areas, listed buildings (both statutory and locally listed), registered parks and gardens,
scheduled ancient monuments and archaeological remains…’ and ‘Development proposals
should provide archaeological assessments where appropriate.’
Policy HE9 states, ‘Where development proposals affect sites of known or suspected
archaeological importance, an archaeological assessment will be required to be submitted
prior to the determination of a planning application. Planning permission will not be granted
without adequate assessment of the nature, extent and significance of the remains present
and the degree to which the proposed development is likely to affect them.’
The council’s archaeologist has been consulted on the application and confirms that the site
has no known archaeological interest. As such there is not considered to be any
appreciable concerns in this regard.
Land contamination
Policy DS11 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with polluting activities. It
states that planning permission for development, including extensions to existing premises
and changes of use, will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that levels of
potentially polluting emissions, including effluent, leachates, smoke, fumes, gases, dust,
steam, smell or noise, do not pose a danger by way of toxic release. Policy DS1 of the local
plan is also concerned with the protection of amenity.
The Environmental Protection Officer has requested a condition to ensure suitable
protection from land contamination at the site. It is considered, given the previously
developed nature of the site, that such a condition is necessary and reasonable.
Conclusion
The proposal is located partly within and partly outside the defined development limits of
Brigg, Scawby Brook and Castlethorpe. In light of the council’s housing supply position, the
relevant test for proposals for housing development is set out in the NPPF. It is considered
that the proposed developments meet the test and are sustainable. As such, the application
is recommended for approval, subject to conditions to control the reserved matters and
other details as necessary.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 45

Page 29

Pre-commencement conditions
The pre-commencement
applicant/agent.

conditions

recommended

have

been

agreed

with

the

RECOMMENDATION
Grant full planning permission to change the use of a public house to a dwelling with
associated works and outline planning permission for three dwellings with
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for subsequent consideration:
the grant of full planning permission to change the use of a public house to a
dwelling with associated works, subject to the following conditions:
1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Location plan - reference: 2020/029690 01; Proposed Plan - reference:
2020/029690 05; Proposed Elevation - reference 2020/02960 06.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
and the grant of outline planning permission for three dwellings with appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale reserved for subsequent consideration, subject to the
following conditions:
3.
Approval of the details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s), and the
landscaping of the site, (hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the
local planning authority in writing before any development is commenced.
Reason
The application has been made under Article 5(1) of the Town & Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
4.
Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition 3 above, relating to the
layout, scale and appearance of any buildings to be erected, and the landscaping of the
site, shall be submitted in writing to the local planning authority and shall be carried out as
approved.
Reason
The application has been made under Article 5(1) of the Town & Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 46

Page 30

5.
Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning
authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
6.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.
Reason
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
7.
Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than that
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not
commence until parts 1 to 4 below have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is
found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the local planning
authority in writing until part 4 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
Part 1: Site Characteristics
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The
contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a
written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval
in writing of the local planning authority. The report of the findings must include:
(i)

a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

(ii)

an assessment of the potential risks to:
- human health;
- property (existing or proposed), including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland and service lines and pipes;
- adjoining land;
- groundwaters and surface waters;
- ecological systems;
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii)

an appraisal of remedial options, and a proposal of the preferred option(s).

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 47

Page 31

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Part 2: Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in
writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
Part 3: Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning
authority must be given two weeks' written notification of commencement of the remediation
scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the
approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Part 4: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the local planning authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with the requirements of Part 1, and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 2,
which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local
planning authority in accordance with Part 3.
Reason
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with
policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
8.
Construction, demolition and site clearance operations shall be limited to the following days
and hours:
- 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday
- 8am to 1pm on Saturdays.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 48

Page 32

No construction, demolition or site clearance operations shall take place on Sundays or
public/bank holidays.
HGV movements shall not be permitted outside these hours during the construction
phase without prior written approval from the local planning authority.
Installation of equipment on site shall not be permitted outside these hours without prior
written approval from the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of residential amenity and to comply with policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan.
9.
No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydro-geological context of the development.
The drainage scheme shall demonstrate that surface water run-off generated up to and
including the 1 in 100 year critical storm (including an allowance for climate change) will not
exceed the run-off from the existing site. It shall also include details of how the resulting
completed scheme is to be maintained and managed for the lifetime of the development so
that flood risk, both on and off the site, is not increased. SuDS must be
considered. Reference should be made to North Lincolnshire Council's SuDS and Flood
Risk Guidance Document. Should infiltration not be feasible at the site, alternative
sustainable drainage should be used, focusing on above-ground solutions.
Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation and future maintenance of the sustainable
drainage structures in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157,
163 and 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
10.
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved submitted
details required by condition 9 above, completed prior to the occupation of any dwelling or
building within each phase or sub-phase of the development on site, and thereafter retained
and maintained in accordance with the scheme for the life of the development unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority.
Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation and future maintenance of the sustainable
drainage structures in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157,
163 and 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 49

Page 33

11.
No loose material shall be placed on any driveway or parking area within 10 metres of the
adopted highway unless measures are taken in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to prevent the material from spilling
onto the highway. Once agreed and implemented these measures shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan.
12.
No dwelling on the site shall be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle
parking and turning space serving it have been completed and, once provided, the vehicle
parking and manoeuvring space shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Informative 1
(i)

Records indicate that the proposed development site has a watercourse running
through it (surface water pipe/culvert or ditch). Following inspection, the watercourse
may need to be cleared, replaced, protected or diverted by the landowner at their
expense in accordance with their riparian responsibilities. An easement adjacent to
the watercourse may need to be provided for future maintenance. Any other
drainage feature found during excavations must be immediately reported to the LLFA
Drainage Team on 01724 297522, prior to any further construction works being
carried out. Please refer to North Lincolnshire Council's 'Guide to Watercourses and
Riparian Ownership', which details riparian rights and responsibilities:
http://m.northlincs.gov.uk/public/publications/RiparianGuidance/index.html#page=1.
Compliance with this guidance is to ensure the free flow of surface water is
maintained throughout the development.

(ii)

Connection into the watercourse must be consented by North Lincolnshire Council's
LLFA Drainage Team, in their capacity as Lead Local Flood Authority, and/or the
local Internal Drainage Board through an Ordinary Watercourse Consent and
appropriate discharge rates must be agreed. Please contact the LLFA Drainage
team on 01724 297522 or by email to llfadrainageteam@northlincs.gov.uk for further
details. Compliance with this guidance is to ensure the free flow of surface water is
maintained throughout the development.

(iii)

An Anglian Water foul sewer passes through the development site. Please contact
Anglian Water for further information.

Informative 2
The development hereby granted planning permission requires works to be carried out
within the limits of the adopted (public) highway. Therefore:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 50

Page 34

- before ANY construction works take place within the limits of the highway you MUST
contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297000 to arrange for the
relevant permissions/licenses to be issued;
- before ANY service (utility) connections take place within the limits of the highway you
MUST contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297319 to arrange for
the relevant permissions/licenses to be issued.
Informative 3
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 51

Page 35

Page 52
Development Boundary

PA/2020/1494

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/1494 Indicative site plan (not to scale)
extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

Nort

h

LB

extent of change
of use application
shown dotted
green

+10,000
+9,850
5500
+9,805
existing public house to be
converted to dwelling
(House 1) - see change of
use part of hybrid
application - drawings 05
and 06

side extension to
building to be
demolished to
ensure sufficient
width of access
drive

single
storey
roof
extension

courtyard

bin store

+9,315

6012

CLIFFORD'S CLOSE

extent of
change
of use
application
shown
dotted
green

rear
garden

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 1

extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 2

+8,785

5

grass verges

1

one & a half storey

single storey

front
garden

HOUSE 2
INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 1

rear
garden

6038

existing
fence
+8,520
2 no.
parking
spaces for
House 3

single storey

front
garden

one & a half storey

2

grass
verge

HOUSE 3
6205

+8,180

INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 1

rear
garden

existing
fence

new
fence

Orcha
rd Lod
ge
TURNING AREA

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 3

+7,810

Revisions:
A (19.06.20) extents of hybrid application
shown dotted for clarity - green for change
of use application and purple for outline
planning application.

+7,860
INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 2

rear
garden

existing
fence

client

Mr R Sodha
new fence - low 1200mm high
post and rail

project

177 Scawby Road, Scawby Brook
New Dwellings and Change of Use
drawing

date

28.06.2020

scale

1:200 @ A1

KK

check

Page 53

Indicative Site Plan
drawn

extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

LPW

Brown & Co. 6 Market Place, Brigg N Lincs

2m
1:200

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

DN20 8HA.

Brown & Co Registered Office: Granta Hall, Finkin Street, Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6QZ.

2020

029690

02

A

PA/2020/1494 Indicative block plan (not to scale)
extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

Nort

h

LB

extent of change
of use application
shown dotted
green

+10,000
+9,850
5500
+9,805
existing public
house to be
converted to
dwelling (House 1) see change of use
part of hybrid
application

approx.
position of
existing
dormer
side
extension
shown
dotted
orange to
be
demolished
to ensure
sufficient
width of
access
drive

courtyard

bin store

single storey
roof extension

+9,315

6012

extent of
change
of use
application
shown
dotted
green

CLIFFORD'S CLOSE

existing single storey
element shown dotted
orange to be demolished
rear
garden

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 1

extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 2

+8,785
front
garden

dormer
window

dormer
window

5

1

grass verges

HOUSE 2
INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 1

rear
garden

6036

existing
fence
+8,520
2 no.
parking
spaces for
House 3

front
garden

2

4500

grass
verge

dormer
window

dormer
window

HOUSE 3
6205

INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 1

rear
garden

+8,180

existing
fence

new
fence

Orcha
rd Lod
ge
TURNING AREA

2 no. parking
spaces for
House 3

+7,810

dormer
window

dormer
window

+7,860
INDICATIVE HOUSE TYPE 2

rear
garden

existing
fence
client

177 Scawby Road, Scawby Brook
New Dwellings and Change of Use
drawing

01.07.2020
KK

check scale

Indicative Block Plan
date

extent of outline
application shown
dotted purple

Mr R Sodha
project

drawn

new fence - low 1200mm high
post and rail

1:200 @ A1
LPW

Page 54
Brown & Co. 6 Market Place, Brigg N Lincs

2m
1:200

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

DN20 8HA.

Brown & Co Registered Office: Granta Hall, Finkin Street, Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6QZ.

2020

029690

07

PA/2020/1494 Proposed change of use plan (not to scale)

Page 55

PA/2020/1494 Indicative house plans and elevations (not to scale)
North

Front Garden
Study/Bed 3

Utility

Shower
R'm

Porch

Porch

wardrobe

Kitchen

Hall

wardrobe

wardrobe
up

up
Landing
Living Room
Bedroom 2

Utility

wardrobe

Study/Bed 3
Hall

Landing

En-Suite

Kitchen/Dining

Shower Room

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Shower
R'm

Living Room
Dining

dormer
window

dormer
window
patio

dormer
window

dormer
window

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

Rear Garden
GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Page 56

WEST ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION
SOUTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

HOUSE TYPE 2

client

Mr R Sodha
project

177 Scawby Road, Scawby Brook
New Dwellings
drawing

28.06.2020

scale

1:100 @ A1

KK

check

Indicative House Plans and Elevations
date

HOUSE TYPE 1

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

drawn

SOUTH ELEVATION

LPW

Brown & Co. 6 Market Place, Brigg N Lincs

DN20 8HA.

Brown & Co Registered Office: Granta Hall, Finkin Street, Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6QZ.

1m
1:100

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

2020

029690

03

PA/2020/1494 Proposed change of use elevations (not to scale)

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1928

APPLICANT

Mr Tim Jackson

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to erect a dwelling

LOCATION

26 Hollingsworth Lane, Epworth, DN9 1EY

PARISH

Epworth

WARD

Axholme Central

CASE OFFICER

Nick Salt

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Member ‘call in’ (Cllr Tim Mitchell and Cllr David Robinson –
significant public interest)
Objection by Epworth Town Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Chapter 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 4 – Decision-making
Chapter 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 – Achieving well-designed places
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy:
Policy CS1 (Spatial Strategy for North Lincolnshire)
Policy CS2 (Delivering More Sustainable Development)
Policy CS5 (Design)
Policy CS7 (Overall Housing Provision)
Policy CS25 (Promoting Sustainable Transport)
North Lincolnshire Local Plan:
Policy DS1 (General Requirements)
Policy DS7 (Contamination)
Policy DS14 (Foul Sewage and Surface Water Drainage)

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 59

Page 36

Policy H5 (New Housing Development)
Policy H8 (Housing Design and Housing Mix)
Policy T2 (Access to Development)
Policy T19 (Car Parking Provision and Standards)
Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD:
Policy PS1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development)
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objections, subject to conditions.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): The application suggests permeable surfacing is
to be used but provides no details to support this. Taking this into consideration, the LLFA
Drainage Team has no objection to the proposed development subject to the imposition of
a relevant planning condition.
TOWN COUNCIL
Objects to this application – ‘over-development of the site’; impact on the appearance of the
street scene; and footprint the same as the previous proposal.
PUBLICITY
A site notice has been displayed and six responses have been received, objecting to the
proposal on the following grounds:


Over-development of plot



out of keeping with street scene



lack of access to the rear



overbearing on number 28



loss of privacy during construction



exacerbation of parking issues



no floor dimensions



impact on neighbours during construction



insufficient garden space



harm to the environment/biodiversity.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 60

Page 37

ASSESSMENT
This application was deferred at a previous meeting of the planning committee to allow
members to visit the site before making a decision.
Site description
The application site is the eastern part of an existing site (26 Hollingsworth Lane) which is
proposed to be subdivided (to a new site area of 218.8 metres) to create a detached new
dwelling between numbers 26 and 28. The site is on the southern side of the road, which
displays a variety of housing designs and layouts – mostly detached or semi-detached with
front and rear amenity/parking areas.
Number 26 to the west is a modest, red brick, two-storey dwelling which has approval (see
below) for a more contemporary extension to the front. This would provide a front-facing
gable similar to that on number 28, which is a larger dwelling to the east. There is existing
access from the road which would be retained.
Recent planning history
PA/2020/761:

Planning permission to erect a dwelling - refused July 2020 for the
following reasons:
1. The proposed dwelling and plot subdivision, by virtue of its cramped
and narrow size and form relative to the neighbouring properties, would
not accord with Local Plan policy DS1 or Core Strategy policy CS5 in
that it would be inappropriate within the context of the existing street
scene. The height of the dwelling would exceed the adjacent dwellings
in a manner which would result in a disjointed and overdeveloped
frontage.
2. The proposal would carry unacceptable impacts upon the residential
amenity rights of neighbouring dwellings by virtue of its scale and siting
allowing for an unacceptable level of visual intrusion into Greengate
Crescent properties and shadowing on 28 Hollingsworth Lane.
Accordingly, the proposal is contrary to policy DS1 of the Local Plan.
3. The proposed dwelling would be provided with an insufficiently sized
rear garden area. As the frontage would be occupied with parking, this
would be the only useable amenity space for the occupants of a fourbedroom property. The garden area would be substantially smaller
than those in the surrounding properties and would be cramped.
Access to and from the rear of the dwelling would be via a narrow path
along the western elevation less than 1 metre in width. Outdoor
amenity space for future occupants would therefore be of unacceptable
size and quality contrary to Local Plan policy DS1.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 61

Page 38

PA/2020/234:

Planning permission to erect two-storey front and single-storey rear
extensions at 26 Hollingsworth Lane – approved April 2020. This
application was for the extension of the existing dwelling to be retained.

Proposal
This application seeks to subdivide the existing plot of number 26 to create a new threebedroom detached dwelling with two storeys. The frontage of the dwelling would
accommodate parking for up to two vehicles and a grassed area. The building would take
the form of a hipped roof house, with a ridge height of 7.5 metres and an eaves height of
approximately 5.3 metres. The application also proposes a flat roof annex to the rear
kitchen/dining area featuring a roof lantern and patio doors.
The rear garden would be accessed via a path running the length of the western elevation
to an area of approximately 40 square metres.
The proposed finishes would largely be contemporary with off-white render, grey window
frames and a slate roof on a simple design and form.
Material considerations
The main issues in the determination of this application are:


the principle of development;



impact on the character and appearance of the street scene;



impact upon neighbouring residential amenity;



the amenity of future occupants;



highway safety and parking.

Principle
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance the development plan consists of the
saved policies of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan (NLLP), the North Lincolnshire Core
Strategy (NLCS) and the Housing and Employment Land Allocations Development Plan
Document (HELADPD). Material considerations exist in the form of national policy and
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the suite of
documents comprising National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).
Central Government places high importance on new homes being delivered throughout the
country to address the chronic shortage. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF states that housing
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites, relevant policies which guide the supply of housing should not be
considered up-to-date.
A Supreme Court judgement (Suffolk Coastal DC v Hopkins Homes Ltd [2017] UKSC 37)
provides clarity on the policies which are considered ‘relevant policies’ for the supply of

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 62

Page 39

housing. These do not include general restrictive policies such as those restricting
development in the open countryside. As such, policy CS1 is considered up-to-date.
However, the weight to be afforded to it needs to be balanced against the need to deliver
new housing and the broader merits of the scheme when viewed in the context of
sustainable development.
A recent review of the of the Five Year Housing Land Position Statement has identified that
the council’s housing land supply has reduced from five years and six dwellings, to four
years. The council has prepared a Housing Delivery Action Plan in accordance with the
NPPF and PPG. The Action Plan will assist in securing a five year land supply; some of the
actions include reviewing the windfall allowance calculation, and working with developers to
bring forward outline planning applications.
The proposed scheme would result in the delivery of one additional dwelling at the site
which would help to contribute to the mix of housing types within the locality and would
contribute towards meeting local need, albeit to a limited degree.
The broad principle of residential development on this site is therefore considered
acceptable, subject to detailed considerations below.
Design, siting and visual amenity
Policy CS5 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy is concerned with delivering quality
design in North Lincolnshire. It states, ‘…All new development in North Lincolnshire should
be well designed and appropriate for their context. It should contribute to creating a sense
of place. The council will encourage contemporary design, provided that it is appropriate for
its location and is informed by its surrounding context. Design which is inappropriate to the
local area or fails to maximise opportunities for improving the character and quality of the
area will not be acceptable.’ The proposed contemporary design would not strictly be in
keeping with the general street pattern; however, as the existing property on the site and
the surrounding properties are not of any particular architectural merit, this would not be
unacceptable in principle.
The subdivided site resulting from this development would create a somewhat cramped
plot, substantially smaller and narrower than those of the surrounding properties. The sense
of openness between the properties in this part of Hollingsworth Lane would be reduced. It
is acknowledged, however, that the properties to the south side of Hollingsworth Lane to
the west vary in size and some have similarly narrow plots.
This proposal is a revised scheme following the refusal of the previous larger scheme and
discussions between the applicant and the case officer. The ridge height of the proposed
dwelling, at approximately 7.5 metres, has been set down relative to the previously refused
scheme and would be below that of the larger dwelling at number 28 to the east and similar
to number 26 to the west. The hipped roof design would reduce the bulk of the proposed
dwelling and provide a visual break from the adjacent terrace, thus maintaining a degree of
visual separation necessary to reduce impact on the character of the street. The front
elevation would match that of number 26.
On balance, the site is constricted as reflected in the development proposed. However, the
design of the proposal would not have an unacceptably severe impact on the character and
appearance of the street scene insomuch as to outweigh the benefit of an additional
dwelling and contribution to the housing shortfall. In this respect the proposal would accord

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 63

Page 40

with local plan policy DS1 or Core Strategy policy CS5 in that it would not be inappropriate
within the context of the existing street scene.
Residential amenity
Policy DS1 is partly concerned with impacts upon residential amenity. It states, ‘…No
unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring land uses should result in terms of noise,
smell, fumes, dust or other nuisance, or through the effects of overlooking or
overshadowing.’
The proposed dwelling would run to the boundary with number 28 to the east, creating
some degree of a tunnelling effect, overbearing impact and loss on that property. The
ground floor side elevation windows to number 28 do not appear to serve habitable rooms,
however, and the reduced ridge of the proposed dwelling would limit impact on the secondfloor side window of number 28. The proposed property would be set forward from number
28 by approximately 1.5 metres at the front elevation, however number 28 would retain
sufficient openness and outlook. Given the window layouts in number 26 (as existing and
proposed), and the distances to the Greengate properties to the south, no overshadowing
or overbearing impact is likely to occur in relation to any other neighbouring dwellings.
Two first floor rear bedroom windows are proposed which would look towards the properties
to the rear. These would be at a distance of approximately 15 metres from the rear
elevation of 2 Greengate Crescent. At first floor level any perceived overlooking would have
a reduced impact when compared with previously proposed second floor windows. The
level of overlooking would not exceed that from number 28 and is not considered likely to
result in any severe loss of privacy.
Noise nuisance has been raised as a concern in letters of objection, however it is not
considered that this would exceed levels typical for a residential area such as this.
Additionally, Environmental Health have not raised this as a concern.
It is considered that the proposal would not give rise to unacceptable harm to residential
amenity and would accord with policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Future occupant amenity
The proposed internal layouts would ensure that future residents would be provided with a
sufficiently high standard of living environment within the dwelling. The submitted site plan
shows that the proposed dwelling would be provided with a 40 square metre rear garden
area, and grassed front garden. The garden area would be smaller than those in
surrounding properties and would be somewhat cramped. The garden combined size would
be suitable, however, for a smaller three-bedroom property as currently proposed. On
balance, outdoor amenity space for future occupants would therefore be of acceptable size
and quality.
Highways
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with access to development
and states that all development should be served by a satisfactory access. Policy T19 is
concerned with parking provision as well as general highway safety; both policies are
considered relevant.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 64

Page 41

The site is located within the existing settlement boundaries and benefits from good access
to public transport links and local services. It is therefore considered that the scheme would
be located within a sustainable location.
The council’s Highways team has offered no objections to the proposed layout or parking
arrangements, subject to appropriate conditions. The site features a minimum of two offstreet spaces for the new dwelling whilst retaining sufficient parking for number 26, which is
considered acceptable given the scale and sustainable location of the site. Whilst it is
accepted that the proposal would result in an increase in vehicular movements, it is not
considered that the scale of the development would place unacceptable strain on the
existing highway network.
It is therefore considered that the scheme would not have an unacceptable impact on
vehicular or pedestrian safety and sufficiently accords with policy in this regard. The use of
the existing access would not create additional highway safety concerns other than the
modest intensification of use.
Other matters
The Environmental Protection team have been consulted on this application but have not
responded. They did comment on the previous proposal on this site and requested a full
site survey to establish any land contamination issues.
It is considered, given the site is part of an existing residential curtilage, that a condition
should be imposed requiring appropriate action to be taken if any unexpected
contamination is found during site clearance and construction.
Conclusion
In summary, the broader principle of the proposed dwelling in this area is acceptable and in
accordance with national and local policy.
The previous proposal for a dwelling on this site was refused on the basis of scale and
design, resulting in harmful potential impacts on visual and residential amenities.
It is considered that the current proposal addresses these concerns adequately through a
reduction and redesign of the dwelling, thus limiting the harm to the adjacent residential
occupants and the street scene.
On balance, the provision of an additional dwelling in a sustainable location outweighs the
reduced risk of harm to the above.
Pre-commencement conditions
The pre-commencement conditions below have been agreed with the agent/applicant.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 65

Page 42

Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Location and Site Plans; PL02 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plans; PL03 Rev B
- Proposed Elevations.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
No development shall take place until details showing an effective method of preventing
surface water run-off from hard paved areas within the site onto the highway have been
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These facilities shall be implemented
prior to the access and parking facilities being brought into use and thereafter so retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan, policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and
paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
4.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without
modification), nothing shall at any time be erected, retained, planted or allowed to grow
over 1.05 metres in height above the level of the adjoining carriageway for a distance of 2
metres from the highway boundary across the site frontage.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
5.
The dwelling shall not be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle parking
space(s) serving it have been completed and, once provided, the parking space(s) shall
thereafter be so retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
6.
The proposed new vehicle parking facility shall not be brought into use, for number 26
Hollingsworth Lane, until the vehicular access serving it has been completed within highway
limits.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 66

Page 43

7.
If, during development, any odorous, discoloured or otherwise visually contaminated
material is found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out
until a written method statement detailing how this contamination shall be dealt with has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interests of controlling potential contamination and to ensure that the site is safe for
its end use, in accordance with policy DS7.
Informative 1
The development hereby granted planning permission requires works to be carried out
within the limits of the adopted (public) highway. Therefore:
- before ANY construction works take place within the limits of the highway you MUST
contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297000 to arrange for the
relevant permissions/licenses to be issued;
- before ANY service (utility) connections take place within the limits of the highway you
MUST contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297319 to arrange for
the relevant permissions/licenses to be issued.
Informative 2
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 67

Page 44

Page 68

PA/2020/1928

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/1928 Proposed layout (not to scale)

TOTAL PROPOSED SITE AREA (M2)
•
26A HOLLINGSWORTH LANE - 218.8M2 (RED BOUNDARY)
DWELLING FOOTPRINT - 78M2

North
ROP
GD
TIN ERB
EXIS W N K
DO

TIN
EXIS

ERB
GK

E
GAT NCE
RA
ENT

E
EDG

E
ABL AREA
ME
G
PER NDIN
A
DST
HAR

BIN ION
T
LEC
COL OINT
P
NEW AY
KAW
SOA

SS
GRA

00 - Location Map
1 : 1250
H
PAT

Page 69

DN

gsw
ollin

e
Lan
orth

ATH
EP
W ID

26 H

0m m
110

Existing
M.H.

H
PAT

SS
GRA

TITLE

00 - Site Layout

00 - Site Plan

1 : 500

1 : 100

DRAWN BY

New Dwelling
26A Hollingsworth Lane, Epworth, DN9 1EY

CG

Site Plan

SCALE

As indicated

DATE

REV

JUNE 2020
DRAWING No.

PL01

B

EdZ>/E
^/'EKE^h>d/E'>d͘

7HOHSKRQH
0RELOH
(PDLOLQIR#FHQWUHOLQHGHVLJQVFRXN
:HEVLWHZZZFHQWUHOLQHGHVLJQVFRXN

PA/2020/1928 Proposed elevations (not to scale)
05 - Ridge Height
7525

1 - GREY FLUSH WINDOWS

05 - Ridge Height
7525

3
2

04 - Attic Level
5350

04 - Attic Level
5350
1

1

1
1

2
1

03 - First Floor
2750

1

03 - First Floor
2750
1

2 - OFF WHITE RENDER
1
2
02 - Ground Floor
150

02 - Ground Floor
150

01 - Ground Level
0

01 - Ground Level
0

Page 70

Rear Elevation

Right Side Elevation

1 : 50

1 : 50

3 - GREY SLATE TILES

05 - Ridge Height
7525

05 - Ridge Height
7525

3
3

04 - Attic Level
5350

04 - Attic Level
5350
1

1

1
Frosted
glass

2

03 - First Floor
2750

03 - First Floor
2750
1

1
1

1
Frosted
glass

2
02 - Ground Floor
150

02 - Ground Floor
150

01 - Ground Level
0

01 - Ground Level
0

CANOPY INSPIRATION

TITLE

Front Elevation

Left Side Elevation

1 : 50

1 : 50

DRAWN BY

New Dwelling
26A Hollingsworth Lane, Epworth, DN9 1EY

CH

Proposed Elevations

SCALE

1 : 50

DATE

REV

JUNE 2020
DRAWING No.

PL03

B

EdZ>/E
^/'EKE^h>d/E'>d͘

7HOHSKRQH
0RELOH
(PDLOLQIR#FHQWUHOLQHGHVLJQVFRXN
:HEVLWHZZZFHQWUHOLQHGHVLJQVFRXN

North Moor Road to
Scotter Road South
into Scunthorpe

To East Butterwick
Butterwick Road to
Messingham

Page 71
North Moor Road
South to Scotter

PA/2020/764

Sat nav: Catchwater Farm, Butterwick
Road, Messingham, DN17 3PL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

lc14
development_boundary
Trent Side
to Amcotts

Access to parking
Footpath

Page 72

PA/2020/952

Knock on door of Network
Rail cabin to be
accompanied across railway

Sat nav: The Barge Inn, 149 Station Rd,
Keadby, DN17 3BP

Trent Side to
A18
Keadby
Bridge

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

development_boundary

Scawby Road
to Brigg

Page 73
Scawby Road to
Hibaldstow

PA/2020/1494

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

lc14
development_boundary
Epworth
Beltoft

Road

to

High Street to A161

Page 74

PA/2020/1928

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PLANNING COMMITTEE
24 March 2021
APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION
Page

Appn No

Applicant

Parish

Ward

Recommendation

Site Visits
3

PA/2020/764

Mrs Smith

Messingham

Ridge

Grant permission subject
to conditions

13

PA/2020/952

Keadby
Developments Ltd

Keadby; Crowle;
Belton

Axholme
North;
Axholme
Central

Grant permission subject
to conditions

23

PA/2020/1494

Mr R Sodha

Scawby

Ridge

Grant permission subject
to conditions

36

PA/2020/1928

Mr Tim Jackson

Epworth

Axholme
Central

Grant permission subject
to conditions

Major Applications
47

PA/2019/568

Mr Mark Graves,
Maltgrade

Winteringham

Burton upon
Stather and
Winterton

Refuse permission

64

PA/2020/1418

Mr S Kapil,
Rosemoor
Developments

Scawby

Ridge

Subject to S106, grant
permission subject to
conditions

88

PA/2020/2028

Modernistiq
Harrogate Ltd

Belton

Axholme
Central

Modify S106

Applications
95

PA/2020/1345

Mr Adrian Axe

Owston Ferry

Axholme
South

Grant permission subject
to conditions

112

PA/2020/1729

Mr Daniel Smith

Brigg

Brigg and
Wolds

Grant permission subject
to conditions

116

PA/2020/2050

Mr L Kirkland

Haxey

Axholme
South

Grant permission subject
to conditions

120

PA/2021/20

Mr & Mrs S Watson

Haxey

Axholme
South

Grant permission subject
to conditions

Reserved Matters
133

PA/2019/809

Mr Aaron Grantham

Epworth

Axholme
Central

Refuse approval

139

PA/2020/1971

Mr Quirke

Wrawby

Brigg and
Wolds

Grant approval subject to
conditions

Barton upon
Humber

Barton

Grant permission subject
to conditions

Application by a member of the council
142

PA/2020/250

Mr & Mrs J Evison

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Report of the Group Manager –
Development Management and Building Control

Agenda Item No:
Meeting: 24 March 2021

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
MAJOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS
FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
1.

OBJECT
1.1

2.

3.

To inform the committee about major planning applications which are ready
for determination.

BACKGROUND
2.1

This committee is required under its terms of reference to exercise the
functions of the council as local planning authority for the purposes of the
control of development, including the determination of applications for
planning permission and other applications under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, General Development Orders, and any Orders or Regulations
made thereunder, and in accordance with the council’s planning policies.

2.2

In exercising these functions the committee is required to have regard to the
National Planning Policy Framework, the development plan for the area and
any other material considerations. It will also take account of the duty imposed
by section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and the requirements of the
Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATION
3.1

Items for determination are listed in the attached schedule.

3.2

References to standard time limit conditions and standard outline conditions
mean the conditions automatically applied by sections 91 and 92 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.3

Reports will be updated at the meeting if necessary to take account of
additional relevant information received after publication.

3.4

Plans included with reports are for identification and/or illustrative purposes
only. Applications and supporting documents can be viewed in full on the
planning pages of the council’s web site.

3.5

Members will visit the sites separately at some point before the meeting if
deemed necessary by the Chairman of the Planning Committee in
consultation with the Group Manager – Development Management and
Building Control.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 77

Page 45

4.

5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1

There are no staffing or financial implications arising from this report.

4.2

Environmental considerations are of major importance when considering
planning applications and are set out in the individual reports.

RECOMMENDATION
5.1

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations
contained in the schedule.

GROUP MANAGER – DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND BUILDING CONTROL
Church Square House
30–40 High Street
SCUNTHORPE
DN15 6NL
Reference: CB/JMC/Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx
Date: 15 March 2021
Background papers used in the preparation of this report:
1.

The applications including accompanying plans and ancillary correspondence.

2.

Statutory and non-statutory consultation letters and responses.

3.

Responses from parish and town councils.

4.

Representations from other bodies or individuals.

5.

Relevant planning policy documents.

6.

Previous relevant planning decisions.

(Pursuant to section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 any document containing
‘exempt information’ is excluded from this list.)
Statement of publication's purpose
The Ordnance Survey map data included within this publication is provided by North
Lincolnshire Council under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public
function to act as a planning authority. Persons viewing this mapping should contact
Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey map
data for their own use.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 78

Page 46

APPLICATION NO

PA/2019/568

APPLICANT

Mr Mark Graves, Maltgrade Ltd

DEVELOPMENT

Outline planning permission for up to 29 dwellings (a mix of
houses and bungalows) with all matters reserved for subsequent
consideration

LOCATION

Land adjacent to Rogate, 30 Silver Street, Winteringham,
DN15 9ND

PARISH

Winteringham

WARD

Burton upon Stather and Winterton

CASE OFFICER

Mark Niland

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Refuse permission

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Departure from the development plan
Member ‘call in’ (Cllr Elaine Marper – significant public
interest)
Significant public interest

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Paragraph 11 – Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. For decision-taking this means:
(c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

Paragraph 56 – Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the
following tests:
(a)

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 79

Page 47

(b)

directly related to the development, and

(c)

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Paragraph 57 – Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from
development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable.
It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for
a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability
assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the
case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and
any change in site circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability
assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-making stage, should reflect the
recommended approach in national planning guidance, including standardised inputs, and
should be made publicly available.
Paragraph 108 – In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or
specific applications for development, it should be ensured that:
(a)

appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have
been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;

(b)

safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and

(c)

any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to
an acceptable degree.

Paragraph 109 – Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe.
Paragraph 110 – Within this context, applications for development should:
(a)

give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and
with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to
high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus
or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public
transport use;

(b)

address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all
modes of transport;

(c)

create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards;

(d)

allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency
vehicles; and

(e)

be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in
safe, accessible and convenient locations.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 80

Page 48

Paragraph 127 – Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:
(a)

will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term
but over the lifetime of the development;

(b)

are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and
effective landscaping;

(c)

are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate
innovation or change (such as increased densities);

(d)

establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive
places to live, work and visit;

(e)

optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount
and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local
facilities and transport networks; and

(f)

create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or
community cohesion and resilience.

Paragraph 155 – Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided
by directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).
Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for
its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
Paragraph 157 – All plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location of
development – taking into account the current and future impacts of climate change – so as
to avoid, where possible, flood risk to people and property. They should do this, and
manage any residual risk, by:
(a)

applying the sequential test and then, if necessary, the exception test as set out
below;

(b)

safeguarding land from development that is required, or likely to be required, for
current or future flood management;

(c)

using opportunities provided by new development to reduce the causes and impacts
of flooding (where appropriate through the use of natural flood management
techniques); and

(d)

where climate change is expected to increase flood risk so that some existing
development may not be sustainable in the long-term, seeking opportunities to
relocate development, including housing, to more sustainable locations.

Paragraph 163 – When determining any planning applications, local planning authorities
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications
should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Development should only be

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 81

Page 49

allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and the sequential
and exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that:
(a)

within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood
risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

(b)

the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

(c)

it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this
would be inappropriate;

(d)

any residual risk can be safely managed; and

(e)

safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed
emergency plan.

Paragraph 165 – Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems
unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The systems used should:
(a)

take account of advice from the lead local flood authority;

(b)

have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards;

(c)

have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of
operation for the lifetime of the development; and

(d)

where possible, provide multifunctional benefits.

Paragraph 170 – Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment by:
(a)

protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value
and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality
in the development plan);

(b)

recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and
woodland;

(c)

maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to
it where appropriate;

(d)

minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and
future pressures;

(e)

preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil,
air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever
possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water
quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin management
plans; and

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 82

Page 50

(f)

remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable
land, where appropriate.

Paragraph 180 – Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development
is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the
potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the
development. In doing so they should:
(a)

mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise
from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts
on health and the quality of life;

(b)

identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by
noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason; and

(c)

limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark
landscapes and nature conservation.

Paragraph 189 – In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any
contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’
importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal
on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have
been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where
necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to
include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where
necessary, a field evaluation.
Paragraph 190 – Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available
evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict
between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan:
DS1, DS7, DS11, DS14, DS16, T2, T19, HE2, LC7, RD2, C1, H5, H10
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy:
CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS6, CS7, CS8, CS17, CS18, CS19, CS23, CS25, CS27
CONSULTATIONS
Humberside Fire and Rescue: Standard response setting out space and accessibility
requirements for the development.
Public Health: Support comments made by the LLFA; no other comments.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 83

Page 51

Highways: Express concerns in relation to the indicative layout but acknowledge that
control of this is at the reserved matters stage. Ultimately go on to recommend conditions.
Environment Agency: No objection subject to conditions.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objection subject to conditions.
Ancholme Internal Drainage Board: The drainage board has put the assessment back
onto the local authority stating that should consent be required from the IDB as described in
their response, then this should be made a condition of any planning permission.
Waste and Recycling: Put forward general observations in relation to service vehicle
tracking and bin collection.
Public Rights of Way: Public Footpath 318 skirts the north-west perimeter of the site, but it
is not within the site itself. Do not envisage any objection to the proposal.
Humberside Police (Designing Out Crime): Offer design advice for the reserved matters
stage.
Anglian Water: No objections.
Environmental Protection: No objection subject to conditions relating to land
contamination, electric vehicle charging points, construction hours and mitigation of noise
and dust during construction.
Historic Environment Record: Recommends refusal of the application as inadequate
information has been submitted.
Conservation: The loss of space would have a negative impact upon the setting of the
conservation area.
Spatial Planning: This proposal for residential development is in the open countryside and
is contrary to the council’s adopted development plans. As the council cannot demonstrate
a five-year housing land supply, paragraph 11 of the NPPF applies and the application
should consider any adverse impacts of granting permission when assessed against the
policies within this framework taken as a whole or specific policies indicate development
should be restricted. It must be demonstrated why the development meets the three
dimensions of sustainable development.
Ecology: No objections subject to conditions.
PARISH COUNCIL
Objects to the proposal, supporting their comments by a nine page document. The
objection includes issues relating to drainage and infrastructure, planning principle, ecology
infrastructure capacities, transport, amenity, character and highways. It should be noted this
is a brief summary of the topics and in no way exhaustive. The full objection can be read
alongside the suite of documents that make up this application.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 84

Page 52

PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site and press notice in accordance with Article 15
of the Development Management Procedure Order 2015.
Numerous objections have been received and the issues raised are summarised below:


the proposal is outside the development boundary



character impacts upon the settlement and the open countryside



impact upon the historic environment



highway safety



drainage and flooding



increased pressure on amenities



impact upon ecology



impact upon residential amenity.

STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
The applicant has carried out community consultation, the methodology of which, along with
the results, are outlined within the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) report
carried out by ‘fortynine design.’ The process involved a presentation of the plans and
providing local residents with comment forms. These forms have been presented within the
SCI document.
It is considered that the applicant has fulfilled this requirement in line with North
Lincolnshire Council’s own Statement of Community Involvement.
ASSESSMENT
Planning history
PA/2019/861:

Outline planning permission to erect 55 dwellings, including drainage
infrastructure, public open space and associated landscaping, with
appearance and scale reserved for subsequent consideration – refused
24/10/2019 and subsequent appeal dismissed 03/02/2021.
The inspector dismissed the appeal by stating:
The main identified harm is the harm to landscape character and to
the appearance of the area, including the loss of the site’s openness,
the restriction of views, the effect on the setting of the village and the
harm arising from the layout of the proposed development. The
Framework paragraphs 77, 127 and 170 are clear that development
should be responsive to local circumstances, sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment
and landscape setting, and recognise the intrinsic character and

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 85

Page 53

beauty of the countryside. Therefore, even when considering the
Framework’s objectives of significantly boosting the supply of
housing, the substantial shortfall of housing land supply identified
and the contribution medium sites can make to this supply as well as
the other benefits I have set out, I attach significant weight to the
harm I have identified.
PA/2020/103:

Outline planning permission to erect 55 dwellings, including drainage
infrastructure, public open space and associated landscaping, with
appearance and scale reserved for subsequent consideration – refused
14/05/2020.

Site constraints


The site is located within the open countryside in accordance with the Housing and
Employment Land Allocations DPD (HELAP) (2016).



The site abuts Winteringham conservation area.

Proposal
Outline planning permission is sought to erect 29 two-bedroom bungalows with associated
infrastructure.
The main issues in considering this application are whether any adverse impacts of
approving the development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against policies in the National Planning Policy Framework
taken as a whole.
Site characteristics
The site would be accessed from Ermine Street; a drain runs along this frontage. A public
right of way runs along the site’s northwest boundary and beyond this is the Winteringham
conservation area. Recent applications for residential development (for up to 55 dwellings)
on land to the west of this site have been refused. Winteringham sits northerly within the
North Lincolnshire boundary close to the River Humber where there is an abundance of
protected ecological sites. The landscape is open.
Planning principle
The application site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary and the proposal
would represent a departure from the development plan. In determining whether the
principle of residential development outside the settlement boundary is acceptable in this
instance, it is necessary to consider whether the proposed development is sustainable in
planning policy terms.
The development plan for North Lincolnshire comprises three parts: those policies of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan (2003) (LP) which were saved by a direction of the Secretary
of State in September 2007, the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy DPD (2011) (CS), and
the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD (2016) (HELAP).
Policy CS1 of the CS sets out a spatial strategy for North Lincolnshire, which, amongst
other matters, provides that rural settlements will be supported as thriving sustainable

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 86

Page 54

communities, with a strong focus on retaining and enhancing local services to meet local
needs and that any development that takes place should be in keeping with the character
and nature of the settlement.
Policy CS8 deals with the distribution of housing sites and prioritises development in
Scunthorpe and the market towns, with brownfield sites and sites within development
boundaries being the primary focus. With regard to rural settlements, the policy states that
new housing will create opportunities for small-scale infill development that maintains the
viability of the settlement and meets identified local needs without increasing the need to
travel. Policy CS8, whilst restricting housing outside development limits, contemplates
some greenfield development as it refers to allowing development on such sites where it
can be demonstrated that this would bring additional community benefits, contribute to
building sustainable communities and be acceptable in terms of its impact on the high
quality environment and adjoining countryside. This overall approach is supported by policy
CS2 which sets out a sequential approach for development.
Policy CS3 provides that development limits will be defined in future development plan
documents. Outside these boundaries, development will be restricted to that which is
essential to the functioning of the countryside. The development limits were subsequently
defined in the HELAP, and the application site is located outside the designated
development limit for Winteringham. There are no allocated housing sites within
Winteringham.
LP saved policy RD2 restricts development in the open countryside other than in
exceptional circumstances. This policy only supports residential development outside
defined development limits where it is to meet an essential proven need and the open
countryside is the only appropriate location for the development. Whilst this policy remains,
it has largely been overtaken by policies in subsequent plans addressing the same issue
(such as policies CS2 and CS3 referenced above).
The aforementioned policies are aimed at focusing housing within settlement limits as
defined in the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD. The application site is
entirely outside the defined development boundary for Winteringham and is therefore
considered to be in breach of policies CS2, CS3 and CS8 of the Core Strategy and RD2 of
the local plan and unacceptable in principle.
Planning obligations
Policy CS27 is concerned with planning obligations and states that where a development
proposal generates an identified need for additional infrastructure, North Lincolnshire
Council will, through the negotiation of planning obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the
Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in accordance with guidance set out in Circular
05/2005 (now contained within the CIL Regulations), seek obligations that are necessary to
make proposals acceptable in planning terms.
The tests for planning obligations are set out in Part 11, section 122 of the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). It states:
(2)

A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission
for the development if the obligation is—
(a)

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 87

Page 55

(b)

directly related to the development; and

(c)

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

The legal tests are also set out in planning policy under paragraph 56 of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2019.
Affordable housing
Policy CS9 is concerned with affordable housing and requires schemes for new residential
housing in rural settlements of this scale to contribute 10% of the scheme for affordable
tenure. Ideally 70% of affordable housing supplied should be 70% for rent and, where
possible, the housing should be provided on site, but an off-site contribution may be
acceptable.
The applicant has agreed a commuted sum of £38,264 based upon the viability submitted,
with no on site provision.
Public open space and leisure
Policy H10 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with public open space. It
states, ‘(i)…New housing developments on allocated and windfall sites of 0.5 ha or more
will be required to provide recreational open space on a scale, and in a form, appropriate to
serve the needs of residents.’ This is reinforced by policy CS22 of the North Lincolnshire
Core Strategy; both are considered relevant.
Off-site recreation has been agreed at £33,668 towards local areas of play within
Winteringham as well as £18,000 towards Baysgarth Leisure Centre, Winterton artificial
pitch and Winterton gym, to improve anticipated costs of building improvements and
additional fitness and sports equipment.
The area of informal open space on site relates to 10 square metres per dwelling and
£15,700.40 for North Lincolnshire Council to maintain this land or an estate management
company to be set up and no contribution required.
Education
Policy C1 states that where major new housing proposals would result in an increased
demand for education facilities, which cannot be met by existing schools and colleges, a
developer may be required to enter into a planning obligation under Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in order to secure the provision of, or contribution
towards, new or extended facilities.
£80,236 towards primary education (£3,086 per dwelling) has been agreed based upon the
viability submitted.
Obligations summary and viability
Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states ‘…It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage.
The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having
regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 88

Page 56

evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan
was brought into force.’
The section 106 officer has been in dialogue with the applicant having regard to the
submitted viability statement, and regard has been given to the advice set out within the
PPG when considering the merits of the applicant’s statement. It is clear that a full suite of
contributions would make the scheme undeliverable and therefore a reduced amount of
obligations has been agreed, which are outlined above.
The proposed on and off-site contributions are considered to be CIL compliant as well as
policy compliant. There has been a failure to agree the necessary highway improvements to
make this scheme safe for existing and future users of the highway. Viability information
has not been received nor has a costing exercise for the potential highways works and
therefore an understanding of proportionality (related in kind and scale) cannot be made.
However, in the absence of challenge on deliverability as well as the above, the test is
considered met.
Flooding and drainage
Policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan, policies CS18 and CS19 of the Core
Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157, 163 and 165 of the NPPF are considered relevant. The
application site is located within flood zone 1 and is therefore a preferred place for
development in terms of flood risk. The council’s drainage team, as Lead Local Flood
Authority, has been consulted and has no objections subject to conditions.
The Environment Agency has also been consulted and has no objections subject to the
following condition:
‘No building works which comprise the erection of a building requiring to be served by water
services shall be undertaken until full details of a scheme for the provision of mains foul
sewage infrastructure on and off-site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. No dwelling shall be occupied until the works have been carried out
in accordance with the approved scheme.’
The Internal Drainage Board has also been consulted and has stated that any drainage
strategy that would involve the channelling of surface water to their facilities/apparatus
would need to be conditioned. Anglian Water has accepted that if the scheme is approved
they have a legal requirement to accept the flows.
It is therefore considered, subject to a condition relating to surface water drainage and the
condition proposed by the Environment Agency, that the application, in respect of flooding
and drainage, would accord with policy DS16 of the local plan, policies CS18 and CS19 of
the Core Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157, 163 and 165 of the NPPF.
Transport and highways
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan states that all development should be served
by a satisfactory access; policy T19 is concerned with parking provision as well as general
highway safety. Both policies are considered relevant. Policy CS25 of the Core Strategy
promotes sustainable transport and is in two parts: firstly, it sets out to manage demand;
and secondly, it seeks to manage the transport networks that serve North Lincolnshire’s
settlements.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 89

Page 57

Winteringham is served by the ‘Humber FastCat’ which connects Scunthorpe to Hull. The
service stops at the market towns of Winterton and Barton upon Humber as well as smaller
rural settlements in between. The applicant has submitted a Transport Statement carried
out by ‘fortynine design’ and this has not been met with any objections from the sustainable
transport team. In a recent appeal on the adjacent site (see planning history) the inspector
stated:
‘The Framework acknowledges that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport
solutions will vary between urban and rural areas. Additionally, Core Strategy policy CS2
states that development in North Lincolnshire should be located to minimise the need to
travel and encourage any journeys that remain necessary to be possible by walking, cycling
and public transport. I agree with the parties that the facilities within Winteringham are
accessible on foot or by bicycle and that the bus service would mean that not all trips to
access services and facilities beyond the village would be by car. I attach moderate positive
weight to the location of the appeal site in relation to services and facilities.’
It is considered that in sustainable transport terms an allocation for 29 dwellings on a site
adjoining the settlement would be viewed in the same perspective. In terms of highway
safety, the Highways DC team has reviewed the submission and has no objections subject
to conditions, though there is some concern about the internal layout of the site. However,
full control over access and layout would remain a consideration for the reserved matters
stage.
It is therefore considered that the proposal would, at this stage, align with policies T2 and
T19 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan as well as CS25 of the Core Strategy.
Landscape and character
Policy RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with development within the
open countryside. The policy is in two parts: firstly, it sets out, in principle, those
development types that are acceptable; and secondly, it sets out a criteria-based approach
to assessing those developments. The second part is of interest here in that it seeks to
ensure that the visual amenity of the countryside is not compromised by poor development.
Paragraph ‘c’ of the policy states:
‘...the development would not be detrimental to the character or appearance of the open
countryside or a nearby settlement in terms of siting, scale, massing, design and use of
materials;’
Policy CS5 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy is also relevant. It states ‘…All new
development in North Lincolnshire should be well designed and appropriate for their
context. It should contribute to creating a sense of place’ and ‘Design which is inappropriate
to the local area or fails to maximise opportunities for improving the character and quality of
the area will not be acceptable.’
Policy H5 of the local plan, which is concerned with new housing development, policy LC7
of the local plan, which is concerned with landscape protection, and paragraph 127 of the
NPPF, are also considered relevant, though the criteria-based nature of policy H5 lends
itself better to the assessment of any subsequent reserved matters.
Another relevant policy to the character consideration is HE2 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan which is concerned with development in conservation areas. This is reinforced
by CS6 of the Core Strategy.
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 90

Page 58

The site is within the National Character Area (NCA) Northern Lincolnshire Edge with
Coversands and locally it is within the elevated open farmland character type of the
Lincolnshire Edge Regional Character Area defined in the North Lincolnshire Character
Assessment 1999. It is also within the Clay Vale Historic Character Area in the Historic
Character of the County of Lincolnshire 2011.
The topography of Winteringham naturally slopes down towards the Humber and this site is
raised somewhat from Silver Street; the watercourse splits the site and the road. There
would be an immediate impact on the street scene from such a dense development, where
historically the rhythm and density of the dwellings slowly increase the closer you get to the
village centre (where Silver Street meets West End). This in itself is out of keeping with the
general arrangement of dwellings which (in this part of Winteringham) front the road
network. Furthermore, there would be impacts from Ermine Street (looking down towards
the development). The built form of 29 dwellings would replace open arable fields and
would significantly change the intrinsic rural character of the settlement. This point is further
exacerbated by the fact that the site is within the National Character Area (NCA) Northern
Lincolnshire Edge. The harm bought about by the loss of this space and its replacement
with dense built form would lead to irreversible damage of the wider and immediate
landscape character.
In describing Silver Street the conservation area appraisal states ‘…Silver Street connects
Winteringham with Ermine Street and is, therefore, a principal entrance to the village. The
conservation area boundary extends to the edge of the village and the rural character of the
road continues into the built-up area with soft informal grass verges, particularly on the
south side. The mix of sophisticated houses, working buildings and walled yards is a
reminder that in 1831 there were 28 working farms in Winteringham…’, and of the
landscape character in general, ‘…Much of the surrounding farmland is arable with minimal
hedges and only occasional groups of trees. This openness allows extensive views of the
Humber estuary and east to the Lincolnshire Wolds. To the southwest, the landscape of the
scarp slope of the Lincoln Edge is designated for protection and enhancement under the
provisions of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.’
The proposal would erode important natural open space that exists at the edge of the
settlement when approaching through Silver Street – a principal entrance. The loss of
arable field here and the proposal to abut built form next to the conservation area would
erode some of the key characteristics of the conservation area both aesthetically and in
terms of its evidential value. The existing space allows for the conservation area to be read
at distance and would dilute its setting; evidential values of the working farms associated
with Winteringham would in part be lost. Both of these are again irreversible.
The proposal would have a harmful effect on the landscape character and appearance of
the area, would not preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the conservation
area and would not be a suitable location for development, having regard to development
plan policy. In these respects, there would be conflict with policies CS2, CS3, CS5, CS6
and CS8 of the Core Strategy and RD2, H5, HE2 and DS1 of the local plan.
Ecology
Policy CS17 of the Core Strategy, as well as paragraph 170 of the NPPF, relate to
biodiversity. Paragraph 170 states, in part, that a net gain for biodiversity should be
achieved. The application site lies roughly 800 metres from the Humber Estuary SAC, SPA
and Ramsar site.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 91

Page 59

The ecologist has stated that ‘…At that distance, the proposal is not likely to affect the
habitats of the SAC. SPA/Ramsar listed waterbirds do use arable fields during the passage
and winter periods.’ Furthermore when determining the likely significant effect under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 the ecologist states ‘…North
Lincolnshire Council is of the opinion that the plan or project is not likely to have a
significant effect alone or in combination with other plans and projects on the Humber
Estuary Special Conservation Area (SAC).’
Ultimately, planning conditions are proposed to minimise harm to protected and priority
species and habitats and to seek biodiversity enhancement in accordance with policy
CS17, the National Planning Policy Framework and Biodiversity Metric 2.0. The proposal,
subject to conditions relating to biodiversity enhancement, is therefore in accordance with
policies CS17 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 170 of the NPPF.
Archaeology
Core Strategy policy CS6 (Historic Environment) states, ‘The council will seek to protect,
conserve and enhance North Lincolnshire’s historic environment as well as the character
and setting of areas of acknowledged importance, including historic buildings, conservation
areas, listed buildings (both statutory and locally listed), registered parks and gardens,
scheduled ancient monuments and archaeological remains…’ and ‘Development proposals
should provide archaeological assessments where appropriate.’
Policy HE9 states, ‘Where development proposals affect sites of known or suspected
archaeological importance, an archaeological assessment will be required to be submitted
prior to the determination of a planning application. Planning permission will not be granted
without adequate assessment of the nature, extent and significance of the remains present
and the degree to which the proposed development is likely to affect them.’ Paragraphs 189
and 190 of the NPPF are also relevant.
The council’s archaeologist has been consulted and initially provided a holding objection.
The objection requested field work; however, this has not been forthcoming and therefore
the archaeologist has objected. Previously the officer stated:
‘Because of the potential archaeological interest, archaeological field evaluation is required
prior to the determination of the planning application in order to assess the significance of
the archaeological heritage assets and inform the decision-making process, in accordance
with the NPPF 189–190 and local plan policy HE9.’
The application is therefore recommended for refusal because inadequate information has
been provided to allow the local planning authority to assess the impact of the development
on the heritage assets, or to approve an appropriate mitigation strategy contrary to
paragraphs 189 and 190 of the NPPF, Core Strategy policy CS6 and local plan policy HE9.
Air Quality and sustainable resources
Policy CS18 is concerned with sustainable resource use and climate change. Its purpose is
to promote development that utilises natural resources as efficiently and sustainably as
possible. Two points of this policy are relevant:
(10)

ensuring development and land use helps to protect people and the environment
from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments, by protecting and improving the
quality of the air, land and water

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 92

Page 60

(12)

supporting new technology and development for carbon capture and the best
available clean and efficient energy technology, particularly in relation to the heavy
industrial users in North Lincolnshire, to help reduce CO2 emissions.

The council’s Environmental Health department has assessed the proposal and proposes a
condition requiring, prior to development, a scheme for electric charging points to be
submitted to and agreed in writing with the local planning authority. The request is
considered to be in accordance with the above policy requirements and the condition will be
attached to any permission to mitigate the impact upon air quality generated by the
development. It is considered that the imposition of this condition would not only satisfy
policy CS18 of the Core Strategy, but also DS11 of the local plan, by making a positive
impact upon the reduction of polluting activities.
Land contamination
Policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with contaminated land. It
states that permission will only be granted on contaminated sites where a detailed site
survey has been submitted, and a suitable scheme of remedial measures has been agreed
to overcome any existing contamination.
The council land contamination officer has been consulted and has stated that, given the
proposal would result in a sensitive end use and based on the information submitted by the
applicant, there is a requirement for further desk-based analysis and a remediation strategy
(as well as verification this strategy has been adhered to). The conditions would require a
phase 1 desk-top study, remediation and verification reports. Given the aforementioned
mitigation, the proposed development is considered to accord with policy DS7 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Environmental issues/amenity
Policy DS1 is partly concerned with impacts upon residential amenity. It states, ‘…No
unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring land uses should result in terms of noise,
smell, fumes, dust or other nuisance, or through the effects of overlooking or
overshadowing.’ Policy DS11 is also concerned with pollution control.
In terms of residential amenity, the construction phase would be mitigated by both a
construction traffic plan and an environmental management plan which would control dust,
noise, light emission etc, the latter being recommended by the Environmental Protection
Officer. The officer also recommends controlling construction working hours.
The operation phase cannot be assessed and the reserved matters would allow for an
assessment of the impact upon neighbouring and future residents by way of overlooking,
overbearing impact and overshadowing.
It is considered, given this is an outline stage, that the proposal could be fairly mitigated by
the aforementioned planning conditions and would accord with policies DS1 and DS11 of
the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Planning balance
A recent review of the of the Five Year Housing Land Position Statement has identified that
the council’s housing land supply has reduced from five years and six dwellings to 3.9
years. The council has prepared a Housing Delivery Action Plan in accordance with the

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 93

Page 61

NPPF and PPG. The Action Plan will assist in securing a five-year land supply; some of the
actions include reviewing the windfall allowance calculation, and working with developers to
bring forward outline planning applications.
The revised Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement will be published in April
2021, and any decisions made by the planning authority will take account of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF.
The current local policies relating to housing will carry reduced weight during this period.
Planning policy guidance paragraph 008 states that, in decision-taking, if an authority
cannot demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, including any appropriate buffer, the
presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply, as set out in paragraph 11 (d)
of the National Planning Policy Framework.
There are three dimensions to sustainable development as set out in paragraph 8 of the
Framework: economic, social and environmental. There are clearly public benefits of the
proposal which would include the social benefits of the provision of market housing where
there is an acknowledged undersupply; provision of affordable housing that would address
the needs of groups with specific housing requirements; the economic and employment
benefits associated with the construction and subsequent occupation of the housing,
including local spending in shops and services; proposed open space facilities would be
accessible to the village providing increased access to play facilities; some benefits from
the enhancement of hedges and the provision of trees.
The report has identified harm in relation to character and landscape, the historic
environment and archaeology. In considering appeal APP/Y2003/W/20/3246247 the
inspector concluded that the public benefits would outweigh the identified harm to the
conservation area. This proposal would offer a commensurate reading given the proximity
of the two sites. However, the irreversible harm on the landscape and character of the
settlement and wider open countryside is a determining factor in concluding that this
proposal would represent an unsustainable form of development. This is reinforced by the
inadequate level of information the applicant has provided in respect of archaeology.
Conclusion
The adverse impacts in relation to landscape, character and archaeology would significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of this proposal, when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. Paragraphs 77, 127 and 170 are clear that
development should be responsive to local circumstances, sympathetic to local character
and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, and
recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Paragraphs 189 and 190
recommend that a sufficient (and proportionate) level of information is submitted to allow for
a robust assessment of the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be
affected by a proposal. The inadequate level of information received has prevented this.
The proposal is therefore recommended for refusal.
RECOMMENDATION

Refuse permission for the following reasons:

1.
The adverse impacts in relation to landscape and character would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of this proposal, when assessed against the policies in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) taken as a whole. The proposal is contrary

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 94

Page 62

to paragraphs 77, 127 and 170 of the NPPF, policies CS2 and CS5 of the North
Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and policies RD2, LC7 and DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local
Plan.
2.
Insufficient information has been received to allow a robust assessment to be made of the
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by this proposal. The
application is therefore contrary to paragraphs 189 and 190 of the NPPF, policy CS6 of the
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy and policy HE9 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 95

Page 63

development_boundary

Page 96

PA/2019/568

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2019/568 Illustrative layout (not to scale)

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1418

APPLICANT

Mr S Kapil, Rosemoor Developments

DEVELOPMENT

Outline planning permission for residential development with all
matters reserved for subsequent consideration.

LOCATION

Land to the rear of 36 Messingham Lane, Scawby, DN20 9BA

PARISH

Scawby

WARD

Ridge

CASE OFFICER

Emmanuel Hiamey

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Subject to a section 106 agreement, grant permission
subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Departure from the development plan
Objection by Scawby Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 4: Decision-making
Chapter 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 11: Making effective use of land
Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places
Chapter 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding, and coastal change
Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
National Planning Policy Framework:
Paragraph 7 states, ‘The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development. At a very high level, the objective of sustainable
development can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.’
Paragraph 8 states, ‘Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system
has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across
each of the different objectives):

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 99

Page 64

(a)

an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy,
by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at
the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

(b)

a social objective – to support strong, vibrant, and healthy communities, by ensuring
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of
present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe built
environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural wellbeing; and

(c)

an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural,
built, and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.’

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development and confirms
that, for decision-taking, this means:
(c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting planning
permission unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework
as a whole.’

Paragraph 12 states, ‘The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not
change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision
making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan…permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.’
Paragraph 38 states, ‘Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed
development positively and creatively…Decision-makers at every level should seek to
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.’
Paragraph 54 states, ‘Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise
unacceptable development could be made acceptable with conditions or planning
obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address
unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.’
Paragraph 59 states that to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the
supply of homes, a sufficient amount and variety of land must come forward where it is

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 100

Page 65

needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and
that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.
Paragraph 73 states, ‘Strategic policies should include a trajectory illustrating the expected
rate of housing delivery over the plan period, and all plans should consider whether it is
appropriate to set out the anticipated rate of development for specific sites. Local planning
authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites
sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing
requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need where
the strategic policies are more than five years old. The supply of specific deliverable sites
should also include a buffer (moved forward from later in the plan period) of:
(a)

5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or

(b)

10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently adopted plan, to
account for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or

(c)

20% where there has been significant under-delivery of housing over the previous
three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply.’

Paragraph 74 states, ‘A five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, with the appropriate
buffer, can be demonstrated where it has been established in a recently adopted plan, or in
a subsequent annual position statement which:
(a)

has been produced through engagement with developers and others who have an
impact on delivery, and been considered by the Secretary of State; and

(b)

incorporates the recommendation of the Secretary of State, where the position on
specific sites could not be agreed during the engagement process.’

Paragraph 75 states, ‘To maintain the supply of housing, local planning authorities should
monitor progress in building out sites which have permission. Where the Housing Delivery
Test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of the local planning authority’s housing
requirement over the previous three years, the authority should prepare an action plan in
line with national planning guidance, to assess the causes of under-delivery and identify
actions to increase delivery in future years.’
Paragraph 109 states, ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’
Paragraph 163 states, ‘When determining any planning applications, local planning
authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.’
North Lincolnshire Local Plan:
Policy H5: New housing development
Policy H8: Housing design and housing mix
Policy T2: Access to development

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 101

Page 66

Policy T19: Car parking provision and standards
Policy DS1: General requirements
Policy DS14: Foul sewage and surface water drainage
Policy DS16: Flood risk
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy:
CS1: Spatial strategy for North Lincolnshire
CS2: Delivering more sustainable development
CS3: Development limits
CS5: Delivering quality design in North Lincolnshire
CS7: Overall housing provision
CS8: Spatial distribution of housing sites
CS9: Affordable housing
CS17: Biodiversity
CS19: Flood risk
CONSULTATIONS
Environmental Protection: Have concerns regarding sensitive end-user development.
They have recommended a Phase 1 report for the department’s consideration prior to the
application being determined in accordance with national policy guidance.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): Initially objected to the proposal because there is
no positive drainage outfall for the development should infiltration be found not to be
feasible. However, following a site meeting between the drainage team and the developer,
and upon further investigation, it has been found that the adjacent Old Vicarage Park Estate
is built on soakaways, which do not appear to be built to the drainage standards that would
be required for the development (1 in 100 year plus CC flood event). Though space was
made available on the adjacent development to allow for lateral migration without affecting
third party land or property, the current site investigation included in this application is not
satisfactory with regard to the depths and areas investigated across the whole development
site. Accordingly, soakaways which are to be adopted must be built to the required
standards and if poor ground conditions exist, with no apparent high-level positive outfall, a
factor of safety must be applied in the final design. Taking the above into account and the
fact that it has been confirmed that it is not for a fixed number of dwellings, the LLFA
Drainage Team withdraws their objection to the proposed development subject to the
imposition of conditions.
Public Health: Have no adverse comments to make, but support the comments made by
Anglian Water, and the Designing Out Crime Officer, Humberside Police.
Conservation: No objection subject to the design considerations.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 102

Page 67

Historic Environment Record: Initially indicated that the applicant has submitted a deskbased heritage assessment and the results of preliminary field evaluation comprising a
geophysical survey of the site. However, there is insufficient information to assess the
significance of the archaeological evidence and the impact of the proposed development.
Consequently, archaeological evaluation by sample trial trenching is required prior to the
determination of this application to adequately inform the assessment and decision-making
process. Further to above, the applicant has submitted satisfactory reports of the
archaeological work undertaken on the site: desk-based assessment, geophysical survey,
and trial trench evaluation. The archaeological evaluation did not identify that any significant
remains were preserved within the site and the potential for any undiscovered remains to
be present is judged low. The HER has indicated that no archaeological mitigation
measures are required in connection with the proposed development. This procedure
complies with paragraph 189 of the NPPF and local planning policies CS6 and HE9.
Highways: The proposed access emerges onto a 30mph speed limit road. As such, in
principle, the proposed access point is acceptable. The only concern is visibility splays because
of the presence of trees to the eastern side of the access. There is also a telegraph pole which
would need to be relocated to accommodate the access. However, both issues could be
overcome. No objections to the proposal subject to conditions.
Spatial Planning: This proposal is in the open countryside and contrary to the council's
adopted development plans. As the council cannot demonstrate a five-year housing land
supply, paragraph 11 of NPPF applies and the application should consider any adverse
impacts of granting permission when assessed against the policies within this Framework
taken as a whole or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted. It
must be demonstrated why the development meets the three dimensions of sustainable
development.
Education: The Department for Education expects local authorities to seek developer
contributions towards school places that are created to meet the need arising from housing
development. The Section 106 Officer has confirmed that both primary and secondary
contributions would be per dwelling, excluding affordable dwellings.
Recycling: Has provided a standard comment indicating that where a road is waiting to be
adopted or is privately owned and maintained, householders will either be required to take
their waste to the nearest adopted highway (often to a pre-agreed collection point) or up to
date indemnity cover must be provided to indemnify the council’s waste collection services
from any damage caused to the road surfaces. Alternatively, where it is appropriate, shared
drives or properties situated on unadopted roads should be provided with a refuse
collection point nearest to the highway accessible by the RCV. This collection point should
be sufficient to accommodate the number of bins likely to be placed out on a given
collection day.
Humberside Fire Brigade: No adverse comments to make on the application. However,
they have provided standard comments indicating that it is a requirement of Approved
Document B5, Section 16 Commercial Properties or B5, Section 11 for Domestic Premises
that adequate access for firefighting is provided to all buildings or extensions to buildings.
Where it is a requirement to provide access for high reach appliances, the route and hard
standing should be constructed to provide a minimum carrying capacity of 24 tonnes.
Adequate provision of water supplies for firefighting appropriate to the proposed risk should
be considered. If the public supplies are inadequate it may be necessary to augment them

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 103

Page 68

by the provision of on-site facilities. Under normal circumstances, hydrants for industrial unit
and high-risk areas should be located at 90 metre intervals.
Anglian Water: No adverse comments to make on the application. They have provided
suggested informative statements and conditions.
Ecology: Confirms that the site has limited biodiversity value at present and negligible
potential for protected species. However, to provide a net gain in biodiversity, and thus
comply with Policy CS17, a revised site layout with a reduced number of dwellings is likely
to be required. Planning conditions are proposed to minimise harm to protected and priority
species and habitats and to seek biodiversity enhancement in accordance with policy
CS17, the National Planning Policy Framework and Biodiversity Metric 2.0.
Section 106 Officer: Confirms that as the site falls within Scawby, current policy states that
10% of the development should be provided for affordable housing, which, on this proposed
development, would equate to three dwellings. There are agreed heads of terms: affordable
housing has been agreed – the product type is unknown but is acceptable for section 106 to
include all types.
PARISH COUNCIL
Objects to the application because the proposed development lies outside the current
development boundary for the village of Scawby and is a greenfield site. Also, the development
will generate traffic and cause highway safety concerns for both vehicles and pedestrians.
PUBLICITY
Site and press notices have been posted. Fifteen comments of objection have been
received raising the following concerns:


road safety



outside the development boundary



increase in noise, traffic and air pollution



impact on the character of the village



capacity of the local school



capacity of the foul sewer system for this area



impact on surrounding trees and hedges



impact on the green belt area



the wellbeing of residents in the surrounding area



wildlife in the area



light and privacy



the site is prime agricultural land and of historical interest

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 104

Page 69



access to and from the site would be from Messingham Lane



flood risk.

ASSESSMENT
The site and proposed development
The site is located on land to the rear of 36 Messingham Lane and is outside the
development boundary of Scawby. The site measures approximately 2.05 hectares. It is
currently in arable use, with fencing to the southern boundary and hedgerow to all other
boundaries. Cultivated arable fields lie to the north-west with residential development to the
east, south and south-west.
Outline planning permission is sought, with all other matters reserved, for a total of up to 26
new residential dwellings, including 10% affordable housing.
An indicative site layout is shown on the plan submitted with this application. Access would
be taken directly off Messingham Lane.
Site history
The site history is relevant in considering this application as the proposal aims to address
the reasons for refusal of PA/2019/1568 and satisfy all other relevant planning matters.
On 23 December 2019, outline planning permission for residential development with all
matters reserved for subsequent consideration (PA/2019/1568) was refused for the
following reasons:
1.
The proposal is located within the open countryside on greenfield land and considered
unacceptable in principle. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that any material
considerations exist that would justify a departure from the plan. The proposal would have
an unacceptable impact upon the character and appearance of the open countryside and is
contrary to policies CS1, CS2 and CS3 of the Core Strategy as well as RD2 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
2.
Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed development
would not have an unacceptable impact on heritage assets. The proposal is contrary to
policy HE9 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan, CS6 of the North Lincolnshire Core
Strategy and paragraph 189 and 190 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
3.
Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed development
would not result in an increased risk of flooding to the site or adjacent land. In particular, the
applicant has failed to demonstrate that a suitable drainage strategy, based on the
principles of SuDS, can be achieved on-site. The proposal is therefore contrary to policy
CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy and policies DS14 and DS16 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 105

Page 70

Principle of development
As outlined above, one of the reasons for refusal of the previous application on the site was
failure to demonstrate that any material considerations exist that would justify a departure
from the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and the Core Strategy.
In establishing the principle of this development, the NPPF retains the principle that
‘Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.’
And restates the three overarching objectives which support the delivery of sustainable
development: economic, social, and environmental. Importantly, ‘at the heart of the
Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development’, which instructs that
‘Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development…For decision-taking this means:
(c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.’

The five-year housing land supply statement sets out North Lincolnshire Council's
assessment of its supply of housing land from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2021, having regard
to Government guidance on how this is calculated. This report states that North
Lincolnshire has a 3.9-year housing land supply of deliverable sites during the period April
2016 to March 2021.
It is acknowledged that the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year housing
land supply; therefore, the housing policies are considered out of date. As such the ‘tilted
balance’ is applied to the decision-making process which requires therefore that permission
be granted unless ‘any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a
whole.’
Accordingly, this planning application must be assessed against the Framework, North
Lincolnshire Local Plan policies and the Core Strategy with a focus on assessment against
the three objectives of sustainable development, identifying any impact and the benefits of
the development so that it can be determined whether any adverse impacts significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme.
The applicant has submitted a Design & Access Statement, which contains a sustainability
statement, highlighting the three dimensions of sustainable development (economic, social,
and environmental) and concluded that the proposed development would not have adverse
impacts which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the economic and community
benefits. From reviewing this information there are no reasons to disagree with these
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 106

Page 71

conclusions. The proposal would accord with the economic role, through its construction
and the expenditure and use of the future occupiers in local shops, services and community
buildings. With regard to the social role, the proposal would make a positive contribution to
addressing the deficit in the housing land supply, including affordable housing. From an
environmental perspective, the site lies adjacent to the settlement boundary and therefore
is in an accessible location for local services ensuring no requirement for reliance on the
car as the primary means of transport and therefore complying with the environmental role.
Consequently, the issue of justifying a departure as a reason for the previous refusal has
been addressed and the information provided demonstrates that material considerations
exist that would justify a departure from the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and the Core
Strategy.
Design/landscape
As indicated earlier, this is an outline application with all matters reserved. While an
indicative layout has been provided, there is no detailed design or layout to agree at this
stage. The indicative layout is useful in that it demonstrates that 26 dwellings can be
achieved on this site with adequate garden space and access to serve them and that the
site can therefore achieve a form and layout that is suitable in the locality.
Landscape character and visual impact
Within the Village Design Statement of Scawby, due to the way the village has developed,
the visual character of the surrounding countryside and the relationship between the
countryside and the properties, when approached from different directions, represent
distinct and different characters. It is felt that to give true guidance to any future developers
or planners, each area of the village be viewed separately.
The area around the proposed development is relatively flat and visually contained by
existing development along Messingham Lane to the south (several modern bungalows,
well shrouded by trees and shrubs), residential development to the east and an open
boundary to the north and west.
As an outline application, the principle of residential development on this site would not
conflict with the existing pattern of development in this location, particularly the residential
development to the east, and would not result in a visual intrusion in the wider landscape.
The existing pattern of development and visual containment of the area would appropriately
mitigate the landscape and visual effects of the proposals.
Agricultural land classification
This site is designated as grade 2 agricultural land (very good quality). Policy RD1 of the
local plan (Development involving high-quality agricultural land) states that development or
change of use of agricultural land will only be permitted where it would not result in the loss
of the best and most versatile land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) unless it can be demonstrated that
the proposed development cannot be accommodated on land within settlement boundaries,
land which is allocated for development, previously developed land, or land of a lower
agricultural grade.
Where the development of agricultural land is unavoidable, areas of poorer quality land
should be developed in preference to those of higher quality, except where other
sustainability considerations suggest otherwise. For development to be permitted on higher
grades of land there must be an overriding need for the development.
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 107

Page 72

The applicant has provided a design and access statement, which contain a sustainability
report on this matter. It concludes that the site is in a sustainable location with a good range
of services and facilities available within a short distance. This location would help
discourage the future residents of the dwellings from using pollutant fuel vehicles in favour
of environmental-friendly means of transport such as walking and cycling for many trips.
Economic and community benefits would be accrued as the local shops, services and
community buildings would be likely to be used by the occupiers of the new dwellings. In
this case, the sustainability case has been demonstrated. Satisfactory information is also
available to demonstrate that the proposed development cannot be accommodated on land
within the settlement boundary, land which is allocated for development, previously
developed land, or land of a lower agricultural grade (Scawby is wholly surrounded by
grade 2 land).
Notwithstanding the above, the site is not large and so the loss of the whole site, as grade 2
agricultural land, would not be significant in terms of the amount of such land available
across North Lincolnshire. Considering the above, development on the site is acceptable
and therefore complies with Policy RD1 of the local plan.
Neighbour amenity
The site is located adjacent to existing residential development along Messingham Lane,
residential developments to the east, and agricultural land to the west and north. This
presents no amenity conflict in terms of compatible land uses.
The indicative layout provided shows that adequate separation distances can be achieved
to preserve amenity at an acceptable level for existing residential properties. It is
recognised that there would be a change in character from a countryside site to residential
development, but the layout and density of the proposed development are not incompatible
with existing properties.
Exact separation distances cannot be established from the level of detail available for this
outline application but would necessarily form part of a reserved matters application where
amenity is considered in more detail.
Highways/access
Highways have considered the submitted plans and do not object to the proposal subject to
conditions. They have commented that the proposed access emerges onto a 30mph speed
limit road. As such, in principle, the proposed access point is acceptable. The only concern
is visibility splays because of the presence of trees to the eastern side of the access. There
is also a telegraph pole which would need to be relocated to accommodate the access.
However, both issues could be overcome.
Drainage
The application is accompanied by information outlining surface water management and
discharge (infiltration via crate soakaway), which the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
says is acceptable. Under the principles of sustainable drainage systems, the preferred
method is infiltration, provided the groundwater monitoring shows no groundwater within 1
metre of the base of the proposed soakaway.
As indicated above, the LLFA Drainage Team initially objected to the development.
However, following a site meeting between the LLFA and the developer, and upon further
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 108

Page 73

investigation, the LLFA indicated that the adjacent Old Vicarage Park Estate is built on
soakaways, which do not appear to be built to the drainage standards that would be
required for the development (1 in 100 year plus CC flood event), though space was made
available on the adjacent development to allow for lateral migration without affecting third
party land or property.
The LLFA has indicated that the current site investigation included in this application is not
satisfactory with regard to the depths and areas investigated across the whole development
site. Accordingly, soakaways that are to be adopted must be built to the required standards
and if poor ground conditions exist with no apparent high-level positive outfall, a factor of
safety must be applied in the final design.
Taking all the above into account and the fact that it has been confirmed that the
development is not for a fixed number of dwellings, the LLFA Drainage Team has
withdrawn their initial objection to the development subject to the imposition of conditions.
With the recommended conditions applied, the development will accord with the relevant
planning policies to protect water quality and public amenity and prevent pollution and
flooding.
In comparison with the third reason for refusal of PA/2019/1568 (that insufficient information
has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed development would not result in an
increased risk of flooding to the site or adjacent land), in this case, the applicant has
demonstrated that a suitable drainage strategy, based on the principles of SuDS, can be
achieved on site.
The proposal therefore complies with policy CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy
and policies DS14 and DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Contaminated land
The Contaminated Land Officer has indicated that no supporting information has been
provided that demonstrates potential risks can be reduced to an acceptable level. The
officer recommends that where a proposed development introduces a vulnerable end-user
and/or the development site could be affected by a former potentially contaminative land
use, the possibility of land contamination should always be considered. In these
circumstances, a Phase 1 assessment should be submitted as a minimum, which includes
a desktop study, a site walkover, and a conceptual site model.
Alternatively, if the council is mindful to determine the application without the information
required under National Planning Policy guidance then the department would recommend
the inclusion of consent conditions.
It is worth noting that the applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Contaminated Land
Assessment (Desk Study) Report and the Contaminated Land Officer has been
reconsulted. The officer has not as yet responded to the re-consultation.
On electric vehicle charging points, this application is for residential development on land
covering approximately 2.05 hectares. This fulfils the stage 1 criteria of guidance under
Planning for Air Quality January 2017, as the application involves 10 or more residential
units or a site area of more than 0.5 hectares and more than 10 parking spaces. However,
the proposed development does not fulfil the stage 2 criteria. In this case, if the local
planning authority is mindful to grant the application, Environmental Protection recommend
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 109

Page 74

conditions be attached requiring the scheme to include provision for electric vehicle
charging points.
Heritage assets
On heritage assets, the second reason for refusal of the previous application
(PA/2019/1568) was on the basis that insufficient information had been provided to
demonstrate that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact on
heritage assets.
In this case, from the comments of the Historic Environment Record, initially the information
submitted was not adequate to assess the significance of the archaeological evidence and
the impact of the proposed development. However, following the submission of satisfactory
reports of the archaeological work undertaken on the site (desk-based assessment,
geophysical survey and trial trench evaluation), the HER comments that the archaeological
evaluation does not identify any significant remains preserved within the site, the potential
for any undiscovered remains to be present is judged low, and no archaeological mitigation
measures are required in connection with the proposed development.
The proposal therefore complies with policy HE9 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
policy CS6 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Planning obligations
The Section 106 Officer has confirmed that as the site falls within Scawby, current policy
states that 10% of the development should be provided for affordable housing, which, on
this proposed development, equates to three dwellings.
In general, as indicated in the consultee section, the Department for Education expects
local authorities to seek developer contributions towards school places that are created to
meet the need arising from housing development.
The heads of terms require contributions towards education, open space and leisure. The
applicant has confirmed agreement with the drafted S106.
Taking this recommendation into account, the proposal accords with policy CS9 (Affordable
Housing) of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy and the NPPF, and within the financial
(viability) constraints of this development, also makes a positive contribution to the
sustainability of Scawby.
Scawby Parish Council comments
Scawby Parish Council have objected to the application on the following grounds:


the proposed development lies outside the current development boundary for the village
of Scawby and is a greenfield site, and



the development will generate traffic and cause highway safety concerns for both
vehicles and pedestrians.

These concerns have been addressed in this report.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 110

Page 75

Public comments
Neighbours have raised concerns as outlined in the publicity section above. The concerns
about road safety, air pollution, noise, impact on the character of the village, local school
capacity, foul sewer system capacity, privacy, prime agricultural land, historical interest and
flood risk have been addressed in this report. There are no outstanding issues to be
addressed currently regarding the application.
On the issue of wildlife, Green Belt, trees and hedges, as indicated in the consultations
section, the council’s ecologist has indicated that the site has limited biodiversity value at
present and negligible potential for protected species. Conditions are proposed to minimise
harm to protected and priority species and habitats, and to seek biodiversity enhancement
in accordance with policy CS17 of the Core Strategy, the National Planning Policy
Framework and Biodiversity Metric 2.0.
Conclusion
This proposal for residential development in this location is considered compatible with
adjacent residential development which exists to the east and along Messingham Lane.
While the site is located outside the development boundary, it is immediately adjacent and
relates well to the settlement limits, being to the northern part of the village and within easy
walking distance.
The Department for Education have not objected to the proposal, though they have
emphasised that they expect local authorities to seek developer contributions towards
school places that are created to meet the need arising from housing development. The
S106 officer has confirmed the agreed heads of terms.
It is agreed that the site is in a sustainable location as it would be well served by a level of
public amenities and easy public access to the village and would provide employment
opportunities for future occupants. Provision of electric vehicle charging points and planning
obligations for education will further enhance this site as a sustainable location for housing
development.
There are no identified adverse impacts as a result of the proposed development, the
suggested conditions secure the additional information required to account for unresolved
matters, and nothing significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits of the proposal
which are set out in this report. Accordingly, in the absence of a five-year housing land
supply, in accordance with the NPPF, the application is recommended for approval subject
to the suggested conditions and an S106 agreement.
Pre-commencement conditions
All pre-commencement conditions attached to this recommendation have been agreed with
the applicant in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement
Conditions) Regulations 2018.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 111

Page 76

Heads of terms
Affordable housing
Number of dwellings or
commuted sum

3 dwellings

House type

Unknown

Trigger point

1 dwelling on occupation of the 7th dwelling
2 dwellings on occupation of the 15th dwelling

How many years do the council
require to spend the
contribution?

Affordable units to be retained in perpetuity

Education
Contribution amount

£177,928 towards primary and secondary (£7,736 per dwelling)

Trigger point

30% on occupation of the 1st dwelling
30% on occupation of the 10th dwelling
40% on occupation of the 15th dwelling

How many years do the council
require to spend the
contribution?

10 years

Open space
On-site informal open space

10 square metres per dwelling and £11,125.20 for North
Lincolnshire to maintain this land or an estate management
company to be set up

Off-site recreation

£33,668.00 towards the maintenance and new equipment of an
existing area of play close to the development

Trigger point

Informal open space and maintenance fee on occupation of
15th dwelling
Off-site recreation on occupation of the 15th dwelling

How many years do the council
require to spend the
contribution?

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

10 years

Page 112

Page 77

Leisure
Off-site contribution and location

£22,441 towards an artificial pitch

Trigger point

On occupation of the 15th dwelling

How many years do the council
require to spend the
contribution?

10 years

RECOMMENDATION
Subject to the completion of a formal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 providing for affordable housing, education, open space
and leisure as set out in the ‘heads of terms’ specified above, the committee
resolves:
(i)

it is mindful to grant permission for the development;

(ii)

the decision be delegated to the Group Manager – Development Management
and Building Control upon completion of the obligation;

(iii)

if the obligation is not completed by 24 June 2021 the Group Manager –
Development Management and Building Control be authorised to refuse the
application on grounds of on grounds of non-compliance with policy CS9 of
the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and policies H8 and DS1 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan; and

(iv)

the permission so granted be subject to the following conditions:

1.
Approval of the details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s), the means of
access thereto and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called 'the reserved matters')
shall be obtained from the local planning authority in writing before any development is
commenced.
Reason
The application has been made under Article 5(1) of the Town & Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
2.
Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition 1 above, relating to the
layout, scale and appearance of any buildings to be erected, the means of access to the
site and the landscaping of the site, shall be submitted in writing to the local planning
authority and shall be carried out as approved.
Reason
The application has been made under Article 5(1) of the Town & Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 113

Page 78

3.
Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning
authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
4.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.
Reason
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
5.
No development shall take place until details of:
(i)

the location and layout of the vehicular access; and

(ii)

the number, location, and layout of the vehicle parking space(s) within the curtilage
of the site;

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
6.
No loose material shall be placed on any driveway or parking area within 10 metres of the
adopted highway unless measures are taken in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to prevent the material from spilling
onto the highway. Once agreed and implemented these measures shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan.
7.
No development shall begin until details of:
(i)

the layout, drainage, construction, services, and lighting of the proposed access
road, including the junction with the adjacent highway; and

(ii)

the number and location of vehicle parking space(s)

on the site;

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 114

Page 79

Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
8.
No dwelling on the site shall be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle
parking spaces serving it have been completed and, once provided, the vehicle parking
spaces shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
9.
No dwelling on the site shall be occupied until the access road has been completed to at
least base course level and adequately lit from the junction with the adjacent highway up to
the access to the dwelling.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
10.
No other works shall be commenced on the site until the access road junction with the
adjacent highway, including the required visibility splays, has been set out and established.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
11.
No dwelling on the site shall be occupied until the footway has been constructed up to base
course level from the junction with the adjacent highway to the access to the dwelling.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
12.
The penultimate dwelling on site shall not be occupied until the access roads have been
completed.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
13.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No. 2) (England) Order 2008 (or any order revoking and reenacting that order with or without modification), no development shall take place within any
service strip adjacent to any shared surface road, and any planting or landscaping within

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 115

Page 80

this service strip shall be of species which shall be agreed in writing with the local planning
authority prior to planting.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
14.
No dwelling served by any shared private driveway shall be occupied until it has been
constructed in accordance with details including:
(i)

the proposed method of forming access from the highway, including the required
visibility splays;

(ii)

the method of constructing/paving the drive;

(iii)

the provision of adequate drainage features;

(iv)

the provision of suitable bin collection facilities adjacent to the highway;

(v)

the provision of suitable lighting arrangements; and

(vi)

the provision of street name plates that shall include the words 'Private Drive';

which have been agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Once constructed the
private driveway shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
15.
No development shall take place until a construction phase traffic management plan
showing details of:
(i)

all associated traffic movements, including delivery vehicles and staff/construction
movements;

(ii)

any abnormal load movements;

(iii)

contractor parking and welfare facilities;

(iv)

storage of materials; and

(v)

traffic management requirements, including the means of controlling the deposition
of mud onto the adjacent highway, along with appropriate methods of cleaning the
highway as may be required;

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 116

Page 81

Once approved the plan shall be implemented, reviewed, and updated as necessary
throughout the construction period.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
16.
Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than that
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not
commence until parts 1 to 4 below have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is
found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the local planning
authority in writing until part 4 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
Part 1: Site Characteristics
A Phase 1 desk study shall be carried out to identify and evaluate all potential sources of
contamination and the impacts on land and/or controlled waters, relevant to the site. The
desk study shall establish a 'conceptual model' of the site and identify all plausible pollutant
linkages. Furthermore, the assessment shall set objectives for intrusive site investigation
works/Quantitative Risk Assessment (or state if none required). Two full copies of the desk
study and a non-technical summary shall be submitted to the local planning authority for
approval prior to proceeding to further site investigation.
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether it originates on the site. The contents
of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. The
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written
report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in
writing of the local planning authority. The report of the findings must include:
(i)

a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

(ii)

an assessment of the potential risks to:
- human health;
- property (existing or proposed), including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland, and service lines and pipes;
- adjoining land;
- groundwaters and surface waters;
- ecological systems;
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii)

an appraisal of remedial options, and a proposal of the preferred option(s).

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 117

Page 82

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's Model
Procedures for the management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Part 2: Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment must be prepared and is subject to the approval in
writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
Part 3: Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning authority
must be given two weeks’ written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme
works.
Following the completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the
approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Part 4: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the local planning authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with the requirements of Part 1, and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 2,
which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Following the completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local
planning authority in accordance with Part 3.
Reason
To ensure the site is safe for future users and construction workers.
17.
A scheme for the provision of electrical vehicle charging points shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be designed to take
account of good practice guidance as set out in the Institute of Air Quality Management
Land Use Planning and Development Control http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/airquality-planning-guidance.pdf and contemporaneous electrical standards, including:
- Electrical Requirements of BS7671:2008;
- IET Code of Practice on Electrical Vehicle Charging Equipment installation 2012 ISBN
978-1-84919-515-7.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 118

Page 83

The approved scheme shall be installed in full and retained in perpetuity thereafter.
Reason
To facilitate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce the emission impact of traffic
arising from the development in line with the National Planning Policy Framework.
18.
Construction, demolition and site clearance operations shall be limited to the following days
and hours:
- 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday
- 8am to 1pm on Saturdays.
No construction, demolition or site clearance operations shall take place on Sundays or
public/bank holidays.
HGV movements shall not be permitted outside these hours during the construction phase
without prior written approval from the local planning authority.
Installation of equipment on site shall not be permitted outside these hours without prior
written approval from the local planning authority.
Reason
To protect residential amenity.
19.
No stage of the development hereby permitted shall commence until a construction
environmental management plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include the following:
Noise and vibration: The CEMP shall set out the particulars of–
(a)

the works, and the method by which they are to be carried out;

(b)

the noise and vibration attenuation measures to be taken to minimise noise and
vibration resulting from the works, including any noise limits; and

(c)

a scheme for monitoring the noise and vibration during the works to ensure
compliance with the noise limits and the effectiveness of the attenuation measures.

Light: The CEMP shall set out the particulars of–
(a)

specified locations for contractors’ compounds and materials storage areas;

(b)

areas where lighting will be required for health and safety purposes;

(c)

location of potential temporary floodlights;

(d)

identification of sensitive receptors likely to be impacted upon by light nuisance;

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 119

Page 84

(e)

proposed methods of mitigation against potential light nuisance, including potential
glare and light spill, on sensitive receptors.

Dust: The CEMP shall set out the particulars of–
(a)

site dust monitoring, recording and complaint investigation procedures;

(b)

identification of receptors and the related risk of dust impact at all phases of the
development, including when buildings and properties start to be occupied;

(c)

provision of water to the site;

(d)

dust mitigation techniques at all stages of development;

(e)

prevention of dust trackout;

(f)

communication with residents and other receptors;

(g)

a commitment to cease the relevant operation if dust emissions are identified either
by regular site monitoring or by the local authority;

(h)

a 'no burning of waste' policy.

Reason
To protect residential amenity in accordance with policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local
Plan.
20.
No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site
shall has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydro-geological context of the development.
The drainage scheme shall demonstrate that surface water run-off generated up to and
including the 1 in 100 year critical storm (including an allowance for climate change) will not
exceed the run-off from the existing site. It shall also include details of how the resulting
completed scheme is to be maintained and managed for the lifetime of the development so
that flood risk, both on and off the site, is not increased. SuDS must be considered.
Reference should be made to North Lincolnshire Council's SuDS and Flood Risk Guidance
Document. Should infiltration not be feasible at the site, alternative sustainable drainage
should be used, focusing on above-ground solutions.
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved submitted
details required by condition 19 above, completed prior to the occupation of any dwelling or
building within each phase or sub-phase of the development on site, and thereafter retained
and maintained in accordance with the scheme for the life of the development unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 120

Page 85

Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation and future maintenance of the sustainable
drainage structures in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and paragraphs 155, 157,
163 and 65 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
21.
No development shall take place until details showing an effective method of preventing
surface water run-off from hard paved areas within the site onto the highway have been
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These facilities shall be implemented
prior to the access and parking facilities being brought into use and thereafter so retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy T19 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan, policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy, and
paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
22.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Site location Plan PC180A/01 dated 14th September 2020 and Tree
Survey Plan PC180A/02 dated 19th December 2019.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
23.
No development shall take place until a species protection plan has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include details of
measures to be taken to avoid harm to badgers, hedgehogs and nesting birds during site
clearance and construction.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policy CS17 of the Core Strategy
and policy LC5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
24.
Within three months of the commencement of development, the applicant or their successor
in title shall submit a biodiversity metric assessment and biodiversity management plan for
approval by the local planning authority. The plan shall include:
(a)

an assessment of biodiversity loss based on the habitat and hedgerow baseline from
the 'Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA): Land North of Messingham Lane,
Scawby, DN20 9AZ' dated August 2019;

(b)

details of measures required to provide at least 10% biodiversity net gain in
accordance with the Defra biodiversity metric 2.0;

(c)

details of at least five bat roosting features to be installed in the new dwellings;

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 121

Page 86

(d)

details of nesting sites to be installed to support swifts, starlings, tree sparrows and
house sparrows;

(e)

restrictions on lighting to avoid impacts on bat roosts, bat foraging areas, bird nesting
sites and sensitive habitats;

(f)

provision for hedgehogs to pass through any fencing installed between gardens and
between areas of grassland;

(g)

prescriptions for the planting and aftercare of trees and shrubs of high biodiversity
value;

(h)

details of a wildlife gardening leaflet to be provided to each new resident;

(i)

details of wetland habitat to be created as part of sustainable drainage;

(j)

proposed timings for the above works in relation to the completion of the buildings.

Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
25.
The biodiversity management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and timings, and the approved features shall be retained thereafter unless otherwise
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to the occupation of the 20th
dwelling, the applicant or their successor in title shall submit a report to the local planning
authority, providing evidence of compliance with the biodiversity management plan.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
Informative 1
The development hereby granted planning permission requires works to be carried out
within the limits of the adopted (public) highway. Therefore:
- before ANY construction works take place within the limits of the highway you MUST
contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297000 to arrange for the
relevant permissions/licenses to be issued;
- before ANY service (utility) connections take place within the limits of the highway you
MUST contact the highway authority on telephone number 01724 297319 to arrange for
the relevant permissions/licenses to be issued.
Informative 2
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 122

Page 87

development_boundary

Page 123

PA/2020/1418

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/1418 Indicative layout (not to scale)

Page 124

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/2028

APPLICANT

Modernistiq Harrogate Ltd

DEVELOPMENT

Application for the modification of planning obligations attached
to PA/2017/1975

LOCATION

Land off Westgate Road, Westgate, Belton

PARISH

Belton

WARD

Axholme Central

CASE OFFICER

Rachael Major

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

The existing planning obligation be modified

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Member ‘call in’ (Cllrs Tim Mitchell and David Robinson –
significant public interest)
Significant public interest

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Chapter 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Paragraph 7 explains that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development and that ‘At a very high level…sustainable
development can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.’
Paragraph 9 states, ‘Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances
into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area.’ It also explains
that the three overarching objectives are not criteria against which every decision can or
should be judged.
Chapter 3 – Plan making
Paragraph 34 states that plans should set out the contributions expected from
development. This should include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing
provision required, along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education,
health, transport, flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure). Such
policies should not undermine the deliverability of the plan.
Chapter 4 – Decision making
Paragraph 56 states that planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of
the following tests:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 125

Page 88

(a)

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

(b)

directly related to the development; and

(c)

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states, ‘where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions
expected from development, planning applications that comply with them should be
assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular
circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The
weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having
regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability
evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan
was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the planmaking stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning guidance,
including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.’
North Lincolnshire Local Plan:
Policy H10 (Public open space provision in new housing development)
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy:
Policy CS7 (Overall housing provision)
Policy CS9 (Affordable housing)
Policy CS27 (Planning obligations)
CONSULTATIONS
No responses have been received.
PARISH COUNCIL
No response.
PUBLICITY
This application has been publicised by site and press notices, and placed on the council’s
website. Seventy-one responses have been received objecting to the application to modify
the planning obligations.
The planning issues raised in the responses are:


access to the development on a narrow road



risk of flooding



environment impact



high volume of traffic and excess speeds on Westgate Road



narrow footpaths

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 126

Page 89



contribution towards substantial traffic calming measures needed



HGVs contravening the 7.5 tonne restriction



vehicles mounting footpaths on Westgate Road, danger to pedestrians and there have
already been accidents



environmental impact on historic Belton Fields



offsetting environmental impact to include electric car charging points, air source heating
and solar panels; also rainwater harvesting to all the houses to support the drainage
system



land unsuitable for housing due to flood risk



new developments not in keeping with the area



too many houses for the site



adversely affects the character, appearance and setting of historic environment



burden on local amenities



primary school oversubscribed



only doctor’s surgery under pressure.

ASSESSMENT
The proposal
This is not an application seeking planning permission but is an application to modify the
existing Section 106 agreement attached to the outline planning permission (PA/2017/1975)
for up to 23 dwellings. This application requests the removal of the open space contribution
of £9,460.20. This is towards maintenance of Belton Playing Field and Bowling Green.
There is also a request to remove the affordable housing contribution which is 10% of the
total number of dwellings on site as affordable product (maximum of two dwellings). The
application for modification has been submitted due to ascertain from the applicant of the
non-viability of the scheme with the contributions applied.
The key issues in determining this request are whether the development is viable
within the current contribution levels and whether the proposed amended agreement
would adversely affect the provision of public open space and the affordable homes
to the detriment of the local community.
Relevant planning history
PA/2017/1975: Outline planning permission for up to 23 dwellings with all matters
reserved apart from access – refused 14/12/2018, allowed on appeal
11/03/2020.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 127

Page 90

PA/2020/1413: Approval of reserved matters following outline planning permission
PA/2017/1975 dated 11/03/2020 to erect up to 23 dwellings, namely
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale – approved 28/01/2021.
Principle
This application requests the removal of the open space contribution of £9,460.20. This was
towards maintenance of Belton Playing Field and Bowling Green. There is also a request to
remove the affordable housing contribution which is 10% of the total number of dwellings on
site as affordable product (maximum of two dwellings). The site has outline planning
permission and reserved matters approval; this application cannot address the highway
concerns outlined by objectors in the comments received.
The development plan for North Lincolnshire comprises three parts: those policies of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan (2003) (LP) which were saved by a direction of the Secretary
of State in September 2007; the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy DPD (2011) (CS); and
the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD (2016) (HELAP). Policy CS1 of the CS
sets out a spatial strategy for North Lincolnshire.
Policy CS9 of CS is concerned with affordable housing and requires schemes for new
residential housing in rural settlements to contribute 10% of the scheme for affordable
tenure. Ideally 70% of affordable housing supplied should be 70% for rent and, where
possible, the housing should be provided on site, but an off-site contribution may be
acceptable.
Policy H10 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with public open space. It
states, ‘(i)…New housing developments on allocated and windfall sites of 0.5 hectares or
more will be required to provide recreational open space on a scale, and in a form,
appropriate to serve the needs of residents, or alternatively, where appropriate, to provide
commuted payments for this provision to be made off-site, either individually or in
combination with existing or other proposed recreational sites and facilities...’
Paragraph 56 of the NPPF concludes obligations must meet all the following tests:
(a)

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

(b)

directly related to the development; and

(c)

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Within policy CS27 it is clear that if developments are unable to support the costs of a
planning obligation (other than those essential to allow development to proceed) then
negotiations can occur. Paragraph 57 of the NPPF allows local planning authorities to
assess the weight that is given to a viability assessment having regard to all the
circumstances in the case.
Within policy CS27 (Planning Obligations), the supporting text for this policy states, ‘It is
important that development costs, including the cost of implementing planning obligation
agreements, should not prejudice development that supports North Lincolnshire Council’s
aspiration to see the regeneration, improvement and revitalisation of the area. If it is
claimed that a development is unable to support the costs of a planning obligation (other
than those essential to allow the development to proceed) then this could be the subject of
negotiations. In such cases, the developer will have to demonstrate non-viability via an

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 128

Page 91

“open book” approach.’ The applicant has concerns that the S106 contributions required
would make the scheme unviable. As a result the applicant has submitted a viability report.
This has been independently assessed as requested and instructed by North Lincolnshire
Council. Mark Williams MRICS, a professional expert in this field on behalf of Carter Jonas
LLP, concluded that the scheme is unable to support any affordable housing and off-site
open space contribution.
Therefore, on balance, the removal of the S106 contributions will allow for the delivery of
this residential scheme on this site. The development would contribute positively to the
council’s housing land supply and would provide a mix of housing types on the site. These
benefits are considered to outweigh the loss of the open space contribution and the
affordable housing contribution on the site in this case. The scheme therefore complies with
the relevant policies in the NPPF and Core Strategy which confirm that there can be
flexibility with regard to obligations that would make a scheme financially unviable.
Other issues raised
Residents have raised a number of issues that relate to the approved development on the
site for up to 23 dwellings (PA/2017/1975 (outline) and PA/2020/1413 (reserved matters).
These matters have all been previously assessed within the outline and reserved matters
applications associated with the site. These issues are not material to this application which
is for the modification of the existing S106 agreement to remove the open space and
affordable housing contribution attached to the planning permission.
Conclusion
The removal of the S106 contributions will allow for the delivery of this residential scheme
on this site, thereby increasing the council’s housing land supply and will provide mix of
housing types to meet housing needs in North Lincolnshire. The scheme complies with the
relevant policies in the NPPF and Core Strategy which confirm that there can be flexibility
with regard to obligations that would make a scheme financially unviable. It is therefore
considered that non-viability has been demonstrated and the Section 106 agreement
should therefore be modified to remove the open space and affordable housing contribution
attached to planning permission PA/2017/1975.
RECOMMENDATION

The existing planning obligation be modified by:



removing the open space contribution of £9,460.20 towards maintenance of
Belton Playing Field and Bowling Green; and



removing the affordable housing contribution of 10% of the total number of
dwellings on site.

The removal of these planning obligations will result in there being no section 106
agreement attached to planning permission PA/2017/1975.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 129

Page 92

lc14

Page 130

PA/2020/2028

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

Agenda Item 6
Report of the Group Manager –
Development Management and Building Control

Agenda Item No:
Meeting: 24 March 2021

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
PLANNING AND OTHER APPLICATIONS
FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
1.

OBJECT
1.1

2.

3.

4.

To inform the committee about planning applications and other associated
matters falling within its terms of reference which are ready for determination.

BACKGROUND
2.1

This committee is required under its terms of reference to exercise the
functions of the council as local planning authority for the purposes of the
control of development, including the determination of applications for
planning permission and other applications under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, General Development Orders, and any Orders or Regulations
made thereunder, and in accordance with the council’s planning policies.

2.2

In exercising these functions the committee is required to have regard to the
National Planning Policy Framework, the development plan for the area and
any other material considerations. It will also take account of the duty imposed
by section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and the requirements of the
Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATION
3.1

Items for determination are listed in the attached schedule.

3.2

References to standard time limit conditions and standard outline conditions
mean the conditions automatically applied by sections 91 and 92 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.3

Reports will be updated at the meeting if necessary to take account of
additional relevant information received after publication.

3.4

Plans included with reports are for identification and/or illustrative purposes
only. Applications and supporting documents can be viewed in full on the
planning pages of the council’s web site.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1

There are no staffing or financial implications arising from this report.

4.2

Environmental considerations are of major importance when considering
planning applications and are set out in the individual reports.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 131

Page 93

5.

RECOMMENDATION
5.1

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations
contained in the schedule.

GROUP MANAGER – DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND BUILDING CONTROL
Church Square House
30–40 High Street
SCUNTHORPE
DN15 6NL
Reference: CB/JMC/Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx
Date: 15 March 2021
Background papers used in the preparation of this report:
1.

The applications including accompanying plans and ancillary correspondence.

2.

Statutory and non-statutory consultation letters and responses.

3.

Responses from parish and town councils.

4.

Representations from other bodies or individuals.

5.

Relevant planning policy documents.

6.

Previous relevant planning decisions.

(Pursuant to section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 any document containing
‘exempt information’ is excluded from this list.)
Statement of publication's purpose
The Ordnance Survey map data included within this publication is provided by North
Lincolnshire Council under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public
function to act as a planning authority. Persons viewing this mapping should contact
Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey map
data for their own use.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 132

Page 94

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1345

APPLICANT

Mr Adrian Axe

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to convert existing barn to residential and
erect two detached dwellings with associated works

LOCATION

Barn, Station Road, Owston Ferry

PARISH

Owston Ferry

WARD

Axholme South

CASE OFFICER

Mark Niland

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Departure from development plan

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Paragraph 38 – Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed
development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work proactively
with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.
Paragraph 47 – Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as quickly as possible, and
within statutory timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by the applicant in
writing.
Paragraph 54 – Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning
obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address
unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.
Paragraph 55 – Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where
they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted,
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early is
beneficial to all parties involved in the process and can speed up decision making.
Conditions that are required to be discharged before development commences should be
avoided, unless there is a clear justification.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 133

Page 95

Paragraph 79 – Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated
homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:
(a)

there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of
a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside

(b)

the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would
be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets

(c)

the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its
immediate setting

(d)

the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling, or

(e)

the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture,
and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining
characteristics of the local area.

Paragraph 155 – Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided
by directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).
Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for
its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
Paragraph 159 – If it is not possible for development to be located in zones with a lower risk
of flooding (taking into account wider sustainable development objectives), the exception
test may have to be applied. The need for the exception test will depend on the potential
vulnerability of the site and of the development proposed, in line with the Flood Risk
Vulnerability Classification set out in national planning guidance.
Paragraph 189 – In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any
contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’
importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal
on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have
been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where
necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to
include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where
necessary, a field evaluation.
Paragraph 192 – In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account
of:
(a)

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

(b)

the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 134

Page 96

(c)

the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character
and distinctiveness.

Paragraph 202 – Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a
proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies
but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the
disbenefits of departing from those policies.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, DS7, DS11, DS14, DS16, HE5, HE9, L5, T2, T19,
DS14, RD2, RD10, H5
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS6, CS7, CS8, CS17, CS18,
CS19
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection subject to conditions relating to the laying out of hard paved areas
and a construction phase management plan.
Environment Agency: No objection – the finished floor levels are above the critical
threshold.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objections or comments to make.
Severn Trent: No objections.
Environmental Protection: No objections subject to the imposition of land contamination
conditions.
Conservation: Supports the proposal. The figures are reflective of the enabling work and
the proposed development would not overly impact the setting of listed buildings. Therefore,
no objection subject to conditions.
Ecology: No objections subject to conditions.
Isle of Axholme and North Nottinghamshire Water Level Management Board: No
objections subject to a surface water drainage condition.
Archaeology: The proposed new dwellings are outside the development boundary and will
adversely affect the setting of the Scheduled Monument of Kinaird motte and bailey castle
and the Area of Special Historic Landscape Interest of the Isle of Axholme contrary to local
plan policies HE8 and LC14.
PARISH COUNCIL
No objections.
PUBLICITY
The proposed development has been advertised in accordance with Article 15 of the
Development Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) by means of both site and
press notice.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 135

Page 97

ASSESSMENT
Planning history
PA/2020/1473: Listed building consent to repair and refurbish barn for residential use (Use
Class C3) – not yet determined
PA/2019/1739: Listed building consent to demolish barn – withdrawn 29/09/2020
PA/2019/1668: Full planning permission to demolish listed barn and erect a two-storey
dwelling with associated works – withdrawn 29/09/2020
PA/2015/1558: Listed building consent to convert an existing agricultural barn to dwelling
– approved 20/06/2016
PA/2015/1557: Full planning permission for partial demolition of agricultural/commercial
store building and change of use of listed agricultural barn to residential
dwelling – approved 20/06/2016
PA/1997/1024: Full planning permission to erect a poultry house and construct an aboveground water storage tank – approved 27/10/1997
2/1995/0727:

Outline permission to erect six dwellings and garages (renewal of
2/1992/0239 – approved 08/11/1995

2/1992/0239:

Outline permission to erect six detached houses with garages – approved
11/08/1992

Constraints


flood zone 2/3a – North and North East Lincolnshire SFRA 2011



open countryside – HELA DPD 2016



grade II listed barn



close to the scheduled monument of Kinaird motte and bailey castle.

Site characteristics
The site straddles the development boundary of Owston Ferry: the listed threshing barn is
located inside and the proposed enabling outside. The site is accessed from Station Road
and the barn has a group value, being attached to a row of residential properties. The site is
within flood zone 2/3a (fluvial), and is close to the scheduled monument of Kinaird motte
and bailey castle.
There is a long planning history in relation to the listed barn (see above) with the most
recent applications for planning permission and listed building consent to demolish it being
withdrawn. The barn is in a terribly dilapidated state with one gable end being supported by
scaffold. The roof has caved in with only the two areas near the two gable ends intact. The
internals are held up by an internal steel frame and concrete mezzanine that prevented total
collapse. (The internal works are not sensitive to the building and are a 20th century
modification).

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 136

Page 98

Planning principle
Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy states that, in the countryside, support will be given to
development that promotes rural economic diversification and small-scale employment
opportunities, particularly on previously used land or in existing rural buildings. Tourism
development will also be supported, in particular the development of green tourism making
the most of the area’s important natural and built environments.
Policies CS2 and CS3 attempt to restrict development within the open countryside stating
that any development that takes place outside the defined development limits of
settlements or in rural settlements in the countryside will be restricted. Only development
which is essential to the functioning of the countryside will be allowed to take place. This
might include uses such as those related to agriculture, forestry or other uses which require
a countryside location or which will contribute to the sustainable development of the tourist
industry.
Policy RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with development within the
open countryside and comprises two parts. Firstly, it sets out in principle those development
types that are supported in the open countryside:


part (v) allows for ‘…the re-use and adaptation of existing rural buildings’, and



part (vii) allows for ‘…the replacement, alteration or extension of an existing dwelling.’

The second part is criteria-based allowing for the assessment of those development types.
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF states that planning law requires applications for planning
permission to be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as quickly as
possible, and within statutory timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by the
applicant in writing.
Paragraph 79 (b) states that the development of isolated homes in the countryside should
be avoided unless ‘…the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage
asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage
assets.’
Paragraph 202 states that local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of
a proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies
but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the
disbenefits of departing from those policies.
The proposal involves the erection of two replacement dwellings to enable the restoration of
the grade II threshing barn. The works of restoration are acceptable in principle and not a
departure from the plan. However, the enabling development would result in the erection of
two market dwellings in the open countryside; this element of the proposal is unacceptable
in principle. That said, paragraph 47 of the NPPF tasks the decision taker to consider other
material considerations, whilst paragraphs 79 and 202 ask local planning authorities to
consider a departure on the grounds of enabling development should it secure the future
conservation of a heritage asset.
Therefore, whilst the erection of two market dwellings is a departure, the key issues for
consideration are whether or not the repair and restoration of the heritage asset is
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 137

Page 99

proportionate to the amount of enabling development applied for, the impact of this
development upon the open countryside and historic environment (including the
scheduled monument), and whether or not there are alternatives to the enabling
route to secure the long-term survivability of the listed buildings.
Conservation
Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy is concerned with the historic environment. It states that
the council will seek to protect, conserve and enhance North Lincolnshire’s historic
environment, as well as the character and setting of areas of acknowledged importance,
including historic buildings, conservation areas, listed buildings (both statutory and locally
listed), registered parks and gardens, scheduled ancient monuments and archaeological
remains. All new development must respect and enhance the local character and
distinctiveness of the area in which it would be situated, particularly in areas with high
heritage value. Policy HE5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with listed
buildings and is also considered relevant.
In terms of conservation there are multiple considerations within this assessment: firstly, the
impact of the proposal upon the setting of listed buildings; secondly, whether or not any
alternative to enabling development is available; and lastly, whether or not the amount of
enabling development applied for is commensurate with the works required to bring the
stable (and dovecot) and the carriage house back into optimal viable use.
Impact upon the setting of the listed buildings
The threshing barn is attached to a row of listed dwellings and together they form a group
value. Further afield is the scheduled monument of Kinaird motte and bailey castle and the
enabling development will be within its setting. The conservation officer has no objection to
the impact from the enabling development upon the listed buildings and welcomes the
application given it will result in the barn being brought back to full restoration:
‘Therefore this proposal to refurbish the barn and retain the listed building is welcomed.
Previously the principle of a change of use to residential was seen as acceptable as, due to
its size and modern farm practices, its use a barn was no longer viable. Residential
conversion will ensure the long-term survivability of the listed building.’
and
‘The proposed conversion scheme is virtually the same design that was previously
approved in PA/2015/1558. There has to be some additions and interventions to enable its
use as a residence but importantly its external appearance has still retained its barn
character and appearance. Internally the proposal has an internal gallery arrangement
which will retain an open spacious character when you enter the building. The barn, when
refurbished, will contribute to the setting of Owston Hall and the adjacent numbers 24 and
26 houses and stores, both listed grade II.’
The conservation officer therefore would not harbour any doubts that the setting of the three
listed buildings would not be overly impinged. Policy HE5 states, ‘…Proposals which
damage the setting of a listed building will be resisted.’ However, given the assessment by
the conservation officer, this clearly is not the case. Inevitably there will be some impact
upon the historic environment from the erection of two dwellings in the open countryside,
however they are located at a distance so as to not give rise to any unacceptable impacts

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 138

Page 100

upon the setting of listed buildings. Furthermore, there are also new developments within
the vicinity that are more intrusive upon the existing historic environment.
Impact upon the scheduled monument and special historic landscape (ASHLI)
The archaeologist has expressed concerns that the enabling works would adversely affect
the setting of a scheduled monument as well as the special historic landscape. The officer
states:
‘The proposed new dwellings are outside the development boundary and will adversely
affect the setting of the Scheduled Monument of Kinaird motte and bailey castle and the
Area of Special Historic Landscape Interest of the Isle of Axholme contrary to local plan
policies HE8 and LC14;’
however, in line with paragraph 197, furthers:
‘…The scale of harm to the monument is less than substantial and this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.’
The general view is that the HER welcomes the restoration, though has expressed
concerns that the setting of the scheduled monument and ASHLI would be eroded
unacceptably. The test is that set out above in paragraph 197 in determining whether the
public benefits of the restoration outweigh the impacts upon the setting of the scheduled
monument and the ASHLI. Given the strength of the conservation officer’s response and
the comments made by Historic England on previous applications, the consideration is that
the public benefits of the adaptive re-use of the designated heritage assets do outweigh the
harm to the setting. The archaeologist has put forward conditions in the event the
assessment follows that conclusion; these will be attached.
Enabling development and heritage assets
Paragraph 202 of the NPPF allows local planning authorities to consider enabling
development as a method for securing the long-term survivability of heritage assets.
Historic England sets out good practice advice in ‘Enabling Development and Heritage
Assets’ (June 2020) to guide decision takers through the relevant considerations when
making an assessment of such applications.
The guidance advises that the case for enabling development rests on there being a
conservation deficit. A conservation deficit is defined as ‘…The amount by which the cost of
repair (and conversion to optimum viable use (if appropriate)) of a heritage asset exceeds
its market value on completion of repair and conversion, allowing for all appropriate
development costs.’ The conservation officer has stated, ‘…The applicant has submitted
financial statements (repair quotations and valuations) that show there is a negative
balance of £120,000 in refurbishing the barn. Therefore, the requirement of some enabling
development is seen as valid in this instance to save the listed building and conserve the
setting of the adjacent listed buildings.’
Enabling development is a planning mechanism which permits departure from planning
policies in appropriate cases and so enables conservation of a relevant heritage asset in
cases where otherwise the future of the asset would not be secured. It is not in the public
interest to pursue enabling development if there are alternative means of delivering the
same outcome for the heritage asset, such as other sources of public or private investment.
The guidance describes it as being ‘…[an] inefficient way of raising money for the
Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 139

Page 101

conservation of heritage assets, because it is likely that only a small percentage of the
value of the new development is put towards the repairs and maintenance – the other
percentage going on the costs of the enabling development.’
In terms of the alternatives, whilst the applicant has not communicated that a search for
grant funding has occurred, the planning history would suggest that other routes to saving
the building have been explored. The dilapidated state of the listed building would suggest
that this is the last resort for the building’s survival. Therefore, it would appear that enabling
development is the only realistic route in order to achieve the heritage gain and no other
alternatives reasonably exist.
Lastly, in terms of securing the enabling works, good practice states the following:
‘Using conditions and planning obligations as appropriate to ensure the repair and
maintenance of the asset can be secured and enforced. This will usually necessitate setting
a standard for the conservation works, and making the funds to do so available as early as
possible in the course of the scheme. This would ideally be at the outset and almost
certainly before completion or occupation of the enabling development. Planning obligations
should only be used where it is not possible to ensure the repair and maintenance of the
asset via planning conditions.’
It is therefore considered, in this instance, should permission be approved, the enabling
works could be fairly secured through a planning condition. The conservation officer has
confirmed (as well as the archaeologist) that a residential conversion would be the most
appropriate adaptive re-use and a condition will be attached to ensure the barn is restored
in accordance with drawing number 418-20 dated 20.08.20.
Proportionality of enabling works
The applicant has provided a breakdown that the enabling works would cost approximately
£344,000 (inc VAT): plot 1’s build quote is £176,000 and plot 2’s £170,000, the end value of
the two plots being approximately £600,000 and the suggested asking price for the barn
being £250,000.
As can be seen from the above figures, the positive margin would be approximately
£160,000. Factoring in profitability, abnormal costs and the fluctuating housing market, this
is considered adequate to ensure that the enabling works will be sufficient. The
aforementioned buffer may not necessarily represent total profit; however, what is clear is
that the two dwellings are financially required to be able to carry out the enabling works and
the buffer would potentially protect the scheme from entering into a conservation deficit
following recent events that may affect the stability of the housing market.
Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions controlling materials, as well as a
condition preventing occupation of plot 2 until the works to the listed buildings have been
completed in accordance with the approved plans, the proposal would accord with policies
CS6 of the Core Strategy and HE5 of the local plan.
Flooding and drainage
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy is concerned with flood risk. It states that development in
areas of high flood risk will only be permitted where it meets the following prerequisites:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 140

Page 102

1.

it can be demonstrated that the development provides wider sustainability benefits to
the community and the area that outweigh flood risk

2.

the development should be on previously used land; if not, there must be no
reasonable alternative developable sites on previously developed land

3.

a flood risk assessment has demonstrated that the development will be safe, without
increasing flood risk elsewhere, by integrating water management methods into the
development.

The site is located within flood zone 2/3a within the North Lincolnshire SFRA 2011. The
applicant is therefore required to submit a flood risk assessment as well as pass both the
sequential and exceptions tests given the move to a more vulnerable flood risk
classification (see also paragraphs 100, 101 and 102 of the NPPF).
Sequential test
The applicant has not provided any information on sequential testing. However, the site for
the enabling development is naturally within the ownership of the applicant and therefore
cannot be positioned in a lower flood zone. Furthermore, there are conflicting heritage
concerns in that the location chosen by the applicant represents the least intrusive upon the
historic environment. The sequential test is therefore passed.
Exceptions test
NPPF paragraph 160 states:
‘for the exception test to be passed it should be demonstrated that:
(a)

the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that
outweigh the flood risk; and

(b)

the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its
users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood
risk overall.’

The wider sustainability benefits of this proposal are in the environmental benefits from
securing the long-term survivability of listed buildings and it is considered that this outcome
for the historic environment would provide sufficient wider sustainability benefits to the
community. Part ‘a’ is therefore considered to be passed.
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy is concerned with flooding, whilst policy DS14 of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with both surface water and foul drainage; both
are relevant.
The applicant has submitted a flood risk assessment and outline drainage strategy. The
Shire Group, Environment Agency, LLFA and Severn Trent Water have all been consulted
and have no objections to the scheme subject to the imposition of conditions. It is
considered that this mitigation would make the scheme safe for its lifetime taking account of
the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible,
will reduce flood risk overall; part B of the exceptions test is therefore considered passed.
Conditions from consultees relate to control over surface water disposal and information on
the existing pond. The conditions are considered to comply with the tests for conditionality.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 141

Page 103

Therefore, subject to the aforementioned mitigation, it is considered that the proposal would
accord with policies CS19 of the Core Strategy, and DS14 and DS16 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Character
Policy RD2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with development within the
open countryside. The policy comprises two parts: firstly, it sets out, in principle, those
development types that are acceptable; and secondly, it sets out a criteria-based approach
to assessing those developments. The second part is of interest here in that it seeks to
ensure that the visual amenity of the countryside is not compromised by poor development.
Paragraph ‘c’ of the policy states:
‘...the development would not be detrimental to the character or appearance of the open
countryside or a nearby settlement in terms of siting, scale, massing, design and use of
materials;’
Policy CS5 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy is also relevant. It states ‘…All new
development in North Lincolnshire should be well designed and appropriate for their
context. It should contribute to creating a sense of place’ and ‘Design which is inappropriate
to the local area or fails to maximise opportunities for improving the character and quality of
the area will not be acceptable.’ Policy RD10 also seeks to limit the amount of additional
volume a replacement dwelling within the open countryside secures through planning.
Policy H5 of the local plan, which is concerned with new housing development; policy LC7,
which is concerned with landscape protection; and paragraph 127 of the NPPF, are also
considered relevant.
It should be acknowledged that the applicant’s requirement to achieve an end value
that would not leave a conservation deficit has necessitated the requirement to
propose two, two-storey dwellings. This is acknowledged within the assessment of
character; given the harm on setting, under normal circumstances a reduction in the
height/floor space on upper floors would have taken place.
The site is extremely sensitive due to its proximity to listed buildings and to the scheduled
monument, as well as being located within the ASHLI and open countryside. It must be
noted that the area proposed for the siting of these dwellings is on existing hard standing
that has functioned as a storage area for numerous items. The dwellings would therefore
not be overly unacceptable in their immediate context and would not overly impinge the
group value of the listed buildings. The wider impacts that the archaeologist expresses
concerns over are valid; however, the dwellings are kept to a standard size and could not
realistically fetch the amount required to cover the renovation of the barn if they were
single-storey. Therefore, despite the harm upon the setting of the scheduled monument and
the ASHLI, it is considered that the amount of built form is appropriate. Conditions will be
attached controlling materials.
The proposal is considered, given the constraints of the large amount of enabling required,
to align with policies RD2, RD10, H5 and HE5 of the local plan, and CS5 and CS6 of the
Core Strategy.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 142

Page 104

Ecology
Policy CS17 is concerned with biodiversity and sets out principles for the management of a
scheme in order to achieve a net gain for wildlife habitat networks. Policy LC5 of the local
plan is concerned with protected species. These policies are reinforced by paragraph 170
of the NPPF. All are considered relevant.
The council’s ecologist has been consulted and has no concerns subject to the imposition
of conditions relating to a species protection plan and a biodiversity management plan. It is
therefore considered, subject to the aforementioned mitigation, that the proposal would
align with policies CS17 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy and LC5 of the local plan,
as well as paragraph 170 of the NPPF.
Highways
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan states that all development should be served
by a satisfactory access. Policy T19 is concerned with parking provision as well as general
safety and is also considered relevant.
The applicant has shown on plan an acceptable access arrangement as well as ample offstreet parking provision. The council’s Highways Development Control team have been
consulted and have no objection subject to the imposition of conditions relating to the laying
of hard paved areas prior to occupation and a construction phase traffic management plan.
Therefore, subject to the aforementioned mitigation, the proposal would accord with policies
T2 and T19 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Land contamination
Policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with contaminated land. It
states that permission will only be granted on contaminated sites where a detailed site
survey has been submitted, and a suitable scheme of remedial measures has been agreed
to overcome any existing contamination.
The Environmental Health Officer has assessed the scheme and recommends a condition
requiring the submission of a desk top study, remediation and verification reports. The site
is brownfield and laid to hard standing, and provided a storage area for all types of
machinery; the imposition of this condition is therefore considered reasonable. The
proposal would therefore accord with policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Amenity
Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy is concerned with raising design standards in North
Lincolnshire, whilst H5 of the local plan is concerned with new housing developments; both
are considered relevant. Policy RD2 of the local plan seeks to protect the open countryside
and is also relevant, whilst DS1 of the local plan is partly concerned with the protection of
residential amenity.
The dwellings are located with reasonable space about them, allowing for limited
overbearing impact, whilst all openings are in a location that would not give rise to
unacceptable visual intrusion. The barn is located a sufficient distance away from the
enabling works and its openings would allow only minimal overlooking. The private curtilage
areas for the barn and enabling dwellings are also considered appropriate. The proposal, in
terms of amenity, is therefore considered to align with the aforementioned planning policies.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 143

Page 105

Environmental Issues
Policy DS11 of the local plan is concerned with polluting activities. It states that planning
permission for development, including extensions to existing premises and changes of use,
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that levels of potentially polluting
emissions, including effluent, leachates, smoke, fumes, gases, dust, steam, smell or noise,
do not pose a danger by way of toxic release. Policy DS1 is also concerned with the
protection of amenity.
The council’s Environmental Health department have assessed the application and have no
comments to make in respect of noise, light, odour or dust. Furthermore, environmental
legislation would mitigate these instances should they be problematic during construction.
Given the above mitigation, it is considered that the proposal would accord with policy
DS11 and conditions, as part of this planning application, are not required.
Conclusion
The proposal is considered to be in accordance with paragraph 202 of the NPPF as well as
paragraph 79 (b). The long-term survivability of the designated heritage asset is considered
to represent a sufficiently sound enough material consideration to support a departure from
the plan. The two dwellings proposed would appear to be commensurate with the amount
of enabling work that is required. A condition will prevent occupation of the second dwelling
until the restoration of the listed barn has been completed to the satisfaction of the local
planning authority. All other conditions that lead to mitigation are outlined within this report.
Pre-commencement conditions
There is a requirement under the Town and Country Planning (Pre-Commencement
Conditions) Regulations 2018 for local planning authorities to either agree the imposition of
pre-commencement conditions or give requisite notice that they will be attached. Section 4
sets out the following:
A notice referred to in paragraph (1)(a) must include—
(a)

the text of the proposed pre-commencement condition;

(b)

the full reasons for the proposed condition, set out clearly and precisely;

(c)

the full reasons for the proposed condition being a pre-commencement condition, set
out clearly and precisely; and

(d)

notice that any substantive response must be received by the authority or, as the
case may be, the Secretary of State no later than the last day of the period of 10
working days beginning with the day after the date on which the notice is given.

This process has been adhered to and all pre-commencement conditions included in the
recommendation are considered to be in accordance with the above legislative
requirements.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 144

Page 106

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: 418/20 2/5; 418-20 3/5; 418-20 4/5 and 418-20 5/5.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
Prior to the occupation of the dwelling marked as Plot 2 on the site plan (dwg 5/5 41820 dated 28.08.20) the barn shall be restored in accordance with approved plan 418-20 2/5
41808.20. The applicant must evidence these works through both written documentation
and photomontage, and this is to be agreed in writing with the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to align with the terms of this planning
permission, in accordance with policies CS6 of the Core Strategy and HE5 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
4.
Prior to any above-ground works, details of all external materials, including those for
the barn and the enabling development, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the
local planning authority
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policies HE2 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan and CS6 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
5.
Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a detailed scheme showing the position and
type of boundary treatments shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local
planning authority. The agreed scheme shall be retained thereafter.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policies CS6 of the North
Lincolnshire Core Strategy and HE2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
6.
No development shall take place until a detailed flood risk statement and drainage strategy
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation, and future adoption and maintenance, of

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 145

Page 107

the sustainable drainage features in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan, and policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
7.
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the above condition and,
shall be completed prior to the occupation of any dwelling or building within each phase or
sub-phase of the development on site, and thereafter retained and maintained in
accordance with the scheme for the life of the development unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the local planning authority.
Reason
To prevent the increased risk of flooding to themselves and others, to improve and protect
water quality, and to ensure the implementation, and future adoption and maintenance, of
the sustainable drainage features in accordance with policy DS16 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan, and policies CS18 and CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
8.
The dwelling shall not be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle parking
and turning space(s) serving it have been completed and, once provided, the vehicle
parking and turning space(s) shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
9.
No development shall take place until a species protection plan has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include details of
measures to avoid harm to hedgehogs, reptiles, bats and nesting birds during demolition,
vegetation clearance and construction works.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policy LC5 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan and policy CS17 of the Core Strategy.
10.
Within three months of the commencement of development, the applicant or their successor
in title shall submit a biodiversity management plan to the local planning authority for
approval in writing.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
11.
The species protection plan and biodiversity management plan shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and timings, and the approved features shall be
retained thereafter, unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The applicant or their successor in title shall submit photographs of the installed bat
roosting and bird nesting features, and planted trees and shrubs, within two weeks of
installation, as evidence of compliance with this condition.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 146

Page 108

Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
12.
No alteration or development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or
successors in title, has produced an historic building record in accordance with a written
specification, including a timetable for the recording, which has been submitted by the
applicant and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policy CS6.
13.
The historic building recording shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
and timings, subject to any variations agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policy CS6 of the Core
Strategy.
14.
The historic building archive shall be deposited at the North Lincolnshire Historic
Environment Record within six months of the date of commencement of the development
hereby approved by this permission or such other period as may be agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policy CS6 of the Core
Strategy.
15.
No development shall take place until detailed scale drawings, which include both
elevations and cross-sections of the proposed windows and doors, with material
specification to be used on the new buildings and the listed barn, have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policy CS6 of the Core
Strategy.
16.
Details of the repair and replacement of the timber roof elements shall be agreed with the
local planning authority prior to the work starting on the roof and retained thereafter.
Reason
In the interest of the historic environment and to accord with policy CS6 of the Core
Strategy.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 147

Page 109

17.
The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the resilience measures
put forward as part of the exceptions test. These details are contained with the flood risk
assessment carried out by Howard J Wroot and dated 20th August 2020.
Reason
To protect existing and future residents from the risk of flooding and to accord with policy
CS19 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
18.
Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than that
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not
commence until parts 1 to 4 below have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is
found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the local planning
authority in writing until part 4 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
Part 1: Site Characteristics
A Phase 1 desk study shall be carried out to identify and evaluate all potential sources of
contamination and the impacts on land and/or controlled waters, relevant to the site. The
desk study shall establish a 'conceptual model' of the site and identify all plausible pollutant
linkages. Furthermore, the assessment shall set objectives for intrusive site investigation
works/Quantitative Risk Assessment (or state if none required). Two full copies of the desk
study and a non-technical summary shall be submitted to the local planning authority for
approval prior to proceeding to further site investigation.
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The
contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a
written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval
in writing of the local planning authority. The report of the findings must include:
(i)

a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

(ii)

an assessment of the potential risks to:
- human health;
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland, and service lines and pipes;
- adjoining land;
- groundwaters and surface waters;
- ecological systems;
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 148

Page 110

(iii)

an appraisal of remedial options, and a proposal of the preferred option(s).

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model
Procedures for the management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Part 2: Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in
writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
Part 3: Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning
authority must be given two weeks’ written notification of commencement of the remediation
scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the
approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Part 4: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the local planning authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with the requirements of Part 1, and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 2,
which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local
planning authority in accordance with Part 3.
Reason
To ensure the site is safe for future users and construction workers.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 149

Page 111

lc14
development_boundary

Page 150

PA/2020/1345

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/1345 Proposed layout (not to scale)
Location Plan 1:2500

Block Plan 1:500

PLOT
1
Enablin
g
Dev elop
ment

PLOT
2
Enablin
g
Dev elop
ment
App rove
d Bui
lding Plo
PA/ 20
17/37
ts
1

Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Shared

PLOT
2
Enabli
ng
Develo
pmen
t

Access

Barn Residential Curtilage
Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Appro
x
of Co de ve lop
me
re St
rateg nt line
y

Courtyard

Bins

PLOT
1
Enabli
ng
Develo
pmen
t

Shared
Access

Statio
n Roa
d

THE HALL

Appro
ved B
uild
PA/20
17/37 ing Plots
1

Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Barn Residential Curtilage

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Acces
s

Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Site Plan 1:1250

App
r ox
deve
of C
lopm
ore
en
Stra
tegy t line

Courtyard

PLOT
1
Enablin
g
Develo
pment

PLOT
2
Enablin
g
Develo
pment

Bins

Page 151

Share
d

Approv
ed Bui
ldin
PA/201
7/371 g Plots

Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Share

d Acce
ss

Barn Residential Curtilage
Site Level 5.1m AOD
FFL @ 5.3m AOD

Courtyard

Shared

Acces
s

Shared
Ac cess

THE HALL

Howard J Wroot BSc MRICS
Chartered Surveyor
240 Wharf Road, Ealand
Scunthorpe DN17 4JN

Tel 01724 711068
Fax 01724 710174
Mob 07947 226577

Client Mr A Axe
Date 20/8/20 Dwg No
Scale As noted Ref No

Statio

5 of 5
418-20

Proposal
Drawing

Bins

App
rox
dev
of C
elop
ore
men
Stra
tegy t line

Barn Conversion adj 24 Station Road,
Owston Ferry, Doncaster, DN9 1AW.
Location, Site and Block Plans

Statio
n Roa
d

PA/2020/1345 Exsting barn elevations (not to scale)

Page 152

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1729

APPLICANT

Mr Daniel Smith

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to erect a first-floor extension to the front
and a two-storey extension with balcony to the rear, with
associated external alterations

LOCATION

Cemetery Lodge, 30 Wrawby Road, Brigg, DN20 8DT

PARISH

Brigg

WARD

Brigg and Wolds

CASE OFFICER

Scott Jackson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Objection by Brigg Town Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Paragraph 124 states that the creation of highquality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: Policies DS1 and DS5 apply.
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: Policies CS1, CS2 and CS5 apply.
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objection or comments.
Environmental Protection: No objection, but recommend a condition.
TOWN COUNCIL
Object on the grounds that the materials proposed are not in keeping with the existing
building.
PUBLICITY
A site notice has been displayed and one response has been received objecting to the
proposals on the following grounds:


the building is characterful and deserves to be treated respectfully

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 153

Page 112



it will have jarring features which will be out of keeping with the street scene



the rear of the house is visible from within the cemetery and deserves to be extended
sympathetically



the materials and features ignore the simple form and construction of the existing house



the design and materials are inappropriate.

ASSESSMENT
The application site consists of a two-storey detached dwelling which forms the entrance
gatehouse to the cemetery on Wrawby Road in Brigg. The original part of the dwelling has
a number of external features which add to its character including arched window and door
frames, bay window to the front, stone cills and lintels with quoin detailing to the window
flanks, an oriel window and tower with gable detailing and coping stones. It has been
extended with a two-storey red brick and slate tile extension to the side and the garden is
located to the front and side with parking available to the front. Planning permission is
sought to erect a first-floor extension to the front and a two-storey extension with balcony to
the rear.
The main issues in the determination of this application are the impact on the
character and appearance of the building/street scene and upon residential amenity.
Impact on building/street scene
The most visually prominent aspect of the proposals is the erection of a first-floor extension
to the front of the dwelling. This will occupy a position forward of the two-storey side
extension and above the existing single-storey sloping roof projection. The plans have been
amended and show the extension to the principal elevation to be finished in vertical timber
cladding with a bay window projection at ground floor and a gable projection, which is of
similar roof pitch to the original dwelling, immediately to the west of the principal elevation.
The inclusion of the bay window to the front adds visual interest and a sense of balance to
the appearance of the dwelling. The inclusion of the projecting gable feature and the bay
window to the front elevation of this extension replicates the appearance of the principal
elevations of the pairs of semi-detached houses immediately to the east of the site along
the southern side of Wrawby Road. Some of the design cues have therefore been taken
from existing houses in this part of Brigg.
The position and size of the windows are considered proportionate to those along the
principal elevation of the original part of the dwelling and the reduced height of the gable
projection in the front roof slope ensures the original dwelling and its architectural features
remain visually dominant and legible in the street scene (when viewed from Wrawby Road).
It is noted that the use of timber cladding introduces another material to the external
appearance of the dwelling; however, this is a small section at first-floor level which will
weather into a grey colour over time thereby ensuring visual assimilation with the colouring
of the roof tiles (slate) and the grey aluminium window and door fittings in the extended
parts of the dwelling. In addition, the colouring of the timber cladding, when first introduced
will be reddish/brown; this will ensure the appearance of the front extension is similar to
that of the existing dwelling in its extended form. Given this extension will not protrude any
further forward than the principal elevation of the original dwelling, that its ridge line will be
positioned lower than the main ridge line of the dwelling, that the window openings will be

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 154

Page 113

proportionate to the size of the existing openings and that the original dwelling will remain
visually predominant, the proposed first-floor extension to the front is not considered to
result in an alien or discordant feature in the street scene.
It is worth noting that the amended plans have removed the proposal to erect a flat-roof
addition to the front of this dwelling. The amended proposal is considered more acceptable
in visual amenity terms.
It is also proposed to erect a two-storey extension to the rear of the dwelling. This is of a
tower design with a feature window of vertical proportions extending between the top
section of the ground-floor window to a position level with the slit window in the original part
of the house. The inclusion of this feature window adds visual interest to the rear elevation
of the dwelling when viewed from within the cemetery to the south and southwest. The
width of the tower is similar to the existing tower feature to the west and the reduced height
of this feature ensures the tower, with its oriel window on the original part of the house
remains visually predominant in the street scene. The inclusion of the smaller slit windows
in the eastern and western sides of the proposed two-storey extension adds a sense of
balance and mimics the proportions of the larger feature window proposed in the southern
elevation (of the extension). The inclusion of the balcony with a glass screen to its eastern
edge adds a modern feature to the rear elevation of the building but this will be screened to
the rear of the site and will be attached to the modern addition to the dwelling (the existing
two-storey side extension). In conclusion, it is considered that these modern additions to
both the front and rear of the dwelling will not jar visually with the original features of the
house and will not form alien or discordant features in the street scene or from within the
cemetery. In addition, the original part of the dwelling, with its architectural detailing, will
remain visually dominant and legible in the street scene and therefore, on this basis, no
issues are raised in relation to the design, siting or height of these extensions.
Residential amenity
No habitable room windows are proposed in the side elevations on the first floor of the
extensions, therefore no overlooking will take place. The main issue is the inclusion of the
balcony and the potential for this to result in overlooking of the gardens to the east; this
includes the new dwelling approved on the site to the east under planning application
PA/2018/971. The plans show the inclusion of a glass screen to be positioned along the
eastern side of the balcony and this extends in height to level with the eaves. Given the
potential for overlooking of residential gardens to the east, it is considered both necessary
and reasonable that this glass screen is fitted with obscure glazing to a minimum
obscuration level 4 in accordance with the Pilkington Scale of Obscuration and that it is a
minimum of 2 metres in height from the floor of the balcony it will serve. The remainder of
the balcony will have an outlook to the south and west; this is across the cemetery and no
issues are raised in relation to overlooking in this regard.
Conclusion
It is considered that these modern additions to both the front and rear of the dwelling will
not jar visually with the original features of the house and will not form alien or discordant
features in the street scene or from within the cemetery. In addition, with the necessary
conditions in place it is considered that the proposed development will not result in
overlooking towards the gardens of neighbouring properties to the east. The application is
therefore recommended for approval.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 155

Page 114

RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: T559-001 B, T553-004 B, T553-005 B, T559-007 B and
TQRQM20301151237141.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
The balcony hereby approved shall not be brought into first use until the glass screen
shown on drawing T533-005 B has been installed with obscure glazing to a minimum code
level 4 in accordance with the Pilkington Scale of Obscuration at a height of 2 metres from
the floor level of the balcony along its eastern side and once installed it shall thereafter be
retained.
Reason
To define the terms of the permission and in the interests of safeguarding residential
amenity in accordance with policies DS1 and DS5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
4.
Notwithstanding the materials schedule outlined in section 5 of the planning application
form, the roof of the extensions hereby permitted shall be constructed from tiles to match
the colour and appearance of the existing roof of the dwelling and once constructed it shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason
To define the terms of the permission and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance
with policies DS1 and DS5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and CS5 of the adopted
Core Strategy.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 156

Page 115

development_boundary

Page 157

PA/2020/1729

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

Sh

elt
er

7.
1m

PA/2020/1729 Proposed layout (not to scale)

Sh

elt
er

WR
AW
BY
RO
AD

Page 158

Client

Project

Status

Scale
Rev Revision Note

By

Checked

Approved

Date

Dwg No

PA/2020/1729 Proposed elevations (not to scale)

Page 159
Client

Project

Status

Scale
Rev Revision Note

By

Checked

Approved

Date

Dwg No

PA/2020/1729 3D images (not to scale)

Page 160
Client

Project

Status

Scale
Rev Revision Note

By

Checked

Approved

Date

Dwg No

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/2050

APPLICANT

Mr L Kirkland

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to erect a two-storey and single-storey
extension to the rear

LOCATION

Rotherlea, A161 between Epworth and Haxey, Low Burnham,
DN9 1DA

PARISH

Haxey

WARD

Axholme South

CASE OFFICER

Kevin Robinson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Objection by Haxey Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Section 12
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, DS5, RD2, RD10, T2, T19
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No response received.
Historic Environment Record: Object to the proposal on grounds of intrusion into the
historic landscape.
PARISH COUNCIL
Object to the proposal raising the following concerns, although comment that the property
has previously been extended under PA/2019/2032 to which they did not object:


the property is located away from the settlement in open countryside



the property is one of the oldest in the area but not listed



the proposal would severely affect the character of the property



the extension would nearly double the footprint of the original building and be a
dominant feature in the setting (LC14) and in the approach to Low Burnham.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 161

Page 116

PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site notice adjacent to the property. No comments
have been received.
ASSESSMENT
Planning history
PA/2019/2032: Planning permission to erect two-storey and single-storey rear extension –
approved 30 January 2020.
The two-storey element of this approval extended for half the width of the rear elevation,
with a single-storey extension to the remaining half of the width of the property.
Site characteristics
The property forms a detached dwelling on the A161 between Epworth and Haxey at Low
Burnham. It is a double-fronted dwelling that faces onto the highway with a small buffer
garden to the front. The plot extends to the rear where an existing detached double garage
with apex roof is sited. The proposal seeks to extend the property at two heights for the full
width of the property projecting out for approximately 4.8 metres and then provide a singlestorey extension to link to the existing garage at 7.8 metres.
The following considerations are relevant to this proposal:


residential amenity



appearance

Residential amenity
Policy DS5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with residential extensions. It
states that applications for residential extensions and the erection of garages, outbuildings,
walls and other structures will be allowed providing that the proposal does not unreasonably
reduce sunlight or daylight, or result in overshadowing, overbearing impact or loss of
privacy to adjacent dwellings. Proposals should also be sympathetic in design, scale and
materials to the existing dwelling and its neighbours.
This proposal is situated to the rear of the property. With no immediate neighbours it is not
considered that there would be any appreciable effect upon any neighbouring amenity from
the proposal.
It is therefore considered that the proposal would not carry any overbearing, overlooking or
overshadowing impacts that would be detrimental to the residential amenity rights of
adjoining neighbours and aligns with policy DS5.
Appearance
The site is located outside of any defined settlement boundaries in the open countryside.
Policy RD10 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan therefore applies and sets out the criteria
for extensions to properties in the countryside. The policy states that proposals to replace,
extend or alter dwellings in the open countryside will only be permitted provided that:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 162

Page 117



the volume of the proposed extension or alteration does not exceed that of the original
dwelling by 20%, exclusive of the normal permitted development rights, and the original
dwelling forms the dominant visual feature of the dwelling as extended;



all new construction is of a high standard of design and in particular reflects the
architecture of the building and/or vernacular styles in the locality; and



the appearance or use of the dwelling as replaced, extended or altered will not
adversely affect the amenity of local residents or the appearance of the locality.

Policy LC14 of the local plan is also relevant. It seeks to protect the Special Historic
Landscape of the Isle of Axholme. The policy resists development which would adversely
affect the character, appearance and setting of the historic landscape, and seeks to control
development types whilst promoting high standards of design. Schemes which improve the
landscape are also supported.
Policies DS5 of the local plan and CS5 of the Core Strategy are concerned with visual
amenity, the former stating that proposals should be sympathetic in design, scale and
materials.
The proposal would result in a significant increase in the size, scale and massing of the
property. In this case it is acknowledged that the proposal represents more than 20%
additional volume to the existing dwelling allowed by policy RD10 of the North Lincolnshire
Local Plan. Notwithstanding this, the volume permitted under policy RD10 does not take
into account permitted development rights and the applicant could therefore extend the
property by a significant amount if they chose to exercise those permitted development
rights. The intention of this policy and the volume restriction set out within it is to protect the
character of the open countryside. In this regard the proposed extension is to the rear of the
property and links the host property to the existing detached garage, reducing its visual
intrusion. These factors serve to ensure that the host property remains readable as the
principal form of development to the site. In terms of impact upon the open character of the
wider location, the majority of views taking in the proposed extension would be seen
against the property with a traditional feature of rear projections dropping down in scale
from the principal building at the frontage. Given this it is considered, subject to controls to
ensure that appropriate materials are used to reflect the host property, that the proposal
would not result in any significant effect upon the character of the area.
It is therefore considered that the proposal is in accordance with policies LC14, RD10, DS5
and CS5.
Highway safety
Policy T2 of the local plan states that all development should be served by a satisfactory
access. Policy T19 of the local plan is concerned with parking provision. Both are
considered relevant. The highways officer has been consulted upon the application, and
whilst no response has been received, it is noted that the proposal would not amend the
access for the site or impact upon the available parking, with sufficient space remaining for
vehicles to turn within the site and enter the highway in a forward gear. As such it is not
considered that there would be any adverse impacts upon highway safety or parking
contrary to policy T2.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 163

Page 118

Conclusion
The proposal would result in a notable increase in massing to this rural property.
Notwithstanding this increase, it is considered, due to the use of reducing heights and the
built form being contained between the property and the existing garage, that there would
not be a significant effect upon the character of the area or the Special Historic Landscape
Area in which it sits. The proposal would not result in any adverse impacts upon any
neighbouring amenity and would not have any appreciable effect upon highway safety. As
such the proposal is recommended for approval subject to conditions to control the
materials used in the extension.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Existing and Proposed Plans and Elevations ref ROTHER/AF/001 Rev A
dated 22 November 2020.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
The materials to be used in the construction of the extension hereby approved shall be as
provided in question 5 of the submitted application form.
Reason
In the interest of visual amenity and to accord with policies LC14, RD10 and DS5 of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan, and policy CS5 of the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 164

Page 119

lc14
development_boundary

Page 165

PA/2020/2050

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/2050 Existing and proposed plans and elevations (not to scale)

072379
023ÿ050613789

072379
28 3 ÿ050613789

072379
98 3 ÿ050613789

 8820
0123ÿ050613789

 8820
023ÿ050613789

 8820
28 3 ÿ050613789

 8820
98 3 ÿ050613789

0 88ÿ

0 88ÿ

29 

29 

58 90




093 190ÿ155



8 
2013

23005ÿ012

90
798
8273789

88ÿ51930 9



0 88ÿ

1230
0 88

0 88ÿ

58 90
73 09

13 88

0 88ÿ

1  80
1230
0 88

092 730

37573

!

 





!

$%&'()*ÿ$$+ÿ5,&-*%&

072379ÿ 8 9
588 ÿ519

072379ÿ723
588 ÿ519

798 ÿ2 0 50
 ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##
ÿ ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##ÿ8
 ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##
! ÿ"ÿ##
 ÿ"ÿ##
  ÿ"ÿ##

789:;<ÿ=>:<?

@>V:NNÿ=;9XÿYBFNO Mÿ05SL1ÿ4104T5
UBVÿWF9<Q;X
.ÿ01230ÿ413ÿ563
JB<A;N?O9
PBF?QÿRB9HNQ:9O @ÿAB<?;A?CD>:<?EF:>8GABGFH
JK3ÿL7M
IÿD>:<?EF:>8GABGFH

\'*&-]
%ÿ_ÿ%^ÿ'%f\,&a
$-)*%\*,
,"*gÿ$,a
5$Zÿh%&),#
$&(,^-*%ÿ9!ÿ0



7979ÿ1 01

093 190ÿ155



!

73 09


13 88


90
798
8273789

 

37573

     















870



Page 166

 

072379
0123ÿ050613789

!

 8820ÿ 8 9
588 ÿ519

 8820ÿ723
588 ÿ519

%,Z'&[ÿ3'-\*]
0"'^-'&[ÿ_ÿ%$`$^*aÿ̀\,&^ÿ,&aÿ*\*b,-'$&^
%,Z'&[ÿ&$]
83 0 c1c
,-*]
&aÿ9$b*#d*%ÿ
2(,\*]
]ÿeÿ1

*b]

ÿÿÿ1

APPLICATION NO

PA/2021/20

APPLICANT

Mr & Mrs S Watson

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to erect a dwelling

LOCATION

Lavenham House, Fields Road, East Lound, DN9 2LR

PARISH

Haxey

WARD

Axholme South

CASE OFFICER

Brian McParland

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Objection by Haxey Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Paragraph 8 – Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the
different objectives):
(a)

an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity;
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

(b)

a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of
present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe built
environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and

(c)

an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural,
built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

Paragraph 11(d) – Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development:

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 167

Page 120

(d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:
(i)

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

(ii)

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, DS4, DS7, DS14, RD2, LC14, T2, T19
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS6, CS7, CS8, CS18, CS19
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection subject to a condition relating to access, parking and turning.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): No objection subject to a condition requiring the
submission of a flood risk statement and drainage statement.
Historic Environment Record: No objection subject to a condition removing permitted
development rights to avoid unregulated upwards extension of the dwelling that would
negatively affect the setting of the protected historic landscape.
Ecology: No objection.
PARISH COUNCIL
Objects on the following grounds:
This area is poorly drained and has a history of flooding; further development may
exacerbate the problem.
It is regarded as backland development, there being only two properties to the rear, both of
which are old and, by location, historic.
It is as identified in the Design and Access Statement (DAS) as being outside the building
envelope. The purpose of building envelopes is to stop urban sprawl. East Lound is located
in the Isle of Axholme Historic Environment (LC14) and observation of building envelopes is
particularly important. The parish council agrees with the DAS that HERS should form part
of the consultation process and welcomes this recommendation.
Access will be by Fields Road – this is an old track and not, as the name suggests, a
metalled or adopted highway. The status of this road is not determined, and it is being
considered for registration with a lower status in the future. Both tracks that could be used
to service this property are not suitable for further increases in traffic use and therefore the
parish council considers access an issue and considers this does not meet the needs of
policy T2.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 168

Page 121

East Lound is a rural settlement and in the Sustainable Settlement Survey 2016 scored 65,
which is at the lower end of the score, and is classed as minimum growth. North
Lincolnshire Settlement Survey 2018 (2019 Revision) states that development away from
the defined settlements is unlikely to meet all the elements of sustainable development,
particularly access to a range of services, except those normally acceptable in the
countryside.
The settlement has no amenities and it is considered the vast majority of people access
amenities either at Haxey or the larger conurbations by vehicle. While the local plan
encourages less polluting development, it is clear in the case of East Lound that it is more
likely to create a need for more polluting travel, either for work or to access amenities, a
point the parish council makes quite often, as in their view this section of the local plan is
mis-quoted in relation to rural areas.
The DAS states an economic objective: ‘land of the right type in the right places and right
time to support growth.’ This site is located within the LC14, outside the development limits
and the parish council considers it fails this test.
The DAS states a social objective to provide a range of homes. Once more it is clear the
area has a range of private dwelling developments, yet little or no social housing and
affordable housing; again, the parish council considers it therefore does not meet any
identified housing need or social objective.
The DAS states the environmental objective: ‘to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
natural built and historic environment.’ While presenting a well-designed modern dwelling, it
is within the LC14 and is out of character with older properties close by, and given its
location does not take account of North Lincolnshire Council’s North Lincolnshire
Countryside Design Summary.
It does not in their opinion accord with the development plan. In particular, due to its
location, it should be weighed against the policies relating to the LC14 and rural
development section of the local plan, which is specific in restricting development, in
particular non-agriculture and forestry development, and again identified in the DAS.
In assessing this proposal any grant of permission would almost certainly set a precedent
and give rise to further development of what are largely rural properties that have
characteristic large gardens and lead to changing the whole character of this hamlet and
impact on the character of the LC14.
PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site and press notice as a departure from the local
plan. Three responses have been received, two in support and one objection. The one
objection received is summarised below and will be addressed in the body of the report:


a previous planning application was refused (PA/2005/1127)



impact on flooding



impact on the LC14 (historic land)



impact on privacy

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 169

Page 122



the proposal would set a precedent.

ASSESSMENT
The main issues to be considered are whether adequate justification can be
demonstrated regarding the principle of the development, and impact on character
and design, neighbouring amenity, drainage, land quality, ecology and highways.
The site
The application site forms part of the rear garden serving Lavenham House. The site of is a
generous size and benefits from trees, grassland, vegetation and residential garden
features (greenhouse and wooden garage etc). It is acknowledged that Lavenham House
lies within the inner edge of the designated rural settlement of East Lound; however, the
rear garden would be within the open countryside and straddle the settlement boundary.
The site is not within a conservation area, does not relate to a listed building and does not
relate to any tree preservation orders (TPOs). It is within SFRA flood zone 1 (low), and it
does fall within policy LC14 land (Area of Special Historic Landscape Interest) in the Isle of
Axholme.
Proposal
Full planning permission is sought to erect a single-storey detached dwelling and a singlestorey detached garage/workshop to the north-west corner of the application site.
The proposed three-bedroom family dwelling would have an irregular footprint consisting of
a main section, finished with a single pitched roof, and two adjoining portions to the north
and south, both finished with flat roofs. An adjacent car port is noted to the west elevation
attached to the dwelling. Proposed materials include, render, stone, timber (walls), metal
and membrane (roofs). The proposed dwelling would benefit from a modest garden and the
site would be defined by a new 1.8 metre high timber fence (and a rendered wall to the
west). Reciprocal planting is also suggested along the site boundaries.
The proposed garage/workshop would occupy the same location as the existing garage;
however, it would have a larger footprint. The proposed garage would have the following
design: a width of 10 metres by a depth of 7.5 metres, with a maximum height of 3 metres,
finished with a flat roof.
The proposed dwelling would be accessed via Fields Road (from the west). A drive and
turning area are also provided.
Principle of development
The site is located outside the adjacent settlement boundary and the proposal would
represent a departure from the development plan. In determining whether the principle of
residential development outside the settlement boundary is acceptable in this instance, it is
necessary to consider whether the proposed development is sustainable in planning policy
terms.
The development plan for North Lincolnshire comprises three parts: those policies of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan (2003) (LP) which were saved by a direction of the Secretary

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 170

Page 123

of State in September 2007, the North Lincolnshire Core Strategy DPD (2011) (CS), and
the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD (2016) (HELAP).
Local plan saved policy RD2 restricts development in the open countryside other than in
exceptional circumstances. This policy only supports residential development outside
defined development limits where it is to meet an essential proven need and the open
countryside is the only appropriate location for the development. Whilst this policy remains,
it has largely been overtaken by policies in subsequent plans addressing the same issue
(such as policies CS2 and CS3 referenced above).
The aforementioned policies are aimed at focusing housing within settlement limits as
defined in the Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD. The application site is
outside the defined settlement boundary for East Lound and would not meet the criteria for
development within the open countryside as outlined in policy RD2 of the local plan. The
proposal is thereby considered to be in conflict policies CS2, CS3 and CS8 of the Core
Strategy.
Notwithstanding the development plan policies set out above, the NPPF is a material
consideration when determining planning applications. Paragraph 11 and Footnote 7
(page 6) of the NPPF states the presumption in favour of sustainable development applies
for applications involving the provision of housing where the local planning authority cannot
demonstrate a five-year supply of housing and that housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
It is acknowledged that the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year housing
land supply; therefore, the housing policies are considered out of date. As such the ‘tilted
balance’ and paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF, which is a material consideration in
determination planning applications, is relevant.
There are three dimensions to sustainable development as set out in paragraph 8 of the
NPPF: economic, social and environmental. The additional population with the occupation
of the dwelling and self-build nature of the proposal would represent an economic benefit.
Notably, the site is near Haxey with its wider selection of services available. In terms of
environmental benefits, there is a footpath to the south which is well connected to the
surrounding locality and would encourage footfall connectivity. There are also two bus stops
along Brackenhill Road to the west, within a five-minute walk from the site. The location of
the dwelling would support and sustain the existing services in the local area. Moreover, it
is considered the location of the proposal would not be dependent on car travel. The above
matters weigh heavily in favour of the proposal in terms of the economic, social and
environmental dimensions of sustainability. As a result, it is considered the proposed
dwelling would be situated within a sustainable location.
The application site is within the open countryside and in an Area of Special Historic
Landscape Interest (policy LC14). As such, a clear reason for refusing the development
must be outlined. The application site abuts the settlement boundary and it is
acknowledged there are two existing dwellings to the north of the application site (The
Cottage and Rose Cottage); both dwellings are in residential use. This would result in the
application site being considered a gap site, albeit situated closer to the settlement
boundary than both The Cottage and Rose Cottage. Considering this, it is suggested, given
the location of the dwellings to the north, that the northern edge of the East Lound
settlement boundary has incidentally been extended which would encompass the

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 171

Page 124

application site. As a result, the proposed dwelling would represent a form of infill-type
development.
A key determination in the principle of development is balancing the impact of harm against
the associated benefits, as per paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. Although the proposal would
be in conflict with development plans (that is, policies CS2, CS3 and CS8 of the Core
Strategy and RD2 of the local plan), the proposal would provide the benefit of a modest
dwelling contribution on a brownfield site (residential garden) outside development limits,
which is less protected and within a locality which generally consists of existing housing and
built-up features. Furthermore, regarding policy LC14 (Area of Special Historic Landscape
Interest) the council’s archaeologist has no objection to the proposal. As such, there is little
evidence to suggest the proposal would give rise to adverse impacts which would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.
On balance, it is considered that, although the development plans would preclude such type
of development, in the absence of a five-year housing land supply and in the presumption in
favour of sustainable development stipulated within the NPPF, whilst considering the
surrounding pattern of development, the principle of development would be acceptable,
subject to the considerations below.
Impact on character and design
The NPPF attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Paragraph 130
states that permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take
the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area. Policy DS1 of
the North Lincolnshire Local Plan (adopted May 2003) and policy CS5 of the Core Strategy
(adopted June 2011) are concerned with quality of design and amenity. In respect of impact
on character, policy DS1 states that the design and external appearance of the proposal
should reflect or enhance the character, appearance and setting of the immediate area.
Policy LC14 states the Isle of Axholme is designated as an area of Special Historic
Landscape Interest. Within this area, development will not be permitted which would
destroy, damage, or adversely affect the character, appearance or setting of the historic
landscape, or any of its features.
The proposed dwelling would front onto Fields Road track and would not be visible from the
main street scene of Brackenhill Road due to the siting of the in-situ corner dwelling (South
View) which would provide a sufficient degree of obscurity. The proposed dwelling would be
well-balanced within the plot. The proposed planting and boundary treatments would
improve integration whilst offering a degree of visual mitigation. The single-storey/flat-roof
nature of both the dwelling and the garage/workshop would result in a low-impact design
which would not visually compete with the neighbouring dwellings. It is acknowledged that
the proposal would appear as a moderately contemporary proposal; however, it would
preserve the rural context of the site. Additionally, the proposal would improve the
appearance and attractiveness of the site in the interest of placemaking. The council’s
archaeologist has no objection to the proposal, subject to the removal of permitted
development rights (upward extension).
The proposed amenity space to the rear would be sufficient to meet the needs of the
occupants of the proposed dwelling; however, given the proximity of the dwelling to its side
and rear boundaries and the general character of space within the wider area, permitted
development rights would need to partly be removed through the use of a condition
(enlargement, extensions and outbuildings/enclosures). This would ensure future occupants

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 172

Page 125

would have to apply for planning permission to erect any extensions, outbuildings/garages
to the dwelling.
It is considered that the proposal would not prejudice the character, appearance and setting
of the local area. Furthermore, the proposal would not adversely affect the character,
appearance or setting of the historic landscape, or any of its features. As such, the proposal
would be in accordance with policies DS1 and LC14 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan,
and policies CS5 and CS6 of the Core Strategy.
Neighbouring amenity
Policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and policy CS5 of the Core Strategy are
concerned with quality of design and amenity. In respect of impact on amenity, policy DS1
states that no unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring land uses should result in
terms of noise, smell, fumes, dust or other nuisance, or through the effects of overlooking or
overshadowing.
The proposed dwelling would be set-in from the north boundary and would be of a modest
single-storey design; the amenities of the two properties to the north (The Cottage and
Rose Cottage) would therefore not be detrimentally impacted. Additionally, the boundary
treatments along the north site boundary would mitigate. It is acknowledged that the
proposed garage/workshop would be larger than the in-situ garage and closer to the shared
north boundary; however, it would be of a conventional single-storey design and of an
overall modest scale which would not detrimentally impact the amenities of Rose Cottage.
It is considered that the proposal would not prejudice neighbouring amenities and, as such,
would be in accordance with policies DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan and CS5 of
the Core Strategy.
Drainage
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy is concerned with flood risk, whilst policy DS14 of the
local plan is concerned with foul sewage and surface water drainage.
The council’s drainage team have been consulted and have no objections subject to a precommencement condition requiring a flood risk statement and drainage strategy to be
submitted for approval, given the historical issues with flooding in the area. The comments
of the parish council are noted, however based on the comments received from the
drainage team the attached pre-commencement conditions are considered adequate in
addressing this issue.
The site is located within flood zone 1 and is therefore a preferred place for development in
terms of flood risk.
Land quality
Policy DS7 of the local plan is concerned with contaminated land. It states that permission
will only be granted on contaminated sites where a detailed site survey has been submitted,
and a suitable scheme of remedial measures has been agreed to overcome any existing
contamination.
The council’s environmental health officer has not provided a comment (or objection);
however, given the vulnerable use, a phase 1 desk top study, remediation report and

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 173

Page 126

verification report will be required. The host site is currently in domestic use; however, given
that the applicant has not submitted any information with regard to land quality, a condition
relating to land contamination will be attached to any planning approval.
Ecology
The application site appears to be amenity grassland of negligible biodiversity value. No
ecological surveys are required. The council’s ecologist has no objections to the proposal
and does not wish to impose any conditions. Informatives have been recommended
regarding wildlife and biodiversity enhancements.
Highways
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan states that all development should be served
by a satisfactory access. Policy T19 is concerned with parking provision as well as general
highway safety. Both policies are considered relevant.
The applicant seeks to create a new access from Fields Road with parking provided on site.
The council’s highways department have no objection to the proposal subject to a condition
regarding access, parking and turning. The comments of the parish council are noted,
however based on the comments received from the highways department the attached precommencement conditions are considered adequate in addressing this issue.
Other matters
It is noted that planning permission has previously been refused on the site (PA/2005 /1127)
and the proposal could set a precedent for this type of development; however, each
planning application is assessed on its own individual merits and it is considered that this
proposal would accord with the relevant planning criteria.
The site is within a low-risk flood zone; however, the site experiences some localised
flooding. As such, the drainage team have been consulted and request a detailed flood risk
statement and drainage strategy by way of a condition.
Conclusion
Whilst the proposal is within the open countryside and in an area of Special Historic
Landscape Interest, this does not outweigh the benefit of providing a family dwelling house,
subject to conditions. On balance, the proposal is a justified departure from the
development plan and is considered to comply with the overarching paragraph 11(d) of the
NPPF.
Pre-commencement conditions
These have been agreed with the agent/applicant.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 174

Page 127

Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Watson-2020-01 Location Plan Existing Site Survey; Watson-2020-04
Proposed Site Plan Proposed Sections; Proposed Floor Plan Watson-2020-02; Watson2020-03 Proposed Elevations and Views; Heritage Appraisal & Impact Assessment;
Design, Access & Planning Statement.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.
3.
Notwithstanding the submitted details on any of the approved documents, no development
shall take place until a detailed flood risk statement and drainage strategy has been agreed
in writing by the local planning authority. Both shall outline all sources of flood risk, including
surface water, ground water and ordinary watercourse, and proposals to mitigate, and
include preliminary drainage layout plans. The flood risk statement and drainage strategy
shall include details for the incorporation of SUDS, and any adoption and maintenance
arrangements. The dwelling shall not be occupied until it is connected to the approved
drainage system.
Reason
To ensure satisfactory drainage is provided in accordance with policy DS14 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
4.
The dwelling shall not be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle parking
and turning space(s) serving it have been completed and, once provided, the vehicle
parking and turning space(s) shall be retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
5.
If during development, any odorous, discoloured or otherwise visually contaminated
material is found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out
until a written method statement detailing how this contamination shall be dealt with has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved
method statement shall be implemented in full prior to development commencing on the
site.
Reason
To ensure that risks from land contamination to future users of the land and neighbouring
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with
policy DS7 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 175

Page 128

6.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revising, revoking and re-enacting that Order with
or without modification), there shall be no enlargement or extension of the dwelling
(including additions and/or alterations to the roof) hereby permitted, including any new
buildings or enclosures, without the prior written approval of the local planning authority.
Reason
To satisfactorily protect the character and appearance of the area and the residential
amenities of future and neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with policy CS5 of the North
Lincolnshire Core Strategy and policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
7.
No above-ground development shall take place until details have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority of the make, type and colour of all
external facing materials for the development and only the approved materials shall
be used.
Reason
To ensure that the building is in keeping with its surroundings in the interests of visual
amenity, in accordance with policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
8.
No above-ground development shall take place until details of the positions, design,
materials and type of boundary treatment (including gates) to be built/planted have been
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The agreed boundary treatment shall be
built/planted before the dwelling is occupied, and once built/planted it shall be retained.
Reason
To provide an appropriate level of screening in accordance with policies H8 and DS1 of the
North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
9.
The proposed detached garage/workshop hereby permitted shall not be occupied at any
time other than for purposes ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling to the rear of
Lavenham House, Fields Road, East Lound, DN9 2LR.
Reason
To maintain the living standards of the adjoining residential properties/the surrounding
residential area and to enable any alternative use to be assessed against the criteria in
policy DS4 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Informative 1
Ideally vegetation clearance works should be carried out outside the bird nesting season,
which is broadly March to August inclusive.
If vegetation is cleared during this time, then checks must be made for active bird nests and
any harm to such nests must be avoided.
We encourage the delivery of biodiversity enhancements as set out in the design and
access statement.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 176

Page 129

Informative 2
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 177

Page 130

lc14
development_boundary

Page 178

PA/2021/20

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

Scale 1:100

11.293
10.325

6.39

9.80

6.29

6.45
Existing trees / bushes to remain

roof void

6.26

En suite

G

D

Bedroom 2

Living room

Section A - A

Drive / turning area

11.293

Av Ht 1.8

6.89

m
Roof light

wc

Entrance

En suite

Bedroom 2

6.75

6.60

Section B - B

6.82

B

A

6.77

6.80

6.54

6.42

11.293
10.325
6.35

roof void

9.65

roof void

Grass Lawn
3470

1.7m

m timber

6.39

New 1.8

Fence Av Ht

fence

Sitting area

Utility

Bedroom 2

6.45

Section C - C
6.51

Scale 1:200

6.52

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
6.56
6.46

11.293

6.53
e
timber fenc

New 1.8m

10.325

6.64
2700

roof void

Kitchen

Dining
6.75

6.60

Section D - D

Grass Lawn

light

light

light

covered
area

Eaves 9.5

Entrance

covered
area

6.75

6.60

Ridge 12.8

100Ø

Eaves 9.6

Section E - E
Ridge 14.1
EXISTING DWELLING
(LAVENHAM HOUSE)

10.00

9.80

light

light

9.80

Cadworx Ltd
Architectural design and 3d Visualisations

light
2400

Eaves 9.1

Ridge 10.6

100Ø

MH FW
CL 6.63
IL 6.11

light

Roof light

9.55

2400

Page 179

6.67

6.90

Shrubs

6.78

6.84

6.75

6.60

2708

Hedge

el
t & Wood Pan
Grass

Plastic Pos

6.58

6.88

6.91

Wood Post & Trellis Fence
Av Height 1.3m

6.31
Shrubs

6.79
6.81

Existing trees / bushes to remain

cloaks

patio

F
6.82

6.87

6.73

Bedroom 2

2400

2400

6.83

6.87

6.85

F

9.65

roof void

E

D

E

C

6.88

New planting
along border

10.325
9.80

3000

6.76

New low level rendered wall
with horizontal timber rails above
(total height 1.8m)

2410

ROAD

rd Fence

t Close Boa
6.20

6.78

6.84

FIELDS

Wood Pos

6.23

6.30

Overhead Electric Wire
Overhead Telephone Wire

Entrance

6.75

6.60

Existing trees / bushes to remain

New sliding electric gate in location
of existing vehicular entrance gate

Study

6.19

6.25
6.20

2400

3470

Line
2400

Hedge
Trunk

6.22

EP

9.65

6.24

C

New 1.8m high
rendered wall

s 8.7

s 11.3

6.46

A

6.83

6.80

TP EP

6.50
Bin storage
area

Ridge
10.2

Eave

Eave

Grass

6.50

s 11.3

re
hone Wi
d Telep
Overhea

Conc Pos
Fence Avt Wood Panel
Ht 1.8m
Gravel
6.53

Wooden
Shed

PROPOSED SECTIONS

Eave

6.80

6.80

Stay Wire

Ridge
13.3

Ri
13.0dge
Wire
one
leph
d Te
rhea
Ove
Wire
ectric
El
d
ea
Overh

G

Hedge

6.82

6.75

Overhead Telephone Wire

s 11.1

B

s 11.0

Ridge
12.6

Eave

6.71

6.71

PA/2021/20 Proposed layout (not to scale)

Ridge
12.6

Eave

Study

wrobe

Linden House, Bracken Hill Road
East Lound, Nr Doncaster DN9 2LR

Bedroom 2

tel 01427 753232
danny@3dcadworx.com

6.75

6.60

Section F - F

Project

PROPOSED NEW SINGLE STOREY DWELLING
FIELDS ROAD
EAST LOUND

9.75

MR AND MRS WATSON
Garage

6.75

Section G - G

BRA
CKE
NH
ILL
RO
AD

Title:

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
PROPOSED SECTIONS

Scale

Date

1:100 - 1:200
@ A1

Drawn

11-2020

Drawing No.

WATSON - 2020 - 04

DS

PA/2021/20 Proposed floor plans (not to scale)
WC

6000

roller
shutter

5000

Workshop

4500

4650

PROPOSED DETACHED GARAGE
2000

1980

Bedroom 3

3800

wrobe

3800

2650

3670

wrobes

Scale 1:50

Bathroom

Page 180

3700

Bedroom 2

2400

Garage

3900

Utility
1800

2400

En suite
950

cupd

Kitchen

2180

1500

1600

shelving

7330

3250
2150

5750

1100

Living room

shelving
fire with TV above

5750

TV

5000

plant
cupd

Sitting area

Dining

Glazed
screen

wc
1200
sliding doors
glazed doors

Entrance
FFL 6.75

7000

sliding
door

Roof light above

cloaks
3600

Linden House, Bracken Hill Road
East Lound, Nr Doncaster DN9 2LR
2600

2400

Wood
store

wrobe

Bedroom 1

tel 01427 753232
danny@3dcadworx.com
Project

1700

5065

Cadworx Ltd
Architectural design and 3d Visualisations

Study

4450

2650

1800
6500

PROPOSED NEW SINGLE STOREY DWELLING
FIELDS ROAD
EAST LOUND
En suite

MR AND MRS WATSON

3100

PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY DWELLING
Scale 1:50

Title:

PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN

Scale

Date

1@50
@ A1

Drawn

11-2020

Drawing No.

WATSON - 2020 - 02

DS

PA/2021/20 Proposed elevations and images (not to scale)
PROPOSED DWELLING

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
1:100

PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION

PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

Page 181

PROPOSED NEW DWELLING AND DETACHED GARAGE

PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION

PROPOSED DETACHED GARAGE

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
1:100

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
1:100

Cadworx Ltd
Architectural design and 3d Visualisations
Linden House, Bracken Hill Road
East Lound, Nr Doncaster DN9 2LR
tel 01427 753232
danny@3dcadworx.com
Project

PROPOSED NEW SINGLE STOREY DWELLING
FIELDS ROAD
EAST LOUND
MR AND MRS WATSON
PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
1:100

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
1:100

Title:

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
AND VIEWS
Scale

Date

1@100
@ A1

Drawn

11-2020

Drawing No.

WATSON - 2020 - 03

DS

6.27

8
6.7

6.32

Tree Canopy offcentre
due to growth damage

6.6

399848

6.8

6.54

South View
Croft
Cottages

6.40

6.42

East View
7.3m

6.35

6.37

6.63

N

6.42

1.7m

10

6.45

Shrubs

6.45

Shrubs

6.67

6.90

6.61

6.78

6.84

6.51

6.52

6.48

6.56

6.51

6.55
6.56

6.53

10

20

30

40

50

Produced on 12 November 2019 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision available at this date.
This map shows the area bounded by 478777,399748 478777,399890 478919,399890 478919,399748
Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the prior permission of Ordnance Survey.
Crown copyright 2019. Supplied by copla ltd trading as UKPlanningMaps.com a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100054135).
Data licenced for 1 year, expiring 12 November 2020. Unique plan reference: v2c/403692/547620

6.56

6.67

6.64

Shrubs

6.46

0

Metres

Grass Lawn

6.49

vel Path
Edged Gra
Shrubs
Mesh
st Sto1.0ckm
Wood Po
Ht
Fence Av

Page 182

6.39

6.4

6.46

6.58

399748

Grass Lawn

6.43

6.54

6.50

EP

The House
Lavenham House At Pooh Corner

LB

6.45

6.39

Shrubs

Mesh
st Sto1.0ckm
Wood Po
Ht
Fence Av

6.38

6.58

Path
ed Gravel
6.54 Edg
Shrubs

Hedge

Wood Post & Trellis Fence
Av Height 1.3m

New Orchard
399798

6.4

6.35

478777

6.50

6.77

6.80

6.32
Grass Lawn

6.4

6.8

1
6.3

6.31
Shrubs

6.82

6.8

6.55

6.82

6
6.3

6.34

6.78

D

6.44

6.76

6.33

6.34

Gra

6.83

6.4

6.91

Ht
el Fence Av
t & Wood Pan
6.79
Plastic Pos
6.8
6.87
Grass
s
Paving Slab
6.81
el
t Wood Pan
Conc Pos
1.2m
6.88
Fence Av Ht
k
Stoned Trac

0
6.3
vel

8
6.4

6.77
6.76

6.4m

PROPOSED
DEVELOPMENT SITE

FIELDS ROA

6.30
6.33

6.69

6.73

Rose Cottage

6.25

6.63

Green House on
Paving Slab Base

6.79
6.77

6.39
6.30

6.4

6.8

6.87

6.85

6.72
6.88
6.83

ROAD

6.8

Grass Lawn

6.73

The Cottage

6.22

6.77
6.89
6.76

FIELDS

6.64
6.81

6.30

6.28

Brick Base to
Brasier

399890

Ht 1.8m

6.8

6.21

6

6.7

1
6.8

Overhead Electric Wire
Overhead Telephone Wire

Ridge
13.3

6.43

6.43

6.66

6.23

6.2

Av
rd Fence
t Close Boa
6.20

Grass Lawn

Wood Pos
6.2

6.67

6.19

6.25
6.20

6.2

6.4

6.78

6.8

6.22

6.71

6.68

6.26

6.17

3
6.5

6.6

6.75

6.84

6.67

ENTRANCE
GATE

Line

6.22

6.27

Intermittent Paving Slabs
Gravel

Concrete

6.25

Gravel

6.2

6.72

Hedge
Trunk

6.19

6.32

Concrete

6.68

UKPlanningMaps.com

6.24

478919

6.76

6.57

478877

6.67

s 8.7

6.29

6.45

6.42

6.8
Eaves 9.0 6.67

6.46
6.39

6.50

Gravel
6.6
Wooden Garage

Ridge
10.2

Eave

6.27

Ridge 9.7

6.4

TP EP

6.83

6.80
Conc Post
Wood Panel
Fence
Av Ht 1.8m

6.50

6.49

Grass

6.55

478827

6.53

6.68

6.4

6.80

Gravel

6.8

Hedge

6.82

Con
t od Pan
Fencec Pos
Av HtWo
1.8m el

Stay Wire

s 11.3

Wooden Shed

6.80

Eave

ck
6.75

Ri
13.0dge
Wire
one
leph
d Te
rhea
Ove
ire
tric W
ec
El
ead
Overh
re
hone Wi
d Telep
Overhea

s 11.3

Paving

Stoned Tra

Overhead Telephone Wire

s 11.1

Eave

s 11.0

Ridge
12.6

Eave

6.71

6.71

6.8

PA/2021/20 Existing layout (not to scale)

Ridge
12.6

Eave

EXISTING SITE SURVEY

LOCATION PLAN

Scale 1:200

Scale 1:1250

Ridge 10.6
Eaves 9.1

100Ø

MH FW
CL 6.63
IL 6.11

Eaves 9.5

Ridge 12.8

100Ø

Eaves 9.6

Ridge 14.1

EXISTING DWELLING
(LAVENHAM HOUSE)

Cadworx Ltd
Architectural design and 3d Visualisations
Linden House, Bracken Hill Road
East Lound, Nr Doncaster DN9 2LR
tel 01427 753232
danny@3dcadworx.com
Project

PROPOSED NEW SINGLE STOREY DWELLING
FIELDS ROAD
EAST LOUND
MR AND MRS WATSON
Title:

LOCATION PLAN
EXISTING SITE SURVEY

Scale

Date

BRA

1:200 - 1:1250
@ A1

CKE

NH

ILL

Drawn

11-2020

Drawing No.

RO

AD

WATSON - 2020 - 01

DS

Agenda Item 7
Report of the Group Manager –
Development Management and Building Control

Agenda Item No:
Meeting: 24 March 2021

NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE
APPLICATIONS FOR APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS
FOLLOWING THE GRANT OF OUTLINE PERMISSION
FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
1.

OBJECT
1.1

2.

3.

To inform the committee about applications for approval of reserved matters
which are ready for determination.

BACKGROUND
2.1

This committee is required under its terms of reference to exercise the
functions of the council as local planning authority for the purposes of the
control of development, including the determination of applications for
planning permission and other applications under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, General Development Orders, and any Orders or Regulations
made thereunder, and in accordance with the council’s planning policies.

2.2

In exercising these functions the committee is required to have regard to the
National Planning Policy Framework, the development plan for the area and
any other material considerations. It will also take account of the duty imposed
by section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and the requirements of the
Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATION
3.1

Items for determination are listed in the attached schedule.

3.2

Outline planning permission has already been granted and the development is
therefore agreed in principle. Consideration is required of the layout, scale,
external appearance, means of access and landscaping of the development
(excluding any of these matters which were expressly approved at the time
outline planning permission was granted).

3.3

Reports will be updated at the meeting if necessary to take account of
additional relevant information received after publication.

3.4

Plans included with reports are for identification and/or illustrative purposes
only. Applications and supporting documents can be viewed in full on the
planning pages of the council’s web site.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 183

Page 131

4.

5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1

There are no staffing or financial implications arising from this report.

4.2

Environmental considerations are of major importance when considering
planning applications and are set out in the individual reports.

RECOMMENDATION
5.1

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations
contained in the schedule.

GROUP MANAGER – DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND BUILDING CONTROL
Church Square House
30–40 High Street
SCUNTHORPE
DN15 6NL
Ref: CB/JMC/Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx
Date: 15 March 2021
Background papers used in the preparation of this report:
1.

The applications including accompanying plans and ancillary correspondence.

2.

Statutory and non-statutory consultation letters and responses.

3.

Responses from parish and town councils.

4.

Representations from other bodies or individuals.

5.

Relevant planning policy documents.

6.

Previous relevant planning decisions.

(Pursuant to section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 any document containing
‘exempt information’ is excluded from this list.)
Statement of publication's purpose
The Ordnance Survey map data included within this publication is provided by North
Lincolnshire Council under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public
function to act as a planning authority. Persons viewing this mapping should contact
Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey map
data for their own use.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 184

Page 132

APPLICATION NO

PA/2019/809

APPLICANT

Mr Aaron Grantham

DEVELOPMENT

Application for approval of reserved matters (access,
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) pursuant to outline
application PA/2018/1697 dated 24/07/2020 for the erection of a
replacement gatehouse dwelling

LOCATION

Lindholme Lakes, West Carr, Epworth, DN9 1LF

PARISH

Epworth

WARD

Axholme Central

CASE OFFICER

Mark Niland

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Refuse approval

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Member ‘call in’ (Cllr David Robinson – town council support)
Support by Epworth Town Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework:
Paragraph 127 – Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:
(a)

will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term
but over the lifetime of the development;

(b)

are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and
effective landscaping;

(c)

are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate
innovation or change (such as increased densities);

(d)

establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive
places to live, work and visit;

(e)

optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount
and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local
facilities and transport networks; and

(f)

create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or
community cohesion and resilience.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 185

Page 133

Paragraph 170 – Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment by:
(a)

protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value
and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality
in the development plan);

(b)

recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and
woodland;

(c)

maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to
it where appropriate;

(d)

minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and
future pressures;

(e)

preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil,
air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever
possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water
quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin management
plans; and

(f)

remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable
land, where appropriate.

North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, RD2, T2, T19
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS2, CS5, CS19
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objections subject to conditions.
Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority): The LLFA objects to the proposed development
and its layout.
Doncaster East Internal Drainage Board: The board has issued an objection to the
planning application. The objection has been raised because the application does not
comply with the board’s policy regarding new development in close proximity to Boardmaintained watercourses. In this instance the Board will require a minimum of 9 metres
clearance between the watercourse’s bank top and edge of any new building or structure.
TOWN COUNCIL
Supports this application.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 186

Page 134

PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site and press notice. No comments have been
received.
ASSESSMENT
Relevant planning history
PA/2018/1697

Outline planning permission to erect a gatehouse dwelling – approved
24/07/2020.
(This application was approved by members following an officer
recommendation to refuse the application. The justification for this dwelling
was for the purpose of security as a ‘gate house’.)

PA/2018/848:

Planning permission to change the use of a bungalow to holiday lets for
anglers – approved 31/07/2016.

PA/2016/522:

Planning permission to retain a storage building – approved 17/08/2016.

PA/2016/288:

Planning permission to remove condition 10 of PA/2005/1992 to retain a
dwelling and change the use of the dwelling to office/storage – approved
01/06/2016.

PA/2015/1123: Planning permission to retain the use of a site as holiday accommodation
and recreational facilities associated with Lindholme Lakes, with
occupation of the holiday lodges and caravans on the site for 12 months of
the year – approved 01/12/2015.
PA/2011/0069: Planning permission to change the use of a field to site caravans and
static caravans in connection with Lindholme Lakes Fisheries – approved
23/03/2011.
PA/2008/0526: Planning permission to erect a fishery amenity building, with associated
car parking and change the use of a café to a store in connection with
commercial fishing – approved 09/05/2008.
PA/2005/1992: Planning permission to erect a dwelling and garage, including demolition
of existing dwelling and garage – approved 08/02/2006.
2/1994/0326:

Planning permission for the conversion of derelict farm buildings to two
residential units and installation of septic tanks – approved 18/07/1994.

Site characteristics
The site is located within the open countryside in accordance with the HELA DPD 2016 and
within flood zone 2/3a in accordance with the North and North East Lincolnshire SFRA
2011.
The site is located within the Lindholme Lakes site to the north of a new dwelling that was
granted permission under PA/2005/1992 and just south of the access road that leads to Idle
Bank to the east. Outline planning permission has been granted to erect a dwelling; this

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 187

Page 135

application is to consider the reserved matters. There is no requirement to revisit matters of
principle, though the council’s drainage team and the Internal Drainage Board do raise
concerns regarding the siting of the dwelling; this is discussed within the report.
Assessment
The assessment explores whether on not the access, layout, siting, scale and
landscaping are appropriate for this open countryside location.
Access
Policy T2 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan states that all development should be served
by a satisfactory access. Policy T19 is concerned with parking provision as well as general
highway safety. Both policies are considered relevant.
The applicant seeks to gain access from the private drive that leads from Idle Bank.
Highways have been consulted and have no objections to the proposal subject to a
condition that all paved areas are laid out prior to occupation; this condition is attached to
the outline permission and so it is unnecessary to include it again. It is therefore
considered, subject to the aforementioned mitigation, that the proposal would align with
policies T2 and T19 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Appearance, scale and siting
Policy DS1 of the local plan is partly concerned with impacts upon residential amenity. It
states, ‘…No unacceptable loss of amenity to neighbouring land uses should result in terms
of noise, smell, fumes, dust or other nuisance, or through the effects of overlooking or
overshadowing.’ Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy is concerned with design, and the second
part of policy H5 of the local plan is also relevant, setting out a criteria-based approach for
assessing new housing developments.
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that decisions should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment by ‘…recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the
countryside.’
Policy RD2 of the local plan is concerned with development in the open countryside and
sets out what development types are acceptable in principle. It goes on to list the criteria
against which those development types should be assessed. Points (c) and (f) are the most
relevant; they state:
(c)

the development would not be detrimental to the character or appearance of the
open countryside or a nearby settlement in terms of siting, scale, massing, design
and use of materials; and

(f)

the development is sited to make the best use of existing and new landscaping.

The site is located in the flat open expanse of the Isle of Axholme, close to Idle Bank.
Permission has previously been granted for a large dwelling close by that has a private lake
to the front. The application site is read within the wider development grounds of Lindholme
Lakes.
The proposed dwelling is built over three floors with a turret on its north-eastern elevation.
The scale of the proposal is not commensurate with the original justification for the dwelling,

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 188

Page 136

which was for a gatehouse dwelling for security purposes. (Originally, a confusing
justification was given that included the notion of a replacement dwelling which is sited
some distance away and in any case this is not comparable in scale and would fail the rural
development policy tests on those grounds.) The scale is not only disproportionate to the
justification given to members for a dwelling but also to the open countryside in that it would
have wide-ranging impacts that would be detrimental to its setting.
The applicant has submitted a design and access statement, though no contextual analysis
has been carried out and no understanding is demonstrated of the impacts that would
follow on from this proposal and why architecturally it is appropriate.
The document states of the proposal, ‘…The dwelling as proposed in this application has
been carefully designed to accommodate the son of the owner (with his family) who is
solely employed in the family business and is essential to the day-to-day running of the
business on site.’ The dwelling does contain a CCTV room on the first floor of the turret,
which itself is a nod to an archaic type of fortification (and so somewhat loosely related in
appearance terms to its raison d'être) and this amount of space would appear sufficient to
ensure the operational security of the wider site; the remaining space is for a family
dwelling.
In appearance terms, whilst the house is undoubtedly pleasing in many aspects, there is no
justification of why it is aesthetically appropriate for this countryside location. The dwelling is
a pastiche of styles: the stone casement windows, the rear orangery, the parapets
decorating the roof and the chimney are of high design quality and nice features, though the
relevance to the open countryside of the Isle is extremely abstract; unsupported by any
meaningful justification, the clear issue is context. The proposal then would appear as an
incongruous feature within this landscape, contrary to the requirements of policy CS5 of the
Core Strategy, which tasks developers to find context.
It must be noted that there are no issues whatsoever with impingement upon amenity, given
the space about the dwelling and the position of openings. This part of the proposal is in
accordance with the requirements set out by policy DS1 of the local plan.
The design and access statement also states, ‘…The house, which has also been carefully
designed to meet the flood risk assessment requirements with specific finished floor levels
and is designed to suit the family needs of the applicant and to comply with best practice in
a flood risk zone, would be erected at the entrance to the leisure complex.’ This is not
completely true and Ordinary Watercourse Consent would be required to site this dwelling
in this location given it is located within a 9 metre buffer zone of the dyke. Having dialogue
with both the Internal Drainage Board (IDB) and applicant, both are aware that this issue
sits outside of planning and should consent not be granted by the IDB the applicant will
have to reapply for the reserved matters siting the dwelling 9 metres from the watercourse.
Furthermore, the council’s drainage team has objected to both the finished floor levels and
the siting of the dwelling. The finished floor levels are covered by the condition on the
outline permission and their concerns over the siting are in line with the IDB byelaws
regarding a buffer zone. Given that the applicant must first negotiate the IDB byelaws
before building, it is considered that this issue is fully mitigated by legislation external to
planning and so there is no objection on planning grounds. It must be noted that the
applicant is aware that Ordinary Watercourse Consent is required should this planning
application be successful.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 189

Page 137

Landscaping
Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy is in part concerned with landscaping, it states that new
development should ‘…Incorporate appropriate landscaping and planting which enhances
biodiversity or geological features whilst contributing to the creation of a network of linked
greenspaces across the area. Tree planting and landscaping schemes can also assist in
minimising the impacts of carbon emissions upon the environment.’ Policy RD2 of the local
plan requires that ‘…the development is sited to make the best use of existing and new
landscaping.’
The applicant has removed the landscaping from the side of the watercourse to allay IDB
concerns. This planting may have impinged the surveillance opportunities from the turret
watch tower and so its removal is welcomed also in planning terms. The site is already laid
to grass with a large pond. This part of the Isle would not easily absorb a heavy
landscaping scheme and therefore what is before us is considered acceptable and would
be in accordance with the aforementioned planning policies.
Conclusion
The application is unsupported by a sufficient design rationale; the resultant plans
evidentially show that the scheme is not based upon a solid understanding of the open
countryside of this part of the Isle. The proposal, by virtue of its appearance, scale and
massing, would represent an incongruous feature and would be detrimental to the character
and appearance of the open countryside. The proposal does not show an understanding
nor recognise the intrinsic character of this part of the Isle. The proposal is therefore
considered to be contrary to policies CS2 and CS5 of the Core Strategy, policies RD2 and
DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan, and paragraph 170 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
RECOMMENDATION

Refuse approval for the following reasons:

1.
The proposal, by virtue of its appearance, scale and massing, would represent an
incongruous feature and would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the open
countryside. It does not show an understanding nor recognise the intrinsic character of this
part of the Isle of Axholme. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to policies
CS2 and CS5 of the Core Strategy, policies RD2 and DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local
Plan, and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 190

Page 138

Page 191

PA/2019/809

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2019/809 Proposed layout (not to scale)

6 METR

E CLEA

R MAIN

TENAN

CE AR

EA (NO

BUILD

OR TR

Page 192

EE PLA

NTING

)

SURFACE WATER FROM
DWELLING TO DISCHARGE
TO PRIVATE POND
Finish floor Levels:
Natural terrain level circa 1m AOD

Pond

GF
1.6m AOD
0.6m Above ground
FF
4.4m AOD
2.8m Above ground

MaxDesign
Architecture

| Planning

| Consultancy

Armstrong House, First Avenue, Doncaster, DN9 3GA
t: 01302 867509
m: 07734 939 044
e: design@maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk
w: maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk

status:

PLANNING

client:
LINDHOLME LAKES
project:
Lindholme Lakes, Epworth, DN9 1LF
title:
SITE PLAN

scale:
1:200@A1
project no.:

1962

date:
MARCH 2021
drawn:

number:

MJ

04

rev:

B

PA/2019/809 Proposed rear and side elevation (not to scale)

Page 193

Rear Elevation 1:50

MaxDesign
Architecture

| Planning

| Consultancy

Warren House, 278 Bawtry Road, Doncaster, DN4 7PD
t: 01302 867509
m: 07734 939 044
e: design@maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk
w: maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk

status:

BUILDING CONTROL

client:
LINDHOLME LAKES
project:
Lindholme Lakes, Epworth, DN9 1LF
title:
ELEVATIONS 2 OF 2

scale:
1:50@A1
Side Elevation 1:50

project no.:

1962

date:
MAR 19
drawn:

number:

MJ

02

rev:

PA/2019/809 Proposed front and side elevation (not to scale)

Page 194

Front Elevation 1:50

MaxDesign
Architecture

| Planning

| Consultancy

Warren House, 278 Bawtry Road, Doncaster, DN4 7PD
t: 01302 867509
m: 07734 939 044
e: design@maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk
w: maxdesignconsultancy.co.uk

status:

BUILDING CONTROL

client:
LINDHOLME LAKES
project:
Lindholme Lakes, Epworth, DN9 1LF
title:
ELEVATIONS 1 OF 2

scale:
1:50@A1
Side Elevation 1:50

project no.:

1962

date:
APR 19
drawn:

number:

MJ

02

rev:

APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/1971

APPLICANT

Mr Quirke

DEVELOPMENT

Application for approval of reserved matters following the grant
of outline permission PA/2019/1912 dated 13/02/2020 for a
single dwelling, namely access, appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale

LOCATION

Land adjacent to Whitegate Stables, Star Carr Lane, Wrawby,
DN20 8SG

PARISH

Wrawby

WARD

Brigg and Wolds

CASE OFFICER

Scott Jackson

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant approval subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Objection by Wrawby Parish Council

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Sections 5 and 12 apply.
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: Policies DS1, RD2, H5, H8, T1, T2 and T19 apply.
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: Policies CS1, CS2, CS3, CS5, CS7 and CS8 apply.
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objection, but recommend a condition.
Trees: The Design and Access Statement indicates that all the hedging around the site will
be retained, which would offer some visual barrier between the development and
countryside areas. No other detailed landscaping information has been submitted for
comment.
Ecology: No objection, but recommend a condition requiring the development to take place
in accordance with the Biodiversity Management Plan.
PARISH COUNCIL
Objects on the grounds that the proposed house is large, overbearing and out of character
with its surroundings.
PUBLICITY
A site notice has been displayed; no comments have been received.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 195

Page 139

ASSESSMENT
The application site is rectangular in shape and located to the west of Wrawby, in the open
countryside. The site is bordered by a residential property to the south, by Star Carr Lane to
the west and by two further residential properties to the north and north-west. Planning
permission is sought to erect a detached two-storey dwelling with detached garage to the
front. This is a reserved matters application following the grant of outline planning
permission PA/2019/1912.
The main issues in the determination of this application are impact on the character
and appearance of the countryside (incorporating design), and upon residential
amenity.
Impact on the countryside (incorporating design)
The plans show the erection of a two-storey detached dwelling with a detached double
garage to the front. The dwelling is positioned centrally within the plot, the principal
elevation facing west towards the access road and dominated by a projecting gable which
is glazed across both floors; this adds a prominent design feature to the principal elevation
and adds visual interest. The projecting gable, with its double height glazed window feature,
carries through to the rear elevation of the dwelling where it has an equally visually
dominant impact (when viewed from the rear garden). The height of the dwelling, at two
storeys, is consistent with the prevailing height of the neighbouring dwelling to the south
(Whitegate Stables) and, given its position directly to the north, the proposed dwelling will
not be viewed as an isolated form of built development in the rural landscape and will not
be overbearing.
The dwelling is set back from the access lane by 9.88 metres, from the northern boundary
by 2.97 metres and from the southern boundary by 5.06 metres; this allows the bulk of the
dwelling to be positioned in the centre of the plot and sufficient clearance to each side for
pedestrian circulation and the provision of off-street parking, turning and garaging to the
front. The plans show the dwelling is relatively balanced in its appearance (with the
exception of the focal window to the front and rear elevations) with the rooflights in vertical
alignment with the ground floor openings, and the choice of brickwork (a mix of white, grey
and black tones), mixed with sections of smooth white render in the centre of the house,
provide a modern, yet contrasting, visual appearance. However, it is worth noting that the
choice of brick has a mixed coloured appearance with black, white and grey tones which
will ensure visual assimilation with the remainder of the dwelling’s appearance, including an
antique slate roof tile, black rainwater goods, and dark grey windows and doors. In addition,
the inclusion of the render section will ensure some extent of visual assimilation with the
appearance of the neighbouring dwelling to the south.
Residential amenity
The inclusion of the double garage to the front of the dwelling ensures there will be no built
form further forward in the street scene than the position of the dwelling to the south and
the level of off-street parking provision, together with a turning space, will ensure there is no
obstruction to the access road and that vehicles can enter and leave the site in a forward
gear.
To the rear it is proposed to provide an area of private amenity space extending to
approximately 450 square metres. Given the position of the dwelling away from the

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 196

Page 140

boundaries of the site (in a central position) and the amount of garden provision, the
amount of built development (the footprint of the dwelling and garage) is considered
commensurate with the size of the plot and a form of development which does not result in
over-development of the site. The first-floor habitable room windows face to the front and
rear of the site (west and east), which ensures there is no overlooking of neighbouring
properties and gardens.
Conclusion
Given the proposal does not result in loss of residential amenity, it is in keeping with the
scale and height of existing built form in the vicinity of the site and will not cause any issues
in relation to highway or pedestrian safety, the application is recommended for approval. In
addition, the height and scale of the dwelling will not result in an alien or discordant form of
built development in the rural landscape.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant approval subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: 1144.01 and 1144.02
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
2.
The dwelling shall not be occupied until the vehicular access to it and the vehicle parking
space(s) serving it have been completed and, once provided, the parking space(s) shall
thereafter be so retained.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies T2 and T19 of the North
Lincolnshire Local Plan.
3.
Works and biodiversity enhancements shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
submitted Biodiversity Management Plan ref 1144WRAW. The management prescriptions
set out in the management plan shall be carried out in their entirety. The applicant or their
successor in title shall submit photographs of the installed bat roosting and bird nesting
features, within two weeks of installation, as evidence of compliance with this condition. All
biodiversity features shall be retained thereafter.
Reason
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies CS5 and CS17 of the
Core Strategy.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 197

Page 141

development_boundary

Page 198

PA/2020/1971

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/1971 Proposed layout (not to scale)

Page 199

PA/2020/1971 Proposed elevations (not to scale)

127(6
0DWHULDO6FKHGXOH

$

$OOGLPHQVLRQV GHWDLOVJLYHQRQWKLVGUDZLQJDUHWREHFKHFNHGDQGYHULILHGRQVLWH
SULRUWRZRUNVEHLQJXQGHUWDNHQ$Q\GLVFUHSDQFLHVDQGRUYDULDWLRQVWRWKH
VSHFLILFDWLRQVZLWKLQWKHVHGUDZLQJVRUDVVRFLDWHGGRFXPHQWVDUHWREHQRWLILHGWR
NH\VWRQHDUFKLWHFWXUH
DUFKLWHFWXUH

%HVSRNH%ULFN&RPSDQ\&LQGHU&RDO:KLWH%ULFN
ZKLWHVPRRWKILQLVKUHQGHU
GDUNJUH\DOXPLQLXPX39&ZLQGRZVDQGGRRUV
EODFNUDLQZDWHUJRRGV
GDUNJUH\VRIILWDQGIDVFLD
6DQGWRIWLQWHUORFNLQJWLOHV DQWLTXHVODWH
3KRWRYROWDLF 39 6RODU3DQHOV

'RQRWVFDOHIURPWKHVHGUDZLQJV LILQGRXEW DVN
$OOPDWHULDOVVKDOOEHIL[HGDSSOLHGLUPL[HGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKHPDQXIDFWXUHV
ZULWWHQLQVWUXFWLRQVUHFRPPHQGDWLRQVDQGVSHFLILFDWLRQV9DULDWLRQVWRVSHFLILHG
PDWHULDOVVKDOOEHDJUHHGLQZULWLQJZLWKNH\VWRQHDUFKLWHFWXUH
DUFKLWHFWXUH
7KH&RQWUDFWRUVKDOOWDNHLQWRDFFRXQWHYHU\WKLQJQHFHVVDU\IRUWKHSURSRHUH[HFXWLRQRI
WKHZRUNVDQGWRWKHVDWLVIDFWLRQRIWKH/RFDO$XWKRULW\ZKHWKHURUQRWLQGLFDWHGRQWKH
GUDZLQJVRULQWKHVSHFLILFDWLRQ
7KLVGUDZLQJLVWKHFRS\ULJKWRINH\VWRQHDUFKLWHFWXUH
DUFKLWHFWXUHDQGPXVWQRWEHUHSURGXFHG
DUFKLWHFWXUH
ZLWKRXWZULWWHQFRQVHQWFNH\VWRQHDUFKLWHFWXUH
DUFKLWHFWXUH 







(QWUDQFH+DOO





8WLOLW\







6WRUDJH


(QWUDQFH+DOO










.LWFKHQ'LQLQJ/LYLQJ





%HGURRP2IILFH

:&

%RRW5RRP





3URSRVHG:HVW(OHYDWLRQ












3URSRVHG*URXQG)ORRU
%HG P VTIW 
H[FO*DUDJH






5HDU'9LHZ 176



3URSRVHG(DVW(OHYDWLRQ

%HGURRP



(6

:DUGUREH



%HGURRP

(QVXLWH

%HGURRP

(QVXLWH












'RXEOH+HLJKW$UHD

:DUGUREH
(6







/DQGLQJ

%DWKURRP





0DVWHU%HGURRP

3URSRVHG6RXWK(OHYDWLRQ

*DUDJH)URQW'9LHZ 176

)URQW'9LHZ 176

3URSRVHG)LUVW)ORRU








*DUDJH






3URSRVHG6RXWK
(OHYDWLRQ *DUDJH





3URSRVHG1RUWK
(OHYDWLRQ *DUDJH

3URSRVHG(DVW
(OHYDWLRQ *DUDJH


UHY


DPHQGPHQW

1HZ'ZHOOLQJ
/DQGRII6WDU&DUU/DQH
:UDZE\
%ULJJ
'16*





3URSRVHG1RUWK(OHYDWLRQ









Page 200





3URSRVHG:HVW
(OHYDWLRQ *DUDJH

3URSRVHG*DUDJH

ka
keystone architecture


GDWH

WLWOH

3U3ODQV (OHYDWLRQV GZJQR



VWDJH

3ODQQLQJ

GUDZQ

'HFHPEHU

VFDOH

 

GUDZQE\

&*

DUFKLWHFWXUH
EXLOGLQJFRQVXOWDQWV
HQHUJ\DVVHVVRUV
SURMHFWPDQDJHUV
7
%ULWDQQLD+RXVH+LJK6WUHHW6FXQWKRUSH'1($

ZZZNH\VWRQHWHFKQLFDOFRXN
LQIR#NH\VWRQHWHFKQLFDOFRXN

Agenda Item 8
APPLICATION NO

PA/2020/250

APPLICANT

Mr & Mrs J Evison

DEVELOPMENT

Planning permission to erect a single-storey rear extension

LOCATION

11 Beck Hill, Barton upon Humber, DN18 5HQ

PARISH

Barton upon Humber

WARD

Barton

CASE OFFICER

Jessica Pacey

SUMMARY
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to conditions

REASONS FOR
REFERENCE TO
COMMITTEE

Application by a member of the council (Cllr Jonathan Evison)

POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework: Section 12
North Lincolnshire Local Plan: DS1, DS5
North Lincolnshire Core Strategy: CS1, CS2, CS5
CONSULTATIONS
Highways: No objections or comments.
Conservation: No objection subject to a condition.
TOWN COUNCIL
No objection or comment.
PUBLICITY
The application has been advertised by site notice in accordance with Article 15 of the
Development Management Procedure Order 2015 as amended. No comments have been
received.
ASSESSMENT
Site characteristics
The property is within the Barton upon Humber conservation area as identified by the
Housing and Employment Land Allocations DPD 2016.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 201

Page 142

The following considerations are relevant to this proposal:


residential amenity



character impacts.

Residential amenity
Policy DS5 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan is concerned with residential extensions. It
states that applications for residential extensions and the erection of garages, outbuildings,
walls and other structures will be allowed providing that the proposal does not unreasonably
reduce sunlight or daylight, or result in overshadowing, overbearing impact or loss of
privacy to adjacent dwellings. Proposals should also be sympathetic in design, scale and
materials to the existing dwelling and its neighbours.
The applicants were advised to withdraw the application as originally submitted due to the
impacts it would have on neighbouring amenity. However, they did not wish to take this
route and after further discussions with their agent have submitted a set of revised plans.
The applicants propose to extend the existing living room by erecting a single-storey rear
extension that projects from the rear of the existing property along the party boundary by
approximately 5.6 metres. The plans show that the proposed extension would now have a
shallow sloping roof that runs away from the party boundary, where the eaves are
approximately 1.8 metres high and just exceed the height of the party boundary wall. There
would also be a door opening to the western elevation, which would have an outlook onto
the rear garden of the dwelling posing no overlooking of neighbouring properties.
SPG1 sets out the criteria against which to assess the impact of an extension upon the
living conditions of neighbouring properties. A 45 degree angle is applied on a horizontal
axis to assess the depth of an extension and a 30 degree angle on a vertical axis to assess
the height of an extension. By applying these angles to the nearest window of 17 Beck Hill,
the plans show that the depth and height of the proposed single-storey extension are
acceptable.
It is noted that there is an existing shed to the west of the rear garden and the proposed
single-storey rear extension would leave limited remaining space to the rear garden of this
property.
It is also noted that the neighbouring property to the east of the host dwelling (17 Beck Hill)
has an existing outbuilding against the eastern party boundary.
Given the separation distance involved, and the proximity height and mass of the proposed
single-storey rear extension to the party boundary, some loss of amenity rights of the
neighbouring property, through the effects of creating a sense of enclosure, remains.
As the application site is within the Article 4 area of Barton upon Humber the permitted
development rights are taken away, resulting in the applicants seeking formal planning
permission for the proposal.
However, if this had not been the case, the permitted development rights would allow for a
single-storey rear extension of up to 3 metres by 3 metres and in this case the remaining
2.6 metres of single-storey rear extension would be taken into account.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 202

Page 143

On reflection of the above, it is considered that the level of harm with regard to
neighbouring amenity has been reduced from the originally submitted plans and therefore
would no longer be at a level to warrant refusal.
Character impacts
Policies DS5 of the local plan and CS5 of the Core Strategy are concerned with visual
amenity, the former stating that proposals should be sympathetic in design, scale and
materials.
The applicants propose to use clay facing brickwork, clay pantiles, and timber doors and
frames for the single-storey rear extension, all of which match those of the existing dwelling.
These are considered appropriate and will be secured by condition. It is therefore
considered that the proposal is in accordance with policy CS5 of the North Lincolnshire
Core Strategy.
RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions:

1.
The development must be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason
To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: Height of an Extension, Section thro extension, Depth of an Extension and
Block Plan.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3.
The materials and finishes of the new areas of brickwork, clay pantiles, and timber doors
and frames shall match the remainder of the building in colour and texture.
Reason
To ensure that the building is in keeping with its surroundings in the interests of visual
amenity, in accordance with policy DS1 of the North Lincolnshire Local Plan.
Informative
In determining this application, the council, as local planning authority, has taken account of
the guidance in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework in order to seek to
secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area.

Planning committee 24 March 2021.docx

Page 203

Page 144

Page 204

PA/2020/250

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 0100023560

PA/2020/250 Section through extension (not to scale)

Page 205

PA/2020/250 Height of extension (not to scale)

Page 206

PA/2020/250 Depth of extension (not to scale)

Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

